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SUBURBS.

I began to study the map of London.”—R. Soutkey.
N the first two volumes of this work we
have dealt with the antiquities, the buried
" history, the traditions, the folk-lore, and
the anecdotes of what we may term the
eastern hemisphere of London, and if a like
success can be achieved in our treatment
| of the corresponding world which lies west
of the above-mentioned line, we shall have ac-
complished a task of no ordinary difficulty.  With
the world of Westminster and its surrounding
districts—the “old court suburb” of Kensington,
Chelsea, Marylebone, and the suburban regions
of Lambeth, Bayswater, and Hampstead — we
have henceforth to discharge the duty of a topo-
grapher and a chronicler in one, describing their
features, “old and pew,” pointing out the spots
which they contain rendered sacred by old tra-
ditions and haunted by ancient memories, and
contrasting their present with their former state.
In the performance of this pleasant task, we shall
indeed be much wanting to our subject and to
the public too, if we cannot wake up again into
life and being the ghosts and the shadows of




2

OLD AND NEW LONDON.

departed greatness, and summon up before the
reader’s eyes some of the illustrious characters who
have been identified with western London, espe-
cially during the past three or four hundred years,
during which it has mainly grown into being.
In this western hemisphere there are no Roman
walls to tell of, no mention to make of Julius
Casar, or of Boadicea, with her scythed chariots
of war; but there will be much to say of Edward
the Confessor, of William Caxton, of our Norman,
Plantagenet, Tudor, and Stuart sovereigns, of the
statesmen of the reigns of Henry VIIL, Elizabeth
and James, and of the far less interesting courts
of our Hanoverian kings. The records of the
Georgian and the Victorian eras, as well as those
of the two previous lines of English monarchs,
we shall do our best to ransack, bringing their
chief men and chief events before the eyes of
our readers ; and it will be our pride and privilege
to carry the record of the lastnamed era down
to a date even a little beyond the fiftieth year of
the reign of Her Most Gracious Majesty, Queen
Victoria, whom may God long preserve, to rule
over a loyal and united people |

We shall make our start, of course, from the
site of that once central edifice, Temple Bar. It
can hardly be allowed that the Strand, to which we |
shall first bend our steps, is inferior to Fleet Street,
or any other street in the City proper, in old
memories and literary associations. It is not
merely full of them, it positively teems with them.
For centuries it was a fashionable thoroughfare,
lying, as it did, between the City and the Court,
and many of the noblest of the land dwelt along it,
especially on its southern side, on account of the |
then bright and clear river on which it looked
down, Where now stands Essex Street, adjoining
the western side of the Temple, the Earl of Essex,
Queen Elizabeth’s rash favourite, was besieged,
after his hopeless foray into the City. In Arundel
Street lived the Earls of Arundel, whose title is
now merged in the ducal house of Norfolk; in
Buckingham Street, further to the west, Villiers,
the greedy favourite of Charles I, began to build
a palace. There were royal palaces, too, in the
Strand ; for in the Savoy lived John of Gaunt, and
Somerset House was built by the *Protector”
Somerset, with the stones of the churches that he
had pulled down. At Somerset House, too, dwelt
Charles I’s queen, Henrietta Maria, and also poor
neglected Catharine of Braganza ; and it was almost
on this very spot that Sir Edmundbury Godfrey,
the zealous Protestant magistrate, was supposed to
have been murdered. There is, too, the history of
Lord Burleigh’s house, in Cecil Street, to record ;

and old Northumberland House, which stood so
long, recalling its noble inmates of two successive
lines of the Percies. On the other side of the
Strand we shall have to take note of Butchers
Row, the place where the conspirators of the
Gunpowder Plot held their meeting; Exeter
House, where lived Lord Burleigh's wily son, and,
finally, Exeter Hall, where the poet Gay lay in
state, and where the annual meeting of many
“religious” societies are held. Nor shall we
forget to make mention of Cross’s menagerie
and the elephant Chunee, or of the many eccen-
tric shopkeepers who once inhabited Exeter
’Change. At Charing Cross we shall stop to
see the Cromwellians die bravely, and to stare
at the pillory, in which many incomparable scoun-
drels have stood in their time, and which we
much regret could not be revived for the benefit of
rascals of more recent date who quite as richly
deserve the infliction. ‘The Nelson column and
its lions, and the statues which surround them,
have all of them stories of their own; and as
we press on further northward, St. Martin’s Lane
becomes specially interesting as the haunt and
home of half the painters of the early Georgian
era. Here and in Leicester Square there are anec-
dotes of Hogarth and his friends to be picked up ;
and the whole neighbourhood generally deserves a
careful exploration, from the quaintness and genius
of many of its former inhabitants.

In Covent Garden again we “break fresh
ground.” Let us turn round to our right, then,
and go east again, only at a little greater distance
from the silvery Thames. As we found St. Martin’s
Lane full of artists, and the Strand full of noble-
men, so the old monastic garden and its neighbour-
hood will prove to be crowded with actors. We
shall trace the Market of Covent Garden from the
first few sheds set up under the wall of Bedford
House, to the present “Grand Temple of Flora
and Pomona.” We shall see what was known to
most of our readers as “Evans’s,” a new mansion
inhabited by Ben Jonson’s friend and patron, Sir
Kenelm Digby, and then alternately tenanted by
Sir Harry Vane, by Denzil Holles, and by Admiral
Russell, who defeated the French at La Hogue.
The ghost of Parson Ford, in which no less sober a
person than Dr. Johnson believed, awaits us at the
door of the “Hummums.” There are several
duels for us to witness in the Piazza: there is
Dryden for us to call upon as he sits, the arbiter of
wits, by the fireside at “Will's” Coffee-house :
Addison is to be found not far off at “Button’s”:
at the Bedford we shall meet Garrick and Quin ;

and then stop for a few minutes at “ Tom King’s,”
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close to the portico of St. Paul’s, to watch Hogarth’s ! came over the Thames from Lambeth in the fisher-

revellers fight with swords and shovels on that
frosty moming when the painter sketched the prim
old maid going forth to early service at the church.
We shall look in at the “Tavistock” to see Sir
Peter Lely and Sir Godfrey Kneller at work upon
portraits of the frait beauties of the Jacobean and
the Caroline courts, remembering that in the same
room Sir James Thornhill painted, -and poor
Richard Wilson produced those fine landscapes
which so few had the taste to buy. The old West-
rainster hustings, the scene of so many a memorable
election contest, will deserve a word at our hands.
In fact the whole neighbourhood of Covent Garden
is rife with stories of great actors, painters, poets, and
men of letters ; and nearly every house, if its walls
and timbers could have a voice, could furnish its
quota of interesting and amusing anecdote. Indeed,
the history of our two principal theatres,

¢ The honses twain

Of Covent Garden and of Drnry Lane,”
if carefully looked up and sifted, would supply us
with an endless store of anecdotes of actors, and
with humorous and pathetic narratives that would
embrace the whole region both of tragedy and of
comedy. Quin’s jokes, Garrick’s weaknesses, the
celebrated “O. P.” riots, the miserable ends of
some popular favourites, the fortunes made by
others, and, generally speaking, the caprices of
genius, afford a running commentary on the words
of the old Roman satirist—

‘¢ —— voluit Fortuna jocari.”

“ The oddities of Munden and the humour of Lis-
ton,” it was observed in a previous volume, “serve
only to render the gioom of Kean’s downfall the
more terrible, and to show the wreck and ruin of
many unhappy men, equally wilful though less gifted.
There is a perennial charm about theatrical stories,
and the history of these theatres must be illustrated
by many a sketch of the loves and rivalies of
actors, their fantastic tricks, their practical jokes,
and their gay progress to success or failore. Changes
of popular taste are marked by the change of
character in the pieces that have been performed
at various eras ; and the history of the two theatres
will include, of necessity, sketches of dramatic
writers as well as of actors.”

Then, again turning back into the Strand, and
following the line of the Thames Embankment on
our left, we shall extend our “voyage of discovery”
into another region of dreamland, that of the
venerable Abbey which holds the ashes of our
kings, statesmen, and poets. “From the night on
which,” according to the ancient legend, “ St. Peter

man’s boat, and chose a site for the Abbey or
“Minster’ -of the West in the midst of Thorney
Island, down to the present day, Westminster has
ever been a spot where the pilgrim to historic
shrines loves to linger.” Need I remind my readers
that Edward the Confessor built the Abbey, or that
William the Conqueror was crowned within its walls,
the ceremony ending in tumult and bloodshed?
How vast the store of facts from which we have to
cull!  We see the Jews beaten nearly to death for
daring to attend the coronation of Richard I.; we
observe Fdward I. watching the sacred stone of
Scotland being placed beneath the Coronation
Chair of his forefathers. We hear the Z¢ Deum
sung for the victory of Agincourt, and watch Henry
VIL selecting a site for his last resting-placc ; we
bear, at the coronation of Henry VIIL, for the last
time the sanction of the Pope bestowed formally
upon the accession of an English monarch. We
note Charles Edward sitting disguised in the gallery
while he looks on and sees the crown which might,
under other auspices, have been his own, placed on
the head of George III.; we pity poor Queen
Caroline attempting to enter the Abbey in order to
see the like ceremony performed on her worthless
husband ; and we view once more in memory the
last coronation, and draw from it auguries of a
purer and a bappier age.

The old Hall of Westminster, too; how could
we neglect that ancient chamber in which for so
many centuries, since the reign of Richard II., at
the least, the Champion of England from time to
time has ridden proudly to challenge all gainsayers
of the Crown, or any who may refuse to promise
their allegiance ?  How can we forget that the very
timbers of its present roof heard Charles I
sentenced to death, and soon after saw the Lord
Protector, Cromwell, throned in almost regal splen-
dour within its walls? We must see it not merely
as it stands now, but at its exceptional seasons
of important public events: when the “Seven
Bishops ” were acquitted, and the shout of joy
shook London, it is said, like an carthquake : when
the “rebel Lords” were tried and condemned to
death on Tower Hill by the axe. We must see
the “bad” Lord Byron tried for his duel with
Mr. Chaworth, and the “mad” Lord Ferrers con-
demned to die at Tyburn for shooting his steward.
We must try and get at all events a side view of
the shameless Elizabeth Chudleigh, Duchess of
Kingston, and hear Burke and Sheridan pour forth
their torrents of eloquence over the misdeeds of
Warren Hastings.

‘Then, next in order, the Parks will draw us west-
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ward, and we shall see the Second Charles feeding
his ducks and toying with his mistresses at St
James’s, or playing at “Pall Mall” in the Mall,
which still preserves the name of that once favourite
sport of royalty: again, we shall saunter north-
wards to Hyde Park to watch the fashions and
extravagancies of successive generations. ‘ Beau
Brummel” and Count d’Orsay will drive by before
our eyes, and “ Romeo Coates ” will whisk past us |
in his fantastic chariot. There will be celebrated
duels to describe, and strange follies to deride. We |
shall see Cromwell thrown from his coach, and shall |
witness the foot-races so graphically described by |
Mr. Samuel Pepys. Dryden’s gallants and masked
ladies will receive due mention in their turn; and |
we shall tell of bygone encampments and of many
events now almost forgotten by the Londoner of
to-day.

Next, the sight of Kensington will summon up
the memories of William of Orange, Prince George
of Denmark, and the First and Second Georges;
and Holland House will become once more peopled
with Charles James Fox's friends, and the Whig
statesmen, poets, and essayists of the succeeding
generation. We shall also have a word to say
about William Makepeace Thackeray and Leigh
Hunt. At Chelsea we shall come upon pleasant
recollections of the great Sir Thomas More, Swift,
Atterbury, and Sir Robert Walpole. Then, ex-
tending our pilgrimage to the north, we shall
again cross Kensington, to find ourselves at the
pleasant suburb of Marylebone, where Queen
Elizabeth sent the Russian Ambassadors to amuse
themselves with a stag-hunt; and where, at a far
later date, Marylebone Gardens were the afternoon
and evening lounge of persons of “quality” who
had a taste for music and flirtations.

But cven so, we shall hastily traverse only a
very small portion of the ground so full of pleasant
memories over which we purpose to conduct our
readers, describing it more in detail, and halting at
every step to record traditions more or less long
since forgotten by the multitude. The districts of
Bloomsbury, of St. Pancras, and of Kentish Town,
will lead uws Dy easy stages to the “Northern |
Heights of London;” and we shall endeavour toact |
as our readers’ guides around the pleasant hills of
Hampstead and Highgate, leading them about the
“wells ” of the former, and the old park of Belsize,
and the “Spaniards” Inn, and “Jack Straw’s
Castle,” and the haunts of Akenside, Johnson, and
Sir Richard Steele, and of Clarkson Stanfield and
young Edwin Landseer. Then away, past Caen
Wood, we shall take them on to the “High Gate”
of the Bishops of London, to the home of Samuel

Taylor Coleridge, and the stone where Dick
Whittington listened to “ Bow Bells ” as they
prophesied his future fortune.

Then again, after a night’s rest in London, we
purpose to join them in one or more excursions over
Westminster Bridge to Astley’s, where the name of
Ducrow still lingers, to Lambeth Palace, full of the
religious associations of six centuries, and to Vaux-
hall, with its Gardens, now, alas! blotted out and
built over ; and we shall try to recall the days when
Horace Walpole went thither with Lady Petersham,
and helped to stew chickens in a china dish over
a lamp. Then, trudging on, our pilgrim staff in
hand, we shall make our way to Wandsworth and
Putney, and cross the wooden bridge to Fulham,
where successive Bishops of London have had their
palace for several centuries; and thence we may
be led to extend our journey to Chiswick, to see
Hogarth’s old house, and the burial-place of his
dogs, and even as far as fair “Shene” and
Richmond, still redolent of Thomson and Swift,
and Bluff King Hal, and (in more senses than onc)
of “Maids of Honour.”

But the task that is before us is no light one.
Mr. Ritchie says, in the opening chapter of his
“Night Side of London,”—“One of the first
things we are told Sir Walter Raleigh did when he
was liberated from the Tower, was to take a pro-
menade around London, to see what wonderful
improvements had been effected during his incar-
ceration.  For this purpose his biographer calculates
two or three hours would have sufficed. Times
have altered since then. The man who now makes
the tour round London would find he had no easy
labour. Itis hard to say where London begins or
ends.” The “City” of London, properly so called,
is but a fraction, and geographically only a small
portion of that great unit, the Metropolis, and is in
reality little more than its counting-house. It is
probable that taking London in its wider sense, our
capital now numbers nearly four millions of
inhabitants, and more than five hundred thousand
houses. Indeed, the present population of London
alone exceeds by very nearly a million that of
all England in the reign of Henry VIL. By the
Local Management Act of 1856 the entire Metro-
politan District was made to consist of no less than
126 square miles ; and if we regard London in its
widest sense as co-extensive with the district under
the charge of the City and Metropolitan Police, our
readers will be astonished to hear that it covers
687 square miles.

Dr. Johnson has observed dropos of the London
of his day, “Sir, if you wish to have a just idea of
the magnitude of this city, you must not be satisfied
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| with seeing its great streets and squares, but must

' survey the innumerable little lanes and courts. It |

is not in the showy construction of buildings, but
in the multiplicity of human habitations which are
crowded together, that the wonderful immensity of
London consists.” If the worthy Doctor could
behold the Mammoth City at the present time, with
its additional century of growth and of population,
he would be hardly able to find a word in his
dictionary long enough to express adequately his
idea of its enormous proportions !

As we, however, mean to take our time, pansing
at every striking object which meets our view, to
rest and to admire, the extent of ground which we
have to explore need not alarm us, while in leisurely
sort we roam from flower to flower over a garden
as varied as the imagination can well conceive.
There have been others who have essayed this
flight before us, and we shall hope to profit largely
by their experience. There have been brave and
Jearned workers in this field. We shall there-
fore be able to build on good foundations any
structure that we may endeavour to rear np. We
shall hope to be wide and catholic in our selection,
and to supply a variety of dishes, all suited to the
taste of some one section of our numerous and
varied body of readers. We shall endeavour to
choose all that is of local, personal, and, above all,
of human interest, pruning away what is dull and
superfluous: we shall select our anecdotes with
care, culling such only as will bring no blush to the
cheek of maidenhood, while we trust to tell the
rest in a way which at least shall be pithyand racy.
At all events, we will pass knowingly by no fact
that is of interest, but doour best to blend together
in one consistent whole all that Time can give us
bearing on old and new Westminster. Street by
street, we shall delve deep into the soil for stories

illustrative of the spot on which we stand, despising
no book, however humble, if only it throws some
light on the topographical history of London, and
its ancient and modern manners and customs.

Such is the brief outline of our plan; and it
is with a good heart that we shall sally forth to
realise it. We have before ns a large variety of
men and women, as well as of places, to portray.
From the day when painted savages roamed
abont the forest now occupied by Hyde Park and
Mayfair, down to the day when Queen Victoria
drove from Paddington to Buckingham Palace, and
thence to the Abbey Church of Westminster, to
celebrate the Jubilee of her accession, in June,
1887, is indeed a long period over which to range.
Nevertheless, we will endeavour to call up, by
our wizard spells, the various generations of the
human family who have had their haunts in and
around Westminster, and the Old Court Suburb,”
and see what we can find worth the telling about each
in succession. Long lists of mere names, dull rows
of dates, and dry rolls of pedigrees, we shall leave
to the learned antiquary and the scieatific historian,
content if we can follow humbly in the steps of
such chatty and gossiping chroniclers as dear old
Herodotus and Livy were of old, and as Pepys and
Evelyn, as Horace Walpole and Sir Nathaniel
Wraxall have been in more recent and historic
times. In a certain sense, too, it may be taken for
granted, that the reminiscences of Westminster will
prove in no way inferior to those of London proper,
inasmuch as they are so closely interwoven with
the histories of those successive dynasties of Tndor
and Stuart sovereigns whom, in spite of all their
| faults and failings, and of our fealty to the crown
of Victoria, we are too loyal to the past greatness
of England to wish to sec struck out from the
history of our country.

CHAPTER L
WESTMINSTER,—GENERAL REMARKS.—ITS BOUNDARIES AND HISTORY.

“ Strange shadows from the midst of death
“Are round our being strangely cast :
Thas the great city, towered and stecpled,

Is doubly peopled,

Haunted by ghosts of the remembered Past.”—ZLondorn Poems.

s

Origin of the Name—Its Early

ity of the S

of the Abbey—The Palace at Westminster—

Present Size and Importance—Exteot of its Boundaries.

that | district over which we shall wander, together with

it a brief and general outline of its history as a city.
The origin of the name of Westminster is clear

to the veriest child in such matters. The city

But before we start off upon our pilgrimage,
we may not stray hither and thither at random,
will be necessary to have before us, if not a map |
of, at all events some few general notes upon, the
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must have- taken its name from the noble Abbey
Church of St. Peter’s, the “Minster” in the
“West,” as doubtless it was called by the citizens
of London in the days when London ended at the
gate of “Lud,” or, at the farthest, at Temple Bar.
Stow tells us that it obtained this name all the
more easily as “there was another Minster eastward
of the City, and not far from the Tower, called
¢Eastminster ;”” but the honest old annalist has

justified the bestowal of such a dignity ; and to the
Marquisate was added 2 Dukedom in the person of
the third and present Marquis of Westminster, by
Her Majesty, on the retirement of Mr. Gladstone
from office in the early part of the year 1874. It
is also worthy of note that by an act of Pope
Pius IX.—which, however, is not recognised as
valid for legal purposes in England—Westminster
was created a Roman Catholic Archbishopric,

forgotten to tell us where it stood precisely, though | Cardinal Wiseman being appointed to fill it. On

SUFFOLK HOUSE.  After lollar.

a modern writer places it on Tower Hill. For
ourselves we can only say that we have not been
able to verify the assertion.

Westminster appears to have been only a town
down to the reign of Henry VIIL, who raised it by
royal letters patent into an “Honour.” The Abbey
Church being erected into a bishop's see in 13471,
it of course became a “city,” and when, ten years
later, the bishopric was suppressed, the good people
of Westminster did not resign the title, nor did the
king reclaim it, so a city has it remained down to the
present day. Its “Honour” was raised into a
Marquisate by William IV.in 1831, in favour of
the then head of the Grosvenor family, whose pro-
perty, within the limits of its several parishes, fully

(S page 136.)

his death in 1865, the mitre was bestowed by his
Holiness on Dr. Manning as his successor.

As for the early history of the fair city of West-
minster, we fear that, like that of Rome under the
kings, it is a little mixed up with fable. It owed
its first beginning as a place of importance, no
doubt, to its Abbey, or Minster, alrecady mentioned.
The first historical church was erected here during
the Heptarchy, by Sebert, King of the East Saxons,
or (according to Camden) of the East and Middle
Saxons. Sebert, who, under his uncle Ethelbert,
had been Bretwald, or Lord Paramount of the Anglo-
Saxons, and like his uncle, had been converted tc
the Christian faith by the preaching of Melitus,
one of the companions of St. Augustine, the Roman
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missionary, is by some writers said to have de-
stroyed a pagan temple on Thomey Island, and to
have erected on its site a church which he dedi-
cated to St. Peter.  As Ethelbert died in A.D. 606,
and Sebert followed him to the grave soon after,
we can fix the date of the foundation of the church
with tolerable accuracy, for we read that Sebert
and his wife were buried in the Church of St. Peter
in the Island of Thorney. Some writers have
sought to carry the antiquity of the church to a
much earlier date, and with that object in view
have affirmed that St. Peter himself visited Britain,
and erected here a small chapel or oratory. Others,
contenting themselves with a more moderate draft
upon the faith of their readers, ascribe the first
sacred building on this spot to King Lucius, who
reigned here in the second century, and who is said
by tradition to have built here a church out of the
ruins of a heathen temple, which had been over-
thrown by an earthquake. The existence, however,
of any church here previous to that built by Sebert,

palace of Whitehall, which had for ages past been
an appendage to the see of York, was, on the down-
fall of Cardinal Wolsey, granted as a royal residence
to the king, and directed to be called “the King's
Palace at Westminster” for ever, because, as the
Act of Parliament stated, “the old palacenigh the
monastery of St. Peter's was then, and had long
before been, in utter ruin and decay.” In the
same act its limits are defined to be “as well
within the soil and places before limited and ap-
pointed, as also in all the street or way leading
ifrom Charing Cross unto the Sanctuary Gate at
Westminster, and to all the houses, buildings, lands,
1 and tenements on both sides of the same street or
way from the said cross unto Westminster Hall,
situate, lying, and being between the water of the
‘Thames on the east part, and the said park-wall
on the west part, and so forth, through all the soil,
precincts and limits of the said old palace.”
In consequence, as the sun of royalty has shone
here almost without interruption for upwards of eight

is, to say the least, most doubtful ; and at the time ' centuries, it is not to be wondered at that the little
when he erected his Minster, the site was so rude = town which rose on and around the Isle of Thorney

and uncultivated that it was known to the Saxons ‘
as “Thorney,” that is, the isle of thorns. Thorney,
it appears, was at that time an island, formed by an
arm of the river, called “ The Long Ditch,” and by
brooks which flowed down from Hampstead and
Kilburn ; and there can be little doubt that it was
on the higher and former ground, which rose up

should have grown into a population of upwards
of 108,000, occupying 15,445 houses (as calculated
by the historian Malcolm) in 1734. Rickman, in-
deed, estimates the population at even a higher
figure, at the beginning of the eighteenth century;
but as he gives no account of the data on which
he bases his calculations, we can hardly accept

slightly in the centre of this marshy spot, that the  them as sound. In 1801, however, the census
church was built which ultimately developed into | returns show that Westminster numbered 158,210
the noble Abbey or Minster of the West. | souls; in 1811 these had increased to 162,085 ; to

In the charter of Edgar, the Minster is alluded | 182,085 in 1821; and in 1831, to 202,460, forming
to as “The church of St. Peter, said to be built, ‘ 46,004 families, and occupying 21,892 houses. Its
pursuant to the directions of King Ethelbert, by his | population, according to the census of 1881, is no
nephew Sebert, under whose government London | less than 248,000, and now may be reckoned at
then was, in a certain terrible uncultivated place |2 quarter of a million at least; but the number
called ¢ Thorney,” from the thorns growing there.” | of houses has probably not increased in an equal
Sebert is also mentioned as the founder in the ratio, on account of the erection of several resi-
charter of Edward the Confessor ; and these records, | dences on a larger scale than was known to the

combined with the facts of his burial in the church,
and the anniversary of his death being observed,
seem to confirm his right to the honour of being
considered its founder.

After the Conguest, “our palace at Westmin-
ster” continued to be the usual town residence of
our Norman kings, and St. Peter’s Abbey the usual
place of their coronation. The same was the case ‘
under the Plantagenet sovereigns, under those of
the houses of York and Lancaster, and under the |
Tudors and their successors, many of whom were
not only crowned but buried within its walls. Their
palace here adjoined the Abbey and the Houses of

last generation.

Around this spot, so rich in sacred traditions, if
not in actual memories, it was but natural that a
town should gradually spring up. The Saxon
monarchs, for the most part, loved the chase, and
were devout adherents of the faith; for the one
reason, they were likely to prefer living outside of
their city walls in a time of peace; and for the
other reason, they would wish to take up their abode
under the shadow of the tower of a church where
the rites of their religion were daily performed
with something of solemn state. Most naturally,
therefore, did Westminster, in the Saxon times,

Parliament. Inthe reign of Henry VIIL the splendid

come to share with Winchester the honour of being
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the home of royalty. At all events, long before
the reign of Edward the Confessor such was the
case ; and the statement is corroborated by the fact
that the name of Scotland Yard, between Charing
Cross and Whitehall, was so called from the Scottish
king, who had that place assigned to him as a
residence, when he came on a visit to the English
court to do homage for his crown. Wherever the
king and the court fixed their abode, the courts of
law and the meetings of the nobles and chief earls
and thanes for the purpose of legislation would be
held, at the time when the sovereign took an actual
part in such affairs, and did not discharge his
functions by deputy. The result of this would of
course be the steady growth of residences around
for the reception of his courtiers, their families, and
dependents. To supply the daily wants of these
residents other and smaller tenements would be
erected, and in due course a market would be
held, and the formation of a town would follow as
years rolled on.

It is on record that Edward IIL, in 1353,

imposed certain duties on wool, leather, and other |

commodities carried either by land or by water to
the staple of Westminster, in order to pay for the
repairing of the highway along the Strand. The
establishment of this staple, or market, it is added,
raised the rents of the residents along the road so
far, that the latter were ordered to pave the rest of
the way at their own cost, while the surplus was to
be applied to the erection of a bridge, or pier, near
the palace and staple of Westminster. And, doubt-
less, it was by this conjunction of a monastery, a
palace, and a market on the spot, that Westmin-

of London and the Abbot and Monks of West-
minster, asto whether the Abbey was subject or
not to the Bishop's jurisdiction. The judgment
itself may be seen in Wharton’s “History of the
Bishops and Deans of London, &c.” The parish,
at the time of which we speak, comprised several
ville beyond the actual city limits, such as
“Knightebrigge,” “ Westburne,”and “Padyngtoun,”
each with its chapel.

As to the exact limits and boundaries of the fair

city of which we have so much to say presently
in detail, we may state briefly that on the southern
side they are fixed by the left bank of the Thames,
from which they run up northwards, between Essex
Street and the Temple, past Temple Bar, and up
Shire Lane, which bounds it on the east. The
boundary line then passes off in a north-western
direction, keeping along the south side of Lincoln’s-
| inn Fields, till it reaches Drury Lane; thence it
follows to the north-west, as far as Castle Street,
| West Street, and Crown Street, Soho, which brings
us to the eastern end of Oxford Street proper.
Thence the northern boundary of the city goes
due west along Oxford Street, the Bayswater Road,
by the north side of Hyde Park—making, in one
place, a small défour so as to include St. George’s
burial-ground—and so to the northern end of the
Serpentine. From this point the western boundary-
line of the city follows the course of the Serpentine,
and of the stream which trickles out of its south-
eastern extremity, by Wilton Crescent, Lowndes
Street, Chesham Street, and the Commercial Road,
and so down to the Thames, just to the east of
Chelsea Hospital.

ster gradually became “a place of some consid

The y and statistician may be i i}

tion.”
Such, then, in the main, we may readily believe,
was the origin of the City of Westminster, the

in learning that the limits of the city enclose an
area of about 2,500 acres, exclusive of the Duch)f
of L and the Chapelry or Precinct of the

“Liberties” of which appear, at first, to have been
co-extensive with the parish of St. Margaret’s. These
“Liberties” afterwards comprehended nine parishes
more — St. Martin’s-in-the-Fields, St. James’s,
St. Anne’s, St. Paul's (Covent Garden), St
Mary-le-Strand, the Precinct of the Savoy, St.
Clement’s, St. John the Evangelist, and St. George’s
(Hanover Square). These are divided into twelve
several wards, which are subject to a government
partly ecclesiastical and partly civil. The former is
exercised by the Deanand Chapter of Westminster,
the latter by lay officers of their choosing. The
boundaries of this parish in general, following in
the main the line above indicated, are given as far
back as A.D. 1222, by Cardinal Langton, Arch-
bishop of Canterbury, and other arbitrators, on the
occasion of a dispute arising between the Bishop

Savoy, which would include about ten more.

Over this city we shall wander, first exploring the
Strand and its tributaries, as far as Lincoln’s-inn
Fields and Drury Lane on the north, and the new
Embankment on the south ; then we shall come to
Charing Cross and Whitehall, taking St. Martin’s
Lane in our way; then we shall reconnoitre the
Abbey, and the Houses of Parliament, and St.
James’s Park and Palace; then along the Green
Park, Piccadilly, Hyde Park, and Tyburn, and so
to Marylebone, where we shall turn back again
eastwards, and, crossing Regent Street, or Portland
Place, make our way as best we can to the regions
of Soho, and Bloomsbury, and High Holborn. At
the end of this our home tour, we purpose, if time
and space allow us, to make other tours further
abroad, and to take our readers with us on sundry
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excursions to Kensington, Chelsea, Lambeth, Put-
ney, Southwark, and Fulham, our walk, perhaps,
extending also to Hampstead and Highgate.

If we are able to make good these professions,
at all events we shall find no lack of matter, “new
and old,” with which to light up the dull and
somewhat musty records of antiquity. If we shall
be found to have woke up the past into life, to
have made its “dry bones” live once more, we

shall have done our duty, and be quite contented.
And now, having settled our line of march;
and having pledged our faith in our character of
cicerone, to clothe the body of dry facts with all
of becoming drapery, in the way of anecdote,
tradition, and folk-lore, which we are able to
collect, let us, without further preamble, return to
our original starting point, and take up our parable
as we turn our faces towards the city of the west.

CHAPTER 1L
BUTCHER'S ROW.—CHURCH OF ST. CLEMENT DANES,

“ By Temple Bar I lean again,
Haunted by many a famous face,
With oddest pictures in my brain,
Jnmbling together time and place.
‘The night drops down, the moonlight fades
Along the filmy City sky §

With draggled hose and bioken blades
The Mohawks come with shriek and ery
And in the light the dim street clothing
T sec with loathing
Two hideons refiels’ heads that rot on high.”
London Poems.

Temple Bar and Johnson —Butcher's Row—The “Straits "—Shenstone—The Gunpowder Plotters—The Old Fish Shop—* Bulk Shops” and
their Ocenpants—Churchyard and Church of St. Clement Danes— Johnson’s Pew in the Church—Great Men Buried at St, Clement's—

The Registers—Two Noteworthy Entrics.

Ir you and 1, dear fellow traveller, could imagine
ourselves our own great-grandfathers ; could we,
in fact, transport ourselves a century back, and,
emerging together from the busy thoroughfare of
Fleet Street, pass through the narrow, frowning
gateway of Temple Bar, we might perchance meet
the ungainly form of Dr. Johnson, rolling up the
Strand, arm in arm with Boswell, to “take a walk
down Fleet Street.”

But should no such good luck befall us as an
encounter with the great lexicographer, at least
one striking object would meet our eyes, as we
looked straight before us, towards the Church of St.
Clement’s, namely, the stocks, a spectacle of whole-
some awe to evil-doers in general, and to unruly
City apprentices in particular. Beyond these, we
should find the lower portion of St. Clement’s

suffering eclipse from a range of dull and rather |

squalidlooking buildings known as Butcher’s Row,
from having formerly served as shambles. These
houses, which were almost entirely built of wood,
and were several storeys in height, interfered
greatly with traffic, the passage on either side of
them being scarcely wide enough in any part to
allow vehicles to pass each other. The Row was
removed early in the present century throngh the
exertions of Alderman Pickett, after whom Pickett
Street (removed for the Law Courts) was named.

Mr. John Timbs describes the houses in Butcher’s’

Row as having been mostly built in Queen Eliza-
beth’s time, and constructed of wood and plaster,
with overhanging eaves. “They were,” he writes,

““wretched fabrics, the receptacles of filth in every
corner, the bane of old London, and a sort of
nestling-place for the plagne and fevers. The
ceilings were low, with large unwrought beams, and
lighted by small casement windows. The cant
name for the place among coachmen in the days of
the Spectator was the ¢Pass,) or the ¢Straits of
St. Clement’s.””

In one of these uninviting edifices, however, as
we learn from the date of some of his letters,
iam Shenstone, the poet, resided, on the rare
occasions of tearing himself away from his “beloved
Leasowes” for a stay in London.  In another was
born, in 1787, Dr. Andrew Reed, the benevolent
founder of Reedham, the Asylum for Fatherless
Children at Clapton, and the Idiot Asylum, at
Earlswood. His father was a watchmaker in the
Row. o
Hereabouts, too, according to the confession of
Thomas Winter, was concocted the Gunpowder
| Plot in 1605. He says, “So we met behind St.
| Clement’s, Mr. Catesby, Mr. Percy, Mr. Wright,
Mr. Guy Fawkes, and myself, and having, upon a
primer, given each other the oath of secrecy, in a
chamber where no other body was, we went after
into the next room and heard Mass, and received
the blessed Sacrament upon the same.”

In aview of London and Westminster, drawn by
A. Van der Wyngarde (A.D. 1543), now in the
Bodleian Library, at Oxford, the Bars at the junc-
tion of Fleet Street and the Strand are flanked on
the north by a row of quaint old houses, which were
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probably erected for the benefit of such traders as
were not qualified to carry on their business in the
City, and may possibly have been of the reign of
Henry VIII.

“These,” says Mr. J. Wykeham Archer, in his
“Vestiges of Old London,” “appear to have pre-
ceded the buildings of Butcher’s Row, which, with
Middle Row, extended from Temple Bar to St.
Mary-le-Strand, the houses on the south side of
Holywell Street forming their western extremity.”
The old house with its bulk-shop, which adjoined
Temple Bar, and which had remained a surviving
vestige of the sweeping measures of Alderman
Pickett in the beginning of the century, stood in
its original condition down to 1846, when it was
modernised by the removal of the heavy pents
which surmounted its ground-floor. The house
bore on its front a notice to the effect that it was
‘“established in the reign of Henry VIIL,” and was
occupied by “Short and Son, late Creed, Fish-
mongers.” An engraving of it, in one of its last
stages, will be found in the above-mentioned work
of Mr. Archer, who explains the term “bulk-shop *
as a word of Flemish origin, signifying a stall
before a shop, and also associated with the idea of
strength or substance. Thus deprived of its pents,
it became finally the bookshop of Messrs. Reeves
and Tuarner. The house was a mere timber frame,
filled up with lath and plaster. It was pulled
down in 1865 to make room for the new Law
Courts,

It will be remembered that Shakespeare speaks
of misery making men acquainted with “strange
bedfellows,” It is probable that in these words he
is alluding to his experiences, where he must often
have seen the heavy canopies of these parts project-
ing over the pathways, with their wood or leaden

coverings turned up at the edge like some old- |

Floyd, another poor author in each sense of the
term, on one of these ledges, and being suddenly
awakened, he started up, exclaiming, ‘My dear
Floyd, I am sorry to see you in this destitute state ;
will you go home with me to my lodging ?’”

Close to Butcher's Row, at the date to which
we refer, we should have come upon a stone cross,
or rather its remains, for Strype, in his edition
of “Stow’s London,” in 1755, speaks of it as
“now headless,” a decapitation which it probably
owed to an effort of Puritan zeal in the days of the
Great Rebellion. It is probable that at the time of
the demolition of Butcher's Row all vestiges of the
mutilated cross were swept away.

In Malcolm’s “Anecdotes of London,” published
early in the present century, he says, “ A stranger
who had visited London in 1790 would, on his
return in 1804, be astonished to find a spacious area
(with the church nearly in the centre) on the site
of Butcher's Row, and some other passages, unde-
serving of the name of streets, which were composed
of those wretched fabrics overhanging their foun-
dations—the bane of ancient London—where the
plague, with all its attendant horrors, frowned de-
struction on the miserable inhabitants, reserving its
forces for the attacks of each returning summer.” |

Passing on, we reach the churchyard of St.
Clement Danes, so called, as antiquaries affirm,
“ because Harold, a Danish king, and other Danes,
were buried there.” One story commonly told
is to the effect that to avenge an insult to his
own mother, Hardicanute ordered his half-brother’s
body to be torn out of its grave and thrown into
the Thames, and that, being cast ashore, a fisher-
man took it up and gave it decent burial in
this place, which was consecrated to receive it.
Another account states that in the reign of Ethel-
red, the Danes having pillaged the fair abbey ot

fashioned beaver, the ends being sunk a little so as | Chertsey, were here met on their return, and slain
to let the rain pass off. “The bulk-shops,” writes | by the Londoners. And there is yet a third ver-

Mr. J. W. Archer, “besides their connection with
the thrift of olden time, have associations which
invest them with a degree of poetic interest, arising
from the practice of erratic and destitute authors
appropriating their ledges for the purpose of a
dormitory, in common with other homeless wan-
derers and belated roysterers.

sion, which is told by Lord Burleigh (who lived in
this parish), on the authority of Fleetwood, the
antiquary, to the effect that when the Danes were
driven out of England, a few were left behind,
being married to English women ; and that these
were ordered by the king to dwell “between the

The gifted! Isle of Thorney, which is now called Westminster,

but wayward poet, Savage, is said to have frequently | and Caer Lud, now Ludgate, and that there they
had recourse to such shelter during his moody night “ built a church.

wanderings; and Nat Lee, as we know, expired |

upon a ‘bulk’ in Clare Market, when overcome
by wine in returning from an orgie at the ¢Bear
and Harrow,” in Butcher’s Row, to his lodgings in
‘Duke Street. In a pleasanter vein it is related of
an inferior bard, Derrick, that, being discovered by

In “A Survey of St. Clement Danes,” made in
1732, we are told, “The old church was built 730
years ago, and between 1608 and 1633 the repairs
cost £1,586.”

The body of the old church was taken down in
1680, and the present fabric was built in 1682 by
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Edward Pearce, under the direction of Sir C. |indeed, the chimes of St. Clement’s Church may
Wren, who superintended the work gratuitously, as | still be heard as Falstaff describes having heard

recorded on a marble slab in the north aiste. The
present tower and steeple were added in 1719, and
underwent extensive repairs and restorations in
1839. The tower contains a peal of ten bells, of

BUICHER'S ROW IN 1800, (See p.

. particularly musical sound, cast in 1693. The
clock strikes the hours twice; “the hour being
first struck on a large bell, and then repeated
on a smaller one, so that when the first has been
miscountcd, the second may be more correctly ob-
served.” (Thomson’s “Time and Timekeepers.”)
Besides the clock, there is a set of chimes which
plays the “Old Hundredth” Psalm. The bells
also chime the tunes of “ Hanover,” and the “ Lass
o’ Gowrle,” at ning, twelve, and five o'clock, daily ;

them with Justice Shallow.

The present Church of St. Clement Danes
stands a little to the south of the ancient church or
chapel of St. Clement, which had existed from the

Conquest till long after the Reformation, occu-
pying a part of what then was a rather large church-
yard. It probably covers, as nearly as possible,
the grave of Harold Harefoot, the mound over
which was levelled by order of his vindictive and
besotted brother. The church has always kept a
marked position among those of the metropolis ;
and as it stands at once close to the City bounda-
ries and on the high road to Westminster, all public
processions, from the days of the Plantagenets to
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those of Victoria, have passed the building. When
the Princess Alexandra: of Denmark passed by it,
on the roth of March, 1863, the address presented
to her by the parishioners on that occasion must
have suggested to her mind a pleasing contrast to
the traditionary feuds of eight hundred years ago

ing the Strand was formerly a spacious circular
portico, supported by Ionic pillars. The interior
of the edifice is commodious and handsome of
its kind, and the roof inside is “camerated,” and
highly ornamented.  The pulpit and altar are
richly carved in the Tuscan style, and the top of

OLD HOUSES FORMERLY STANDING IN BUTCHER'S ROW, ABOUT 1500.

{See page 11.)

between the country she had left and that to which | the communion-table is of ancient and valuable

she had come.

The present structure, like its predecessor, is | The organ is one of Father Smith’s.

marble, supposed to have belonged to the old church.

The lofty

dedicated to St. Clement, the patron saint of felt- : tower and steeple, 116 feet high, which were added

workers, and also of sailors; and the symholic

anchor of St. Clement is still to be seen on nearly

all the public buildings in the parish, The church

is built of a white stone, both beautiful and durable ;

the architecture is of the Corinthian order. Front-
98

to the church in 1719, exhibit in succession Ionic,
Corinthian, and Composite tiers of architecture.

In the north gallery of this church there is a
pew which is more revered and respected than the
“squire’s pew” in many a country parish church.
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Men of all parties and creeds cordially agree in | Sunday, and to read the Scriptures; and hither
this feeling. The lover of old times and old | he repaired in the last year of his life, at the age
principles reveres the spot, and the admirer of what | of seventy-five, to return thanks to God for his
is new respects it while criticising the man who has | recovery from an illness of a hundred-and-twenty-
made it famous and historical. Over a century | nine days. The following is the inscription to
has passed away since the death of Dr. Samuel | which reference is made above :— 3
]Phnson, but in spite of all the changes that'have e Tn this pew and beside hishpllac it EETR t
since come over the world, there still stands here | (unded divine service the celebrated e Samaey Johmoon,
the simple memorial of his former presence as a | the philosopher, the poet, the great lexicographer, the pro-
worshipper within these walls. A plain plate of | found moralist, and chief writer of his time. Born 1700,
brass, fixed to the back of the pew, reminds us that | died 1784, In the remembrance and honour of noble
here the great essayist and lexicographer used to fsa:“g;cs' “‘MS cmployed, some inhabitants of theipatish of
kneel in worship. “ Westminster Abbey can show lsg[.’fnx eat  Danes Tve placed.chis slight imeuiiibaRn.
his grave, and St. Paul’s his monument ; but here is

preserved the memory of the sacred place where{ The parish is so well endowed with charities
the rugged but sensitive man used for many a long | that the paupers of other neighbourhoods used to
year to ask for strength and grace.” It has been | flock into it at the commencement of winter, for
remarked that “Boswell shows us Johnson in his | the sake of all they could get, and the vestry were
chambers, in the club, and in the streets ; but his | obliged to limit their gifts to those who had re-
own confessions enable us to understand him at | sided for the space of a year.

church.” And the remark is true. While listening | There were almshouses for poor women in the
to him on a Saturday night, at the “Mitre,” or | upper and lower churchyard, at the time of the
the “ Turk’s Head,” we mark his rude and even | parish survey in 1732. “In the upper churchyard
ficrce replies, his vehement prejudices, his domi- | are six almshouses, with six roonis, and twelve poor
neering and despotic intellect, we should scarcely | women in each house, who are allowed 2zs. per
deem him a man of deep religious feelings. But week; and in the lower churchyard are five rooms
when the bells of St. Clement’s were heard next  for poor women, each of whom has 2s. 6d. per
morning in the Inner Temple Lane, the porter | week ; they have also coals at Christmas, if they
regularly opened the gates to let out the well-known | can make interest to get them,” P
scholastic, large-wigged “ Mr.” Johnson. The man| The vaults beneath the church were crowded to
knew that, in spite of his wig, he was not a mem- | excess. On the receipt of an Order in Council for
ber of the Temple ; but some notion of his rising  closing them in 1858, the coffins were all placed
fame had reached even the porters, and his rough 1 together in one part of the vault and hermetically
generosity had won their respect. On by tlie posts | sealed, the whole being enclosed with a strong
of Fleet Street, tonching each as he goes along, | brick wall.  Mr. Diprose tells us that towards the
rolls rather than walks, “Mr. Johnson, the dic-|close of the last century “the vaults were dis-
tionary-maker.” He seems more solemn than usual, | covered to be on fire, and continued burning for
and the sound of the church bells deepens his | some days, many bodies being consumed.”
passiveness into melancholy. How is this? one| In the church lie buried some few individuals
who did not know the man might ask. Who was | whose names the world would not wish to forget ;
more merry than he last night at the “Mitre?” | among others, Thomas Rymer, who compiled the
how ready were his quotations ! how apt his illus- | * Feedera,” and the dramatic poets, Nathaniel Lee
trations ! how overpowering his arguments! He |and Thomas Otway, and Bishop Berkeley, the
seems quite another man to-day. No, he is just | philosopher, and friend of Pope, who attributed to
the same man, but in another mood. He enters | him “ every virtue under heaven.” "Sir John Roe,
the church as though anxious to avoid notice, and1 who died in Ben Jonson’s arms, of the plague,
shows that with him, at least, the service is a reality. ' 1606 3 Dr. Kitchener, and the Oxberrys, father and
He tells us that he strove, like many another brave son, are also buried here. Among other monu:
and good man, honestly to solve the great problem, !ments are those of Hippocrates de Otthen, whe
“how to purify and fortify his soul, and hold real was physician to the Emperor of Germany, anc
communion with the Highest,” and that he did this | was sent over to England at the request of Queer
in St. Clement’s Church. That pew in the north  Elizabeth (in whose service, and in that of the
gallery, as the brass plate tells us, was the actual | Earl of Leicester, he was long employed), and o:
scene and arena of this struggle. Here he sat | John Arundel, Bishop of Exeter, who died in 1503
after his good resolution to go to church every  In this church was solemnised, two centurie.
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ago, that marriage of Sir Thomas Grosvenor with
Miss Davies, the wealthy heiress of Ebury Manor,
which brought into the
family of the Duke of
Westminster their pro-
perty in Pimlico and
what is now Belgravia.

The registers of St.
Clement’s commence
with the year 1558, and
are kept in far better
order than in most
parishes. They record
the deaths of some hun-
dreds of parishioners in
1665, the year of the
Great  Plague, which
made great havoc in
the close strects near
‘Temple Bar, and also
in Milford Lane.

One of the earliest
entries of baptism is as
follows:—* June 6, 1563,
Master Robert Cicill, the
sonne of ye L. highe
Threasurer of England.”
Some nineteen  years
afterwards, the subject
of this entry earned
“honorable  mention”
for the gracions courtesy
and politeness of his manners towards his inferiors.

The neighbourhood of St. Clement Danes
Church appears to have borne anything but a
good reputation so far back as three centuries
azo, by reason of “the unthrifts of the Inns of

A COURTEOUS GENTLEMAN.

DR. JOHSON'S PRW IN ST,

L3

Chancery,” who made so uch disturbance in the
streets by night that the inhabitants, we read, were
fain to keep watches for
the sake of mutual pro-
tection. Thus, “in 1582,”
says honest John Stow,
“the Recorder himself,
with six more of the
honest inhabitants, stood
by St. Clement’s Church
to see the lanthorn hung
out, and to observe if he
could meet with any of
these outrageous dealers.
About seven of the clock
at night they saw young
Mr. Robert Cecil, the
Lord Treasurer’s son,who
was afterwards Secretary
of State to the Queen,
pass by the church. As
he passed, he gave them
a civil salnte, at which
they said, ‘Lo ! you may
see how a nobleman's son
can use himself and how
he putteth off his cap
to poor men; our Lord
bless him.” This passage,”
adds Stow, “ the Recorder
wrote in a letter to his
father, adding, ‘Your
Iordship hath cause to thank God for so virtuous
a child’” We may draw an obvious inference
from the story of Mr. Robert Cecil's conduct in
this instance as to the usual habits of the fast
young noblemen of Elizabeth's time.

L CLEMENT 5. (Ser page 14.)

CHAPTER 1IIL
ST. CLEMENT DANES (continucd) :—THE LAW COURTS.

““ Where do stand forth the laws of state sublime."—Sopkoclks.

Early Courts of Law—Inns of Conrt—Want of 2 Central Building—New Law Courts Projected=Sel,
Site~Plan and Design of the New building—Temple Bar Memorial-~Old Buildings Swept away.

ion of Architect—Discussion about the.
c Ol Fish Shop—Holloway’s—Shire

Lane and its Tuhabitants—Sir C. Sedley ~The Well of St. Clement's—Bell Yard—Plough Alley—Boswell Court: a Relic ot Old Times

—Clement’s Lanc : its Decline and Fall—A Grand Clearance.
It is scarcely necessary to remind our readers that
in theory it is the sovereign whosits in his (or
her) right in England to administer justice to all,
and hence the place in which the law is ad-
ministered in this country has always been styled
a “Court” And, as in early times, when law

was rude and simple, the king used often to sit in
his own court to administer justice, it was the
custom for the seat of law to be within the palace
of royalty. Hence, very naturally, when, in the
Saxon and Norman times, the king’s palace was at
Westminster, it was a matter of course that the
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courts of law should grow up around the very
person of the sovereign, though occasionally they
were moved wherever the king travelled and took
up his abode ; in this case they were said to be
held #n danco regis, that is, in the presence of the
king himself.

A great impetus to the concentration of the
courts of law in the metropolis was doubtless given
by Henry VIIL; for, whereas down to his day
courts of arbitration had been held from time im-
memorial to decide cheaply and simply smail
matters in dispute in the several baronies, such as
questions between landlord and tenant, between
master and man, he ordered these and other like
cases to be brought up to London, and, as Mr.
Froude tells us in his ‘ History of England,”
“country people found themselves compelled to
take journeys to the metropolis, and to sue or be
sued at his Courts at Westminster.”

Gradually, however, as the English law shaped
itself into a system and a science, which demanded
a legal education in those who actually followed it
as a profession, other “courts” of law arose nearer
to the Inns of Court and the abodes of the gentle-
men of the long robe; and down aimost to this
day, one portion of both law and equity has been
administered in the rooms adjoining Westminster
Hall, and another in other courts at Lincoln’s Inn.
But this division and distribution of the head-
quarters and fountains of English justice between
two localities, a mile at least apart, had long been a
matter of complaint among most practical English-
men ; and from time to time, especially during the
present century, there had arisen murmurs “not
loud, but deep,” on account of the loss of time in-
volved to hoth judges and counsel by this unhappy
local severance. And it can be no matter of
surprise that, from time to time, various proposals
were made to concentrate in a single spot the
scattered forces of the law. With a view to carry-
ing out this national undertaking—as far back as the
year 1841, as we learn from the evidence printed
by order of the House of Commons—the late Sir
Charles Barry designed a large building of Grecian
architecture, which he intended to have placed in
Lincoln’s Inn Fields. It was to have contained a
great Central Hall, about equal to Westminster

Hall in size, around which twelve smaller courts |

should cluster ; the entire group of buildings, if it
had been carried into effect at that time, would
have covered a third of the area within the rails of
Lincoln’s Inn Fields, and have been surrounded by a
beit of plantations, in order to keep up the delusion
of rurality. Funds, however, were most fortunately
wanting ; and great objections were made to the

plan of blocking up so large an open space, where
open spaces were sorare ; in fact, persons who lived
about Fleet Street, the Strand, and Holborn, had
long considered this open area, though enclosed,
as their “country walk,” and seriously asserted
that to all intents and purposes they had been in
the country when they had completed their early
morning tour round “ the Fields.”

At length, when the patience of the lawyers and
of the rest of the public had been nearly worn out,
and when attention had been frequently called to
the subject in Parliament, Her Majesty was pleased
in 1858 to order a Royal Commission to be issued,
“for the purpose of inquiring into and reporting
on the expediency of bringing into one place, or at
all events into one neighbourhood, all the superior
Courts of Law and Equity, the Divorce and Probate
Court, and those of the Admiralty, Bankruptcy, &c.,
as well as of suggesting means for providing a fit
site, and erecting a building suited to the purpose
in hand.” The Commission accordingly recom-
mended the selection of the site on the northern
side of the Strand, between Temple Bar and St
Clement’s Church. In 1861 a Bill was introduce:
in order to carry this recommendation into effect;
but it was thrown out by a narrow majority, and the
question slumbered until 1865, when the urgency
of some such provision for the due administration
of the law had again made itself practically feit.
Two Acts of Parliament were passed in conse-
quence, to carry out the recommendations already
mentioned. The one Act empowered the Commis-
sioners of Works and Public Buildings to acquire
the site which had been recommended, and the
other provided the funds necessary for the cost of
the building itself, partly by a contribution of
A 1,000,000 of unclaimed interest on stock standing
to the credit of suitors in the Court of Chancery,
and partly by a small tax to be imposed on litigants
in the other courts.

Another body of Commissioners was next ap-
pointed, consisting of forty eminent members of
the legal profession, including Lords Cranworth,
Hatherley, Cairns, and Penzance, Vice-Chancellors
Stuart, Malins, and others, in order to advise the
Treasury in its choice of an architect and plans
for the new “ Palace of Justice” The next step
was to nominate a smaller body, consisting of five
individuals of high standing—Mr. Gladstone, Sir
W. Stirling-Maxwell, the Lord Chief Justice Cock-
burn, Sir Roundell Palmer (now Lord Selborne),
and Mr. William Cowper (late Lord Mount-Temple)
along with two professional architects—Mr. John
Shaw and Mr. G. Pownall, who were to act as
“Judges of Designs;” and a competition among the
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best architects of the day was invited. Eleven } will be divided into two blocks—the eastern and
designs were sent in, and these were exhibited to | lesser one, which will be erected, under the contract,
the public, in 1868, in a temporary building put up | in three years; and the larger block to the west,
in New Square, Lincoln’s Inn ; and in the end the | which it will take six or seven years to complete,
design of Mr. G. E. Street, R.A., was accepted— | Each front is to be relieved by dwarf towers,
not, however, until after a very strong feeling had | arches, and other features ; and there will be two
been shown in'favour of that of Mr. E. M. Barry, | high towers, one at the south-east angle, and one at
a son of the architect of the Honses of Parliament. | the eastern end of Carey Street. The former will be

Even after the architect, however, had been 170 feet in height, or ncarly four times the height

chosen, a further delay arose, as a large number of
the public, and some of the competitors—MTr. Street
himself among the rest—expressed an opinion that
a space between the Strand and the Thames Em-
bankment, to the east of Somerset House, would be
a preferable site to that already chosen, and which
had been prepared and cleared by the removal, in
1866-8, of no less than thirty close, foul, and filthy
courts, yards, lanes, and alleys. And at last, after
all the above-mentioned delays had come to an
end, the first brick of the “Law Courts of the
future "—the great central National Palace of
Justice—was actually laid, on the last day of April,
1874, at the north-east corner of the chosen ground,

at the junction of Bell Yardand Carey Street. The |

site, which had then been cleared for several years,
comprised the surface of nearly eight acres, ex-
tending from Bell Yard on the éast to Clement’s
Inn on the west, and from Carey Street on the
north to the Strand and Pickett Street on the
south. The substratum of solid concrete, which had
been laid two or three years previously, covered
=bout six acres and a half of this space, the rest

being destined to be left open, with the idea of |

being laid out as a garden, in case it should not be
required, in course of time, for building purposes.

The buildings themselves are thus minutely de-
scribed in the Zimes of May 19th, 1874 :—

“They are of Gothic design, and, viewed by non-
professional eyes, might be set down as somewhat
irregular examples of the Decorated or Second
Pointed style. But their architect has embodied
in his designs so much of modern improvements,
and has so thoroughly studied the adaptation of the
architecture of the Edwardian period to the require-
ments of our age, that we fancy he wonld prefer

of Temple Bar.

‘ “The whole edifice will be three, four, and five

| storeys in height in different parts ; and its lofty
| pitched roofs will be relicved by the insertion of
gables, dormers, and pinnacles, in great variety,

l The general height of the building up to the ridge

of the roof will be about go or g5 feet; and over
the rest will rise the Central Hall, in the main or
western block, to which the rest of the building will
be subordinate. This Central Hall will be abont
| 140 feet to the top of its roof, or go feet measured
’ inside up to the crown of the stone-vaulted ceiling.
Underneath it will be a large lower chamber, which,
if it were underground, might be termed a crypt.
“The ground plan, as it stands at present, shows
that the architect has given accommodation to no
less than 18 distinct courts, each with its own
entrance and staircase, with separate approaches
and doors for the judges, the jury, the witnesses, the
Bar, and the public, together with rooms for clerks,
secretaries, and registrars, and also waiting-rooms.
“On the western side, towards Clement’s Inn,
| there will be left a large, open space.  This will
probably be used as gardens, and there will be a
flight of broad stone steps, leading up into the
western end of Carey Street. It will be possible,
if required, to erect here a western block of build-
ings, corresponding with that on the eastern side.
“The cost of the building, if the estimates al-
lowed by the Commissioners should not be
exceeded, will be three-quarters of 2 million. The
structure will absorb no less than 62,000 tons of
Portland and 18,000 tons of other stone, and also
about 35,000,000 of red and white bricks. It
will be remembered, in conclusion, that, about
two years ago, Mr. Street proposed the removal

to call the structure a specimen of the ‘Victorian | of St. Clement’s Church to a site on the vacant
style”- The whole building forms, approximately | space on the west side of the new building—a
at least, a somewhat irregular square, the Strand | proposal which met with the approval not only of
front being 483 feet in length, while the depth from Mr. Lowe, but also of the then Lord Chancellor.
the Strand to Carey Street is about 460 feet. The | The Metropolitan Board of Works, however,
southern, northern, and western fronts will be of  declined to entertain the jdea, although the
Portland stone, while the eastern front will present Government offered to provide the site free of cost.”
a combination of Portland stone interspersed with | Mr. Street, in a printed minute, dated May,
red Dricks, as will be the case with the interior | 1869, thus sums up the chief “asthetical advan-
courts and quadrangles. The entire pile of buildings | tages,” of the Carey Street site i—
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“The elevation above the river is considerable.
The entrances to the Central Hall will be exactly
on the same level as the courtyard in front of the
western entrance of St. Paul’s Cathedral, and the
floor of the Central Hall will be zz feet higher
here than it would be on the Embankment. To

THE OLD FISH SHOP BY TEMPLE BaR, 1846.

this extent, therefore, it will in all distant vicws
rise higher and be better seen than on the lower
site.  And I think that the position will be an im-
portant one, crowning the hill opposite St. Paul’s,
and supplying what the views of London at
present much want,—namely, some very marked
architectural feature in the long expanse of building
between St. Paul’s and Westminster.”

OLD AND NEW LONDON.

{St. Clement Danes.

The stately pile was opened by the Queen on
the 1ith of December, 1882, but the gifted
architect who had designed it was no longer living
to rejoice in the completion of his magnum opus.

It is unquestionably true that any great public
good can only be achieved at the cost of much
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(See page 11.) )

private inconvenience ; and the New Law Courts
cannot claim to be any exception to this general
rule. No sensible man can doubt that the de-
struction of so many filthy slums must ultimately
prove a gain to the community at large; yet
it is also undeniable that the first effect of the
work of demolition was to render 4,000 persons
homeless, and subsequently to drive three-fourths
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of them into other courts and alleys not far |in the case of this class, who live from hand to
away, which, being previously well filled, were | mouth, the nnwonted possession of so large a sum
speedily, from the overcrowding consequent upon | was not rather the reverse of a benefit. We
so enormous an influx, rendered as unhealthy | are told that about 20 was paid to each wee'kly

SERLE'S VLACE. Jyom a Diawing taken shortly before i's Demolition. (See page 2:.)

as the squalid dens from which the immigrants| tenant, and this being in many instances squan-
had been routed. It is also true that a liberal| dered in the course of a few days, the recipient
compensation was awarded by Govemment,'appeared, with drunken imprecations, before the
even in cases were no legal claim could have | distributors to demand more.

been made, and that the utmost kindness and Many ingenious plans have been 'mooted, by
forbearance was shown by the Commissioners | philosophers and philanthropists of all ages, for the .
and officials entrusted to administer that com- | effectual cleansing of certain Augean stables; but
pensation; but it may be doubted whether,|the summary one of pulling down the building,
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and turning its 4,000 denizens adrift to seek shelter
where best they may, is a bold stroke, which has at
least the advantage of novelty, if even it savour a
litle of the line of policy familiarly known as
“robbing Peter to pay Paul.”

And now, having given some slight idea of
the appearance which these eight acres—once
suggestive of “the abomination of desolation”—
present now that Mr. Street’s stately fabric rises
from their surface, let us take a brief retrospective
view of them as they were not only in their last
stage of decay, but in their palmy days, when St.
Clement Danes was a favourite abode of “the
quality.”

The truth of the old proverb, “Threatened
folk live long,” was proved by our old acquaintance
Temple Bar, which remained 7 sfafu guo down to
the year 1878. The stones, having lain in a
builder’s yard for about ten years, were set up in
1888-9, at an entrance to Sir H, Meux’s Park, at
Theobalds, in Hertfordshire. Of this relic of the
past we have already given, in a previous volume,
a full and exhaustive history, which leaves nothing
to be added or desired further than that since its

removal its site has been marked by a column, set

up at the cost of the Corporation of London. The
pedestal of the “memorial” is adorned with
appropriate bas-reliefs, above which on either side
are statues of the Queen and the Prince of Wales,
and the whole is surmounted by a bronze griffin
supporting a shield bearing the city arms, The
memorial, the object of much hostile criticism,
was erected from the designs of Sir Horace Jones,
the statues being the work of Sir J. E. Boehm, R.A.

It would be equally tedious and unnecessary to
give 2 minute description of all the lanes, courts,
and alleys which have been swept away in the
process of clearing these eight acres, many of them
being remarkable only for the generally unwhole-
some atmosphere, both moral and physical, which
pervaded them ; we must, therefore, be contented
to particularise such among them as are sufficiently
interesting, from historical associations, to make
their memories and names worth preserving,

On the north side of the old gateway stood, a
few years ago, a quaint, narrow wooden house
with projecting gables, and a physiognomy all its
own. Here generations of fishmongers had plied
their scaly trade, and here a certain Mr. Crockford,
erst dealer in shell-fish, and subsequently gambling-
house keeper and millionaire, laid the foundation
of his fortune, During his life-time he refused to
allow the old house in the Strand to be altered ;
but after his death, which occurred in 1844, the
gable roof and pent-house were removed. The

fishmonger's shop afterwards became that of a
hairdresser, and finzlly, reversing the old saying
about “coming to vile uses at last,” it passed—
as we have stated—into the hands of the well-
known second-hand booksellers, Messrs. Reeves
and Turner, who owned it when it was doomed to
come down to make room for the New Law Courts,
in 1863 (see page 11).

A few steps farther on, between Temple Bar
and the entrance of St. Clement’s Lane, nearly
opposite to Messrs. Twining’s bank, stood the
house of Messrs. Holloway, the great wholesale
manufacturers of the pills which bear their name.
It is said that for many years the firn spent
upwards of ten thousand pounds a year for
advertisements in the town, country, and foreign
newspapers.

As near as possible on the site of the shop of
Messrs. Holloway stood, formerly, an old house
with gable roof and an ornamental front, engraved
in Smith’s “Antiquities of Westminster.” It was
famous as being the reputed residence of the Duc
de Sully, when ambassador here, before he could
be accommodated at Arundel House* At that
time it is said to have been inhabited by Chris-
topher Harley, Count de Beaumont, ambassador
from France in 1605. In another house, a few steps
still further westward, the Daily Tekgraphk (the first
of the penny daily papers) was originally published,
by its founder, Colonel Sleigh. '

Returning to Temple Bar, we now make our
way northwards, following the eastern side of the
new block of buildings, and—with some latent sus-
picion that we may even meet with foul play from
the ghosts of its former inhabitants—up Shire or
Shere Lane, from which many of Addisons and
other papers in the ddvertiser are dated.

The western side of Shire Lane was in the parish
of St. Clement Danes ; and therefore the meetings
of the “Kit Cat” Club at the “Trumpet,” which
were noticed in the early part of this work, belong
properly, and strictly speaking, to this place; but
it will be sufficient here to note the fact, and to
refer our readers to the description previously
given for fuller details on the subject. We may
mention, however, that it was a thoroughfare for
foot-passengers only, very narrow and filthy, and
well deserving the character given of it in the
Quartérly Review (No. 143), as “a vile, squalid
place, noisy and noxious, nearly inaccessible to

* With reference o this assertion, Malcolm states that such a report
arose from the fact of one of the houses in that narrow street beariog on
its front the fleur-de-dys of France. and suggests that this was put there,
not to commemoratc Sully’s arrival, but in compliment to our Heary V..
the conqueror of France.
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both light and air, and swarming with a population
of a most disreputable character.” On the left
side especially the honses were of “bad repute;”
and Mr. Diprose, in his “ Walk round St. Clement
Danes,” informs us that many years ago there
existed a communication from one of them with 2
house on the north side of the Strand, a few doors
from Temple Bar, through which thieves used to
escape after ill-using their victims.  Higher up on
the same side were three houses which were made
into one by connecting passages, almost like a
rabbit warren ; this was known by the name of
“ Cadgers’ Hall,” being the rendezvous of beggars.
A few doors higher up still was another double
house, called the “Retreat,” through which, we

| vaults of this rockery there existed a continuous
| communication or passage, so that easy access
could be obtained from one to the other, facilitating
escape or concealment in the event of pursuit,
which, from the nature of the nefarious traffic in
practice, very often occurred. The end house of
this block of buildings was selected for the manu-
factory of counterfeit coin, and passed by the name
of the *Smashing Lumber.’ The ingenuity em-
ployed in the construction of the apartments may
| be mentioned.  In the first place, every room had
its secret trap or panel, that a free entrance or exit
might be quickly effected from one place to the
other ; and from the upper storey, which was the
workshop or factory, there was a shaft or well

are told, there was a way for thieves to pass constructed, in direct communication with the
through into Crown Court, and so.into the Strand. | cellar before noticed.  The whole of the coining
It is worthy of record that this lane retained |apparatus and the employés could be conveyed
its old character to the last, a man being prose-  away as by a touch of magic, being lowered in a

cuted for a robbery committed in it as late as the
year 1865.

Shire Lane must have achieved an undesirable
reputation at an early stage of its existence, as
even in the reign of James I. it was called “ Rogues’
Lane,” and in our own day the very name of Shire
Lane had, in 1845, become such an abomination
that it was ordered to be henceforth known as
Upper, Middle, and Lower Serle’s Place. This
change of name appears to have had, to some
extent, a salutary effect, as we are told by Mr.
Diprose that “portions of this lane have of late
years much improved in character, particularly the
upper end, where Isaac Bickerstaff lived.”

In Shire Lane, in the year 1639, the delightful
song writer, and oracle of the licentious wits of his
day, Sir Charles Sedley, first saw the light. He
was baptised in the old church of St. Clement’s.

Ship Yard adjoined Shire Lane on the left.
“The houses in it,” says Mr. Diprose, “were built
very high and close together, the upper part pro-
jecting over the lower, thus admitting very little
air or light” Some of them also were of great
age and unhealthy, the entire locality being made
up of such “courts” without any roadway. This
locality was a colony of thieves ; and Mr. Diprose
tells us, on the authority of a “very old inhabitant”
of it, that the latter remembered a time when
capital punishment was constantly inflicted for
robbery, and when an execution at Newgate seldom
took place without someone from this spot being
amongst the number. * At the back of this court,”
adds the same writer,  there stood formerly a block
of houses, from four to five storeys in height, which
were let out to vagrants, thieves, sharpers, smashers,
and other abandoned characters.  Throughout the

basket by means of a pulley. This secret gang
must have had a prosperous run for many years,
and the master of it, after amassing a large sum,
wisely disappeared at the right moment; for not
long after the introduction of the new police, and
the appointment of detectives, this den was dis-
covered and abolished.”

We are told, in the “Life and Times of Sir
Christopher Hatton,” by Nicholas, that “an inn
near Temple Bar, called ‘ The Ship,’”” was granted
to him ; and Chambers tells us, in his “ Book of
‘Days," that ““Ship Yard denotes the sign of the
“Ship,” a house established in honour of Sir Francis
| Drake, and having for its sign the bark in which

he circumnavigated the world.”

It is difficult to associate the neighbourhood of
| Shire Lane with pilgrims, clear springs, and running
| brooks, but we read in the Zimes of May 1st, 1874:
| —¢ Another relic of old London has lately passed

away ; the holy well of St. Clement, on the north
of St. Clement Danes Church, has been filled in
and covered over with earth and rubble, in order
to form part of the foundation of the Law Courts of
the future. It is said that penitents and pilgrims
used to visit this well as early as the reign of
Ethelred, and it was known from time immemorial
| as ‘St. Clement’s Well” Charles Knight, in his
i ‘London, published in 184r, mentions the well
as ‘now covered over with a pump,’ and he adds
that ‘the well still remains flowing as steadily and
as freshly as ever’ It has often been supposed
| that this well supplied the old Roman bath in
Strand Lane, but this is a mistake, the water which
| feeds that bath springing up out of the London clay
! below on the spot with perfect regularity.”

] Round this holy well, in the early Christian era,
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newly-baptised converts clad in white robes were | going into 2 small court called Chair Court, with
wont to assemble to commemorate Ascension Day | a fair freestone pavement.  Next to Ship Yard are
and Whitsuntide ; and in later times, after the mur- | these courts: Swan Court, very small ; Star Court,
der of Thomas 3 Becket had made Canterbury the | indifferent, good, and large, with an open air;
constant resort of pilgrims from all parts of Eng- | White Hart Court, long but narrow ; Lock Alley,
land, the holy well of St. Clement was a favourite | long, but small ; Windmill Court very small and
halting-place of the pious cavalcades for rest and | inconsiderable: Crown Court hath an open air
refreshment. about the midst, and leadeth into Little Shear Lane.
In the “ Beauties of England and Wales” (Mid- | Bear and Harrow Court is so called from such a
dlesex, vol. x., published in 1815), Mr. Night- | sign, belonging to a rioted eating:house, at the
ingale says, “A pump now covers St. Clement’s | entrance into it. This court (or rather alley,
Well.  Fitzstephen, in his description of London, | from its length and narrowness) runs into Boswell
in the reign of Henry IL, informs us that “round | Court.”
the City again, and towards the north, arise certain | It is a common mistake to suppose that Boswell
excellent springs at a small distance, whose waters | Court owed its name to the biographer of Dr.
are sweet, salubrious, and clear, and whose runnels | Johnson. Its age and its name are at least as old as
murmur o'er the shining stones. Among these, | the times of the Tudors, in whose day, and in those
Holywell, Clerkenwell, and St. Clement’s Well | of the Stuarts, as we are told, it was the abode of
may be esteemed the principal, as being much the | “the quality.” “ Here lived,” says Mr. Diprose,
most frequented, both by the scholars from the | “ Lady Raleigh, the widow of the unfortunate Sir
school (Westminster), and the youth from the City, | Walter.” Another distinguished resident was Sir
wien in a summer’s evening they are disposed to | Edward Lyttleton, successively Solicitor-General,
take an airing.  This well was also much resorted | and Lord Chief Justice of England, in 1639. From
to on account of its being supposed of peculiar | Boswell House, Gilbert Talbot wrote a letter of
efficacy in the cure of cutancous and other dis-| “ London gossip” to his father, the Earl of Shrews-
orders, and was consequently a place of importance | bury, in the reign of Elizabeth, a letter which is
to devotees. ‘The estimation of its efficacy and | printed in Lodge’s  Illustrations.” Among the
sanctity have long ceased.” other eminent inhabitants of this court was Lady
Bell Yard, occupied principally by law publishers | Fanshawe, as we learn from her “ Memoirs,” where
at the northern extremity, and towards the Strand | she says, “In his” (her husband’s) “absence, I
by a medley of small, uninviting-looking shops, was | took house in Boswell Court, near Temple Bar,
more than a century ago the abode of Fortescue, “ for two years, immediately moving all my goods
who lived in a house at the upper end of the yard,  thereto.”
which is further honoured by being described by | Ascending northwards towards Carey Street was
Fortescue’s friend, Pope, as “that filthy old place, | a flight of steps which led into New Boswell Court,
Bell Yard.” Several of the small passages in l]]l) | a dreary-looking enclosure, although described by
vn:lmty are worthy of no more particular mention i Hatton in 1708 as “a pleasant place.” At the
than is contained in Seymour's “History of the | side of these steps might be seen to the very last
Larishes of London and Westminster,” written in | a curious relic of other days, a watchman’s box, the
1734 last box of the old ¢ Charlies,” which was drawn
“A little above St. Clement’s Well, of note for | up from the pavement during the day-time.
its excellent spring water, is Plough Alley, which, | This ancient order of watchmen was instituted
with three turnings, goes into a street by the Plough | about the middle of the thirteenth century, and
stables, which fronts the playhouse by Lincoln’s | carried on its functions, growing yearly more feeble
Inn Grange, in Little Lincoln’s Inn Fields. More | and inefficient, until, in 1829, the “Charlies,” as they
towards Clare Market is Horseshoe Court, a pretty | were termed in the slang of the day, found them-
handsome place, with a freestone pavement, having | selves superseded by the new police, organised by
a prospect into St. Clement’s Inn Gardens. And | Sir Robert Peel. These midnight guardians of the
opposite to this court is Yates’ Court, not over | peace—and it may be observed en passant that the
good nor large.  Between Temple Bar and the |only qualifications necessary for the post would
turning into St. Clement’s Inn, on the north side | appear to have been extreme old age, and general
of the Butcher's Row, are several courts, most of | incapacity — suffered many things at the hands of
which are but small.  The first is Ship Yard, a | the young “bucks” and “bloods ” of the Regency.
thoroughfare into Little Shear Lane, with a pretty | A watchman found dozing in his box in the in-
broad passage ; on the east side is an open place | tervals of going his rounds to utter his monotonous
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cry, was apt to be overturned, box and all, and
left to kick and struggle helplessly, like a turtle on
its back, until assistance arrived.  Or he would be
kindly offered a dram to keep him awake, and this
dram being drugged, quickly sank him in deeper
sleep than before, in which state *Charley” and
his box, being transferred to a truck, were forthwith
trundled into another quarter of the town, and left
to awake at leisure.

Old Boswell Court, from having been the chief
abode of the “ quality,” gradually came to be let out
in chambers and apartments. The houses were
mostly of red brick with carved doorways. The
honse at the southern end was, for the last twenty
years prior to its demolition, the printing and pub-
lishing office of Messrs. Kelly’s “Post Office
Directories ” of London and of the several counties
of England.

The old entrance to St. Clement’s Lane from the
Strand was through an open gateway flanked by
massive pillars of stone. This archway was erected
by the Corporation of London, as a tribute of re-
spect for Alderman Pickett, through whose exertions
the thoroughfare of the Strand was widened, at an
expense of more than a quarter of a million sterling.
The new thoroughfare was named Pickett Street,
after the public benefactor, but the name never
became popular, and soon passed away, the houses
being reckoned as part of the Strand. A little
beyond the gateway the lane bore off to the left,
and led to the back of King’s College Hospital,
merging in Gilbert Street and Gilbert Passage,
which opens through Portsmouth Street, into the
south-west corner of Lincoln’s Inn Fields. The
line of this lane runs north from the western end of
the site laid level for the erection of the new
Law Courts, and it is to be hoped that it will soon
be superseded by a wider thoroughfare, the dark
and obscure outlets by which it still communicates
with Clare Market and its neighbourhood being
swept away.

Among the other residents in this lane was Sir
John Trevor (a cousin of the infamous Judge
Jeffreys), at one time Speaker of the House of
Commons, and twice Master of the Rolls; the
same who was expelled from the House for bribery,
though he had the good sense to warn James IL
against his arbitrary conduct. He died here in
May, 1717, and was buried in the Rolls Chapel on
the east side of Chancery Lane. Another dis-
tinguished inhabitant was Oliver Cromwell, in his
early days. The Lords Paget also had their town
mansion here, as appears by the parish registers.

In the course of time, however, the lane, ¢ from
Deing the polished abode of wit, genius, and fashion,

was converted by the ruthless hand of Time into a
huge overcrowded den, where blasphemy, rags, gin,
hollow-eyed poverty, and stinted industry, were all
fearfnlly huddled together. Where noble dames
once moved with costly and flowing trains, a short
time since women in rags rocked to sleep the
children of misery, to whom hunger gave a fearful
vitality ; and where courtiers used to exchange
the bow of recognition, fearful and brutal collisions
between man and man took place. Upon the once
polished floor, now broken and filthy, where stately
revelry held its court, human beings lay stretched
in that association which extreme misery only
knows ; and the once elegant boudoir of some dead
duchess was inhabited by seven or eight wretched
human beings. Doors stood ajar with the gaping
look of poverty and desolation, where the loud re-
sounding knocks of some tall, gold-laced menial
were once heard; and where the flaxen-haired
daughters of wealth once sported, neglected children
in filth and rags dozed out their wretched
existence.

“In this sun-forsaken, dreary region lived, among
the rest, a very large colony of the poorest and
wildest of the Irish, attracted in the first instance,
no doubt, by its nearness to the Catholic chapel in
Lincoln’s Inn Fields; but these, though equally
poor, dirty, and drunken with the tenants of the
adjoining courts, were never actually absorbed by
their English neighbours. To the last they
remained ipsis Hibernis Hiberniores, and when the
rookery was broken up they migrated, if we are
rightly informed, to Drury Lane and the Seven
Dials.

“ As a proof that the locality was as demoralised
as it was poor, we may add that when wholesale
executions occurred at Newgate or Tyburn, as they
did occasionally occur ‘when George IIL was
king,’ it was rare indeed for this locality not to
have its representative amongst those unhappy
wretches who paid the last penalty of the law.”

It has been very appositely observed that
“Charles Dickens might well have placed the
scenes of his quaintest stories of low Cockney life
in the midst of this doomed quarter of London,
which was the haunt of gaiety and pleasure in the
reign of Charles IL, and is associated with the
memories of the ¢bloods’ and the ‘bucks’ of
the Restoration, and the wits of the days of Queen
Anne.”

Mr. Diprose—who, as an old inhabitant of the
parish, is well qualified to speak on the subject
—gives a list of the courts, alleys, and streets
which were quietly removed and effaced, in
order to furnish a site for the Palace of Justice.
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They are as follows, nearly thirty in all :—Bailey’s !

Court, Bear and Harrow Court, Bell Yard, Old and
New Boswell Courts, Boswell Yard, Brick Court,
Chair Court, Clement’s Court, Clement’s Inn Fore-
gate, Clement’s Lane, Cromwell Place, Crown

BOSWELL CoU 2
Court, Crown Place, Hemlock Court, Great and
Little Horseshoe Courts, New Court, Pickett
Place, Plough Court, Robin Hood Court, Upper,
Lower, and Middle Serle’s Place, Ship Yard, Ship
and Anchor Court, Shire Lane, and Star Court,
all of them more or less dirty and overcrowded.
Besides these, however, there have disappeared
a considerable part of the Strand (Pickett Street),
Carey Street, Yates' Court, and St. Clements
Lane, nearly all of which have histories still

attaching to them, although all traces of them
| have disappeared, and their place knows them no
more.

The demolition of so many small tenements, in
! order to make a site for the Palace of Justice,

tuken shordly biofore its Demolition.)

did not have so great an influence as might have
been supposed upon the people living in the parish
of St. Clement’s, which continued to swarm with a
poor population.  Previously it stood at about
16,000, and immediately after this clearance it was
about 15,000, a great number of the inhabitants of
the old lanes and alleys having removed only into
the neighbourhood of Clare Market, which, even
before the influx, was almost equally close and
filthy, and sadly overcrowded.
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SIR MATTHEW WOOD. (From the Portrait in the Guildhall Collection)
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In the reign of Queen Anne Clement’s Lanei

was the Bond Street of London, and several of its |
houses were the haunts of those royal and noble | north of St. Clement’s Church, of which we have
intrigues which figure so largely in the anecdote- ' already seen what Winter had to say with reference
memoirs of the time. “ Here,” says Mr. Diprose, : to the concoction of the fiendish Gunpowder Plot.
¢ Steele used to show his gaudy attire, Bolingbroke = Gone, too, now are the once fair gardens of Essex
his statcly presence, and Pope that decrepit form  House and Norfolk House; gone are the wild
which was yet the tabernacle of a noble soul within, ! beasts which once were kept in Holywell Street;
Here Swift, with downcast head and scowling  gone is the last of those stocks which once held

steamers. Gone, too, are the ¢smashers,’ and the
“Charlies ;* gone, too, is that little court to the

THEATRE, PORTUGAL STREET. (S¢¢ page 27.)

visage, used to growl to himself as the mighty
satirist made and unmade cabinets; and the gentle |
Addison here turned some of those polished
periods which have called forth the envy and ad-
miration of after ages.” ‘

We will conclude this chapter with a few words |
quoted from an article in Casscl’s Magazine in |
1870, styled, “A Walk Round St. Clement |
Danes” :— ‘

“Gone now are the glories of St. Clement
Danes. Gone are the sedan chairs and coaches

in awe the roguish apprentices and youthful roughs
of the parish ; gone is the ‘Denzil Street gang,’
and the ‘Alphabet’ public-house, whilom so well
known to the theatrical profession ; gone is the far
famed Norfolk Giant, who once kept the ‘ Craven
Head’ in wretched Drury Lane ; and gone is ‘ Joe
Miller ;* gone, too, are his *jests,” and possibly his
grave.

“But in the place of these and other relics ot
past ages we shall shortly see rising on the now
bare site a stately building, the like of which

that once had here their favourite and (it is said) ' Londoners have not seen reared in modern days,

their earliest stands, Gone are the *Thames

watermen,” whom our fathers and grandfathers

&new so well, resplendent in their scarlet coats and

badges, but who were driven out by the penny
:14

save only at the river-side at Westminster-—a palace
in which it is our earnest prayer, as Englishmen,
that Justice may long sit to hold evenly the scales
of law.”
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CHAPTER 1IV.

ST. CLEMENT DANES (continued).—A WALK ROUND THE PARISH.
“Sacer est locus; ite profani”—¥irgil,

Carey Stroet—Its Reminiscances—Residences of Benjamin Franklin, Sir William Blackstonc, and Mrs. Chapone—The “Grange” Ton—The
“Plough"” Tavern and Gully the Prize-fighter—The “ Seven Stars*—Serles Court, now called New Square—Ravenscroft's Wig-shop—
Serle’s Coffee House—Portugal Row—Playhouse Street—The Duke’s Theatre—Origin of the Sergeant’s Guard at the Theatre Royal—
Curious Playbills of the Last Century— Portugal Street—King's College Hospital—Burial-place of Joe Miller—Enon Chapel and the Modern.

“ Golgotha "—The “ Old Black Jack.”

LEAVING M. Street’s New Law Courts upon our | by, and of other places of the same kind.

left hand, we will now continue our way westwards
from the top of what was once Shire Lane, but
which, as before mentioned, gradually developed
into Serle’s Place.

At right angles to Serle Street and Serle’s Place,
from east to west, runs Carey Street, the south side
of which has been demolished to form the north
side of the New Courts of I.aw. These houses, at
the time of their demolition, were almost all
tenanted by solicitors and law-stationers. Although,
as compared with the rest of the neighbourhood,
markedly wanting in memories of the past, Carey
Street has its reminiscences. The heroic Lady

Fanshawe tells us, in her “ Memoirs,” that in 1655-6 t

she and her family spent a twelvemonth in it, as
tenants of 2 house belonging to Sir George Carey,
from whom apparently the street was named. It is
saiid by Mr. Diprose that at No. 19 Benjamin

Itis
mentioned by Sir W. Davenant, in his “ Playhouse
to Let.” The “ Plough” Tavern, also in this street,
—kept at one time by Mr. John Gully, the prize-
fighter, afterwards M.P. for Pontefract— was an
ancient hostelry of good repute, as among those
who made it their head-quarters in London was the
antiquary, Browne Willis. Another inn in the street
was the “Seven Stars,” formerly the “Leg and
Seven Stars,” a corruption of the * League and Seven
Stars,” denoting the Seven United Provinces.
Little is known of the family of Serle, after

whom this street is named, except what Mr. P. Cun-
ningham tells us in his “ Handbook of London,”
namely, that it was called after a Mr. Henry Serle,
one of the benchers of Lincoln’s Inn, who died
about 1690, having bought some property in this
parish from the executors of Sir John Birkenhead,
the writer of “Mercurins Aulicus,” during the

Franklin is supposed to have lived whilst working } Great Rebellion.

as a journeyman printer in the neighbourhood.

The early name of New Square, Lincoln’s Inn

Sir William Blackstone lived in this street in , Fields, which lies on the north side of Carey Street,
1761; and the celebrated Mrs. Chapone, authoress | was Serle’s Court ; and the arms of Serle may still
of “Letters on the Improvement of the Mind,” | be seen, quartered with those of the Inn over the
and an ardent disciple of Richardson, also resided ' gateway leading into Carey Street, formerly known

here until her husband’s death.

It is difficult to imagine any levity of conduct in
a street once inhabited by this most decorous lady;
indeed, Carey Street, to its credit be it spoken,
seems, in spite of its surroundings, to have been

“Content to dwell in decencies for cver,”

which is perhaps the reason why its name is scarcely
mentioned by Stow, Pennant, Northouck, or Mal-
colm, or even by such modern writers as Peter
Cunningham and John Timbs. If there be truth
in the old adage, “ Happy are the people whose
history is a blank,” the denizens of Carey Strect
are much to be congratulated.

Though the street was dull and sober in outward
appearance, yet it may probably have been the
scene of more than one gay frolic in other days.
The “ Grange” Inn— removed in 1853 to make
room for King’s College Hospital — with its
picturesque yard and offices, was much patronised
in its day by the actors of the Duke’s Theatre hard

| as Serle’s Gate.
New Square is so called on account of its
comparatively recent erection (about 1725). Sey-
| mour, in his “Survey of London and Westminster”
| (1735), speaks of the centre of the Court being
“spacious and nicely kept, and covered with
gravel, raised low, the middle to cast off the rain
when it falls. In the middle of the court,” he adds,
“is a carions stone pillar artificially wrought, on
which is a dial-clock, with four boys who used to
spout water out of Triton shells, and at the bottom
is a basin, that receives the said streams of water
falling down from the shells, all incompassed with
handsome iron bars.” The garden in the centre
was not railed in until about the year 1844. In
1867 a temporary building was erected in it for the
purpose of exhibiting the varions architectural
" designs for the New Law Courts.
In Serle Street was the shop of Messrs. Ravens-
croft, the well-known wig-makers, which had been for
a century a rendezvous of legal celebrities. Here

v
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might be seen on the walls of the shop a series of
portraits of big-wigged lawyers, from Judge Black-
stone downwards, and a book of legal autographs
was kept in the shop with an almost religious
veneration,

At the corner of Serle Street and Portugal Street
stood the celebrated coffee-house, so long known
to law and to literature as “ Serle’s.” The entrance,
flanked with two massive doorposts of a classical
design, remained to the last unaltered from what
it must have been in the days of Akenside, and
his friend and patron, Jeremiah Dyson, who used
to make this his head-quarters. Addison frequented
it in order to study the humours of the young
barristers who met there of an evening, and it is
not difficult to imagine him seated in a quiet
nook, and watching all that is said and done. He
thus mentions the house in No. 49 of the Spectator :
“I do not know that I meet in any of my walks
objects which move both my spleen and laughter
s0 effectually as those young fellows at the Grecian,
Squire's, Searle’s, and all other coffee-houses
adjacent to the law, who rise early for no other
purpose but to publish their Jaziness.”

The author of “London Poems” writes very
graphically in allusion to this neighbourhood—

‘“ Beneath the shade of Temple Bar
‘Walk shabby wits who serve the state;
Steele, with mad laughter steeped in war,
And Addison with smile sedate,
And Swift, the bilious English Rabelais,
Plods westward shabbily,
On my Lord Bolingbroke alone to wait.”

The whole of the space bounded by Carey Street,
Serle Street, Portugal Street, and Portsmouth Street
has recently been cleared, and a large uniform
block of buildings has been erected on the site.

But it is time that we took up our walking-sticks
and pursued our journey a little further to the north
and north-west, and entered Portugal Street.

In spite of the levelling of the burying-ground |

on its southern side, and the erection of King’s
College Hospital on fits site, it must be owned that
Portugal Street has a dull and dingy look, as if it
had met with misfortune. The blank dead wall
presented by the back of the museum of the Royal
College of Surgeons on the northern side con-
tributes to this effect, and the few shops which it
contains are mostly those of law-stationers and
printers.  Its very name, suggestive of the un-
happy wife of Charles IL, would seem to have cast
a blight on it ; and we are told that it inherited the
name when the south side of Lincoln’s Inn Fields
ceased to be called Portugal Row.  Vet, in olden
days, it must have been lively and gay; for did not

the “Lincoln’s Inn Theatre” once cover the site
of the museum just named? and was not the
“ Duke’s Playhouse ” hard by ?

In Strype’s time the street was without a name ;
and that venerable antiquary, with good reason,
proposed to call it “ Playhouse Street,” though his
suggestion fell on dull and heedless ears.

“On the back side of Portugal Row,” says a
writer in 1734, “is a street which runneth to Lin-
coln’s Inn Gate, which used to pass without a
name ; but since the place is increased by the new
buildings in Little Lincoln’s Inn Fields, and the
settling of the playhouse, it may have a name
given it, and not improperly, Playhouse Street.
Fronting the playhouse is a street which goeth to
Plough Stables, which also had no name, unless
one may call it Grange Street, from the ¢ Grange’
Inn, a place of good note; nigh to which is the
parish roundhouse, on the back side of which is a
churchyard also belonging to the parish.”

We have said that in this street there were
formerly two theatres; but in reality there have
' been three, as “honest John Timbs” is careful to
remind us. He writes, “The first theatre here
(named the Duke’s Theatre, from the Duke of
York, its great patron, and the opera, from its
musical performances), was originally a tennis-court.
It was altered for Sir William Davenant, and opened
in 1662 with his operatic Sigge of Rhodes, when
regular scenery was first introduced upon our stage.”
Here Pepys, in 1662, saw acted Romeo and Filict
(for the first time), Hamlet, and Macbeth, adding,
on the last occasion, that he saw “a mighty
company of citizens, ordinary ’prentices, and mean
people in the pit.”  Here, too, as he tells us, he
first saw, and sat next to, “pretty, witty” Nell
Gwynne, when King Charles and Lady Castle-
maine were there to see Lord Orrery’s Mustapha
performed. It is said also, that in this theatre
female characters were first played by women,
among whom the most famous were Elizabeth
Davenant, Mary Saunderson (afterwards Mrs.
Betterton), Mary (or Moll) Davis, Mrs. Long, and
Mrs. Barry. Davenant having acted musical pieces
before the Restoration, Pepys frequently calls this
theatre * the Opera,” thongh, in fact, tragedies and
comedies only were performed there. It should

be added that among the principal actors here
was Thomas Betterton, “the rival of Burbage and
Garrick, and the last survivor of the old school of
English actors.”  Sir William Davenant made this
theatre his head-quarters, if not his home.  Early
in 1671-2 the players of the Duke’s Theatre re-
}moved to Dorset Gardens; and the King’s Com-
| pany, being burnt out from Drury Lane, made nse
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of it for about a year, when it was again turned
into a tennis-court. The rest of its history shall
be told in the words of Mr. Timbs:—“It was
refitted and reopened in 1693, with Congreve’s
comedy of Love for Love, which was then played
for the first time.  This second theatre was taken
down and a new house built for Christopher Rich,
and opened by John Rich in 1714. . . . .
Here Quin played his best parts; and from a
fracas in which he was embroiled originated the
Sergeant’s Guard at the Theatre Royal. The first
I’nglish opera was performed here in 1717-18;
here was originally used the stage motto, Felutt
in Speculum; and here in 1727-28 the Beggar’s
Opera was produced and acted for sixty-two nights,
“making Gay rich and Rich gay.” In 1732 Rich
removed to Covent Garden, which he had lately
built, and the Portgal Street house was let by
turns for Italian operas, oratorios, balls, concerts,
and exhibitions.”

In 1735 Mr. Gifford, who had opened another
place of amusement in Goodman’s Fields, took
this theatre, lately vacant by the withdrawal of
Rich and his company to Covent Garden, but gave

[St. Cleweat Dancs.

evening. The bench immediately consented to
the proposal; and a polite card was dispatched
to Mr. Garrick for that purpose. To which Mr.
Garrick returned for answer, that his company was
so imperfect and divided (many of his performers.
being yet in the country), that it would be im-
possible for him to open with any other piece; but
added, that he would in future do everything in
his power to oblige them.”

Here is the copy of a playbill of this theatre a
century and a half ago :—

“The Sixth day, 1720, for the benfit of the author, by the
company of comedians, at the Theatre in Little Lincoln’s Inn
Fields, this present Saturday, being the 16th of January, will be
presented a new farce of three acts, call’d Tvic Hatf-pay Officers.
‘A principal part to be perform’d by Peg Fryar, it being the
6th time of her performance on any stage since the reign of
King Charles 1. To which will be added the new farce of
two acts, calld Hod's Wedding, being the sequel of the
Country Wake. With entertainments of dancing by Mrs.
Fryar, particularly the Bashful Maid, and an Irish Tro,
Boxes, §s. Pit, 35. Gallery, 2s. N.B.—The author’s tickets,
which could not come in on the third night, will be taken
to-day.”

This performance was patronised by royalty, as
| we find that on Monday, the rith January, 1720,

it up at the end of two years, Yvhen it was closed. | « pig Royal Highness the Prince came to the
Pllsvmg lundsrgone several lesﬁ‘t“des’ it became | ney, Playhouse in Little Lincoln’s Inn Fields, and
Wy G peliy and china warehouse of | o) ') new farce of three acts, calld Zke Half pay
Messrs. Spode and Copeland. It was here that in Ojficers, with another new farce of two acts, call'd

1735 Macklin killed Mr. Hannam; and Night-
ingale, in the tenth volume of the « Beauties of
Ingland and Wales,” gives the following strange
account of its last performance : “ The shutting up
of this structure has been whimsically accounted
for by vulgar tradition. Upon a representation
of the pantomime of Hurlequin and Dr. Faustus,
when a tribe of demons, necessary for the piece,
were assembled, a supernumerary devil was ob-
served, who, not approving of going out in a com-
plaisant manner at the door, to show a dezil’s frick,
flew up to the ceiling, made his way through the
tiling, and tore away one-fourth of the honse; which
circumstance so affrighted the manager, that the
proprietor had not courage to open the house ever
afterwards.”

With regard to the Begar's Opera we find
the following remonstrance in the Gentleman's
Magazine, S:ptember 15th, 1773 :—* This day Sir
John Fielding informed the bench of justices that
he had last year written to Mr. Garrick concerning
the. impropriety of performing the Beggar's Opera,
wl.uch never has been represented on the stage
without creating an additional number of real

thieves; he pegged, therefore, the gentlemen pre-
sent would join with him in requesting Mr. Garrick
to desist from performing that opera on Saturday

Hob's Wedding.”
| To this we cannot resist appending a playbill
| culled from Mr. Diprose's “ Anecdotes of the Stage
and Players” :—
By his Majesty’s Company of Comedians.
Kilkenny Theatre Royal.
(Positively the last night, because the Com-
pany go to-morrow to Waterford.)
On Saturday, May 14, 1793,

Will be performed by desire and command of several
respectable people in this learned Matrapolish, for the
benefit of Mr. Kearnes, the manager,

The Tragedy of
HAMLET, PRINCE OF DENMARK.
Originally written and composed by the celcbrated Dan.
| Hiyes, of Limerick, and insarted in Shakespeare's
works.,

‘ Hamlet, by Mr. Keames (being his first appearance in
| that character, and who, between the acts, will perform
several solos on the patent bag-pipes, which play two tunes
|2t the same time) Ophelia, by Mrs. Prior, who will
| introduce several favourite airs in character, particularly
| *The Lass of Richmond Hill,” and “We'll be unhappy
together,” from the Rev. Mr. Dibdin's oddities. The parts.
of the King and Queen, by directions of the Rev. Father
O’Callaghan, will be omitted, as too immoral for any stage-
Polonius, the comical politician, by a young gentleman,
| being his frst appearance in public. The Ghost, the Grave-
digger, and Laertes, by Mr. Sampson, the great London
comedian. The characters to be dressed in Roman shapes,
To which will be added, an interlude, in which will be in-
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troduced several slight-of-hand tricks, by the celebrated | haying been founded only as far back as the year -

Jugveyor H“';&'Aggf‘d‘gj;lfr;‘;g;‘ﬁ‘;fsg’%‘zge fagoh 1839. It grew naturally out ot" the ‘lvants of the

Mahomet, by Mr. Kearnes. Medical Dep:?nment of King’s College in tl}e

Tickets to be had of Mr. Kearnes, at the sign of the Strand, of which we shall have more to say in

*Goat’s Beard,” in Castle Street, }another chapter. It stands on the site of the old
The valoe of the tickets, as usual, will be taken out (if | workhouse of St. Clement Danes, and of one of the
required) in candles, bacon, soap, butter, cheese, potatocs, | burial-grounds already mentioned. Its design was
n&;a:tf tﬁ“p‘:&:‘}g‘fﬁ; ;n s::gﬂg:{;jﬁi%zcc;:: | twofold: to offer the medical students of the college
son whatsoever will be admitted into the boxes without shoes | the advantage of witnessing medical and surgical
or stockings. practice, and receiving clinical instruction from their
In 1726, George I. paid a visit to the theatre in | own professors; and secondly, to afford medical and
Lincoln’s Inn Fields, and the event is thus recorded ' surgical aid to a poor neighbourhood, at a distance
in one of the newspapers of the day : — from any other hospital. The architect was Mr.
“March 18.—Last night His Majesty went to | T. Bellamy. The patients relieved by the hospital
the Theatre Royal in Lincoln’s Inn Fields, to see | in 1840 were about 4,000, a number which, in
the play of the Country Wife,and the entertainment | a gnarter of a century, was multiplied nearly
of Apollo and Daphne, in which was performed a | tenfold. New buildings on an extensive scale
particular flying on that occasion, of a Cupid | were added in 1852, and more recently the building
descending, and presenting His Majesty with a  has been still further enlarged. The medical
book of the entertainment, and then ascended—at | staff of the College comprises a *consulting”
which new piece of machinery the andicnce seemed | physician, five physicians, and four “assistant”
mauch pleased.” physicians, two *consulting” surgeons, three
The after history of the place is curious. Having | surgeons with “assistants,” a surgeon-dentist, &c.;
been used first as a barrack and then as an auc- and the syllabus of its lectures embraces nearly
tion room, it was bonght by Messrs. Copeland and ' twentydifferent subjects. 1t will accommodate about
Spode, as a repository for their china-ware; and  two hundred patients. The medical students at-
finally the premises were taken down in 1848, or | tending hospital practice within its walls average
the following year, to make room for the enlarge- | about three hundred. It is under a committee of
ment of the museum of the College of Surgeons, | minagement, and is but slenderly endowed. The
which was finisked in 185 4. hospital has appended to it a medical library, several
By the rate-books of St. Clement Danes for 1668 'museums, a chemical laboratory, and other
we find Portugal Street to have been the residence ' appliances. The usual course extends over four
of many distinguished personages in the seven- |years, though some few students complete it in
teenth century. The Earl of Rochester lived “in | three. Though so recently established, it can
the house next to the Duke’s Theatre,” from | already boast of a long list of distinguished names

whence he gives notice to a correspondent, “ If you ‘ among its professors and lecturers.
write to me, direct to Lincoln’s Inn Fields, the l‘ A part of the buildings of this hospital stands on
|
|

house next to the Duke Playhouse, in Portugal Row, ' ground which, up to about the year 1850, was one
there lives your humble servant, —RoCHESTER.” of the burial-places belonging to the parish. It was

John Timbs tells us that Portugal Street was the | abont the third of an acre in extent, and called
last place where the stocks were set up in London, ‘ the * Green Ground,” as if in mockery. From a
those of St. Clement Danes, which had formerly ' report of a parochial committee in 1848, we learn
stood in the Strand, near Temple Bar, having | that upwards of 5,500 bodies had been interred
remained here until about the year 1820, He adds  within it in the previous quarter of a century. The
that they were on the north side, facing the hos- | scenes witnessed here were of the most offensive
pital.  He also reminds us that even in recentdays ' character. In it was interred, among other lesscr
the street enjoyed “a sort of cant notoriety,” from | celebrities, Joe Miller, the author of the “Jest Book ”
the fact of the Insolvent Debtors’ Court being in it. | which bears his name, who died in 1738. A

On the south side of Portugal Street, near the | monument was erected to his memory, with an
centre of the few small courts that have not been | inscription, said to be by Stephen Duck, who began
swept away, stands King's College Hospital, which | life as a thresher, but afterwards entered the Church,
owes 1ts existence mainly to the exertions of Dr. |and wrote some poems, which incurred the satire
R.B. Todd. It forms a plain, substantial, and un- | of Dean Swift. This monument, having become
preteznding block of buildings, four storeys in height, | decayed and almost illegible, was renewed in 1816,
and is hardly old enough as yet to have a history, ; and is to be seen leaning up against the wall of
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one of the offices of the hospital.  The inscription | in his day as an actor for h.is excellent personations
on it ran as follows :— of some of the characters in the f:omedles of Con-
4 Here lie the remains of honest Joe Miller, greve, and as a gleaner and compiler of other men’s
Who was a tender husband, a sincere friend, witticisms he has enjoyed a reputation for wit and

A facctious companion, and an excellent mmedif:' humour which in all probability he never deserved,

He d?med i Tt henstildaylot Avgt ity 4 ok Allibone’s “ Dictionary of Authors” tells us that

=S

OLD HOUSES IN WYCH STREET. (Sec fage 34.)

““ It humour, wit, and honesty could save “his ¢ Jest Book ’ was originally published in 1739
‘The humorous, witty, honest from the grave, as the compilation of his friend, Elijah Jenkins,
I\SS grave hAd not so soen “;“m“‘ tCundy ' but the real editor (and author, as it is asserted)

ith honesty, and wit, and humour crowned ! a5
LTt e e preserve our health, was lohn Mottley, the author of a Life of ieter
And guard us longer from the stroke of death, the Great’ The book itselfl appears to have
The stroke of death on him had later fell, gained a sudden celebrity, second only to that of

‘Whom all mankind esteemed and loved so well.”
Of“Joe Miller " little is known except what may
be gathered from his tombstone. He was famous

¢Ingoldsby Legends’ and ‘Pickwick,” three separate
elitions of it having appeared in 1739, and seven
editions being disposed of in as many years.”

e e e e e e S
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Mr. Peter Cunningham, in his “ Handbook of
London,” published in 1850, speaks of Joe Miller's

|
|

building stands close to the eastern entrance to
Clement’s Inn, and the access to it is through a

headstone as standing in the old burying-ground | gateway leading into a narrow and extremely dingy

“half concealed in summer by a clump of sun-
flowers,” and draws the special attention of his
readers to “ the “Grange ’ public-house, with its old
and picturesque inn-yard.” It may be remembered

!

!
iby a Dissenting congregation, of whom Mr. Dip-

court, which opens out into Carey Street. It was
converted from secular to religious uses in 1823,

rose writes —

LYON'S INN,

that Sir William Davenant, in his “ Playhouse to
Let,” mentions this hostelry in a way which implies
that it was a haunt of players. “ Let him enter and
send his train to our house-inn, the ¢ Grange.”” But
alas! for the progress of modem improvements,
the “ Grange ” and its yard are gone. It was taken
down in 1853, and its site is now covered by a
part of the hospital.

But far worse than the graveyard alluded to
above, was another place of burial within the limits
of this parish, long known as Enon Chapel, but
afterwards converted into a chapel of ease to St
Clement’s, and called Clare Market Chapel. The

From a View by S. Ireland, published 1800. (Sev page 34)

i “These pious people, looking very naturally'to
ways and means, turned the vaults beneath their
| meeting-house into a burial-place, which soon be-
’ came filled with coffins up to the very rafters, so
that there was only the wooden flooring between
the living youth and the festering dead, for a
Sunday-school was held in the chapel as well as
the congregational meeting. This state of things
was allowed to continue till 1844, when a new sewer
having to be carried under the building, the Com-
missioners of Sewers discovered the loathsome
charnel-house, and had the place closed, but left
the bodies to lie there and rot, heedless of all
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consequences. The upper premises then became | strange to think that such foull ab}xses were. not
tenanted by a set of teetotallers, who, amongst other | swept away until the reign of cht?na.

uses, turned it into a dancing-room, where the’| Was it in jest and scorn, or in a fit of royal
thoughtless and giddy went to ‘ foot it’ away over  pleasantry, that the little thoroughfare which joins
the mouldering remains of sad mortality, part of i the west en.d of Portugal _Street to the south-west
the bygone generation turning to dust beneath the | angle of Lincoln’s Inn Fields was called Ports-
dancers’ feet.” This loathsome abomination ceased | mouth Street? Atall events it is not a little strange
in 1847-8, when a surgeon, Mr. G. A. Walker,  that this should have been the case when the Queen
gained possession of the chapel with the intention | of Charles IL was Catharine of Porfugal, and one
of removing the remains from the vault, or “dust- . of his court favourites the Duchess of Portsmouth.
hole,” as it was usually called, to a more appropriate | It is a short, narrow, and not very interesting street,

place. The work of exhumation was then com-
menced, and a pyramid of human bones was
exposed to view, separated from piles of coffin
wood in various stages of decay. This # Golgotha™
was visited by about 6,000 persons, previous to its
removal, and some idea may be formed of the
horrid appearance of the scene, when it is stated
that the quantity of remains comprised four up-
heaved van loads. The whole mass of bodies was
decently interred by Mr. Walker, at his own cost,
in one pit in the cemetery at Norwood, the coffin-
wood being piled up and burnt It is indeed

| though it still contains one or two of the few sur-
viving wooden houses of the Stuart times. Mr. Peter
| Cunningham tells us that the “Old Black Jack,”
| in this street, still standing, was a favourite hostelry
of Joe Miller, and was long known as the  Jump,”
on account of the fact that another of its fre-
‘ quenters, “Jack Sheppard,” that hero of our town-
bred urchins, once jumped out of its first-floor
| window, to escape the emissaries of Jonathan Wild.
- John Timbs tells us that here used to meet, until
| the year 1816, the members of a club known as
| the “ Honourable Society of Jackers.”

CHAPTER V.

THE STRAND (NORTHERN TRIBUTARIES).—CLEMENT'S INN, NEW INN, LYON'S INN, ETC.
“‘He must to the Inns of Court. T was of Clement’s once mysclf, where they talk of Mad Shallow still."—2 Henry IV., Act iii. 2.

Curious Legend about St. Clement's Lane—Clement's Inn—Ncw Inn—Stanhope Street—Birthplace of Grimaldi—Holywell Street—The *¢ Old
Drury " Tavern—Ancient Shop-Signs—* Bookscller's Row "—Wych Street—New Inn—The “White Lion” and Jack Shepherd— The “ Angel”
Inn and Bishop Hooper—' Saddling the Spit"—Lyon’s Inn—The **Spotted Dog"-~The Globe Theatre—The Opera Comigue—The

Olympic Theatre.

TurNING southwards down that portion of St

Clement’s Lane which still remains, and which lies
between King’s College Hospital and New Inn,
it occurs to us that the narrow, dark, and irregular
alleys in the neighbourhood of Clare Market and
Wych Street, encumbered as they were with low
projecting eaves, arched doorways, and bulkheads,
must have afforded every facility, a century ago, or
even less, for the unforeseen attacks of footpads
and for the escape of the offenders; and even now it

is almost as true as it was a century ago, that in the !

words of a writer in the Builder, “the whole nest
of streets and passages behind the south side of
Lincoln’s Inn Fields requires re-arrangement and
improvement. There is a legend hereabout that
years ago a young man from the country, bearing a
black bag, started one winter night from Portugal
Street to get into the Strand, and that he has been
wandering round and about ever since, constantly
returning with a disconsolate aspect to his original
starting-point.  On foggy nights his form may be

descried in Clare Market. Anyhow, no one has
yet heard that he ever reached the Strand.”

Fortescue, a celebrated man of letters in the
fifteenth century, was of opinion that the name
Inns of Court arose from these places being the
inns, hospitals, or hotels where young noblemen
and others belonging to the Court temporarily
resided ; for many persons of rank sent their sons
here to pursue a course of study, without designing
them to follow the profession of the law.

Clement’s Inn, the west boundary of the New
Law Courts, was so named, as we are told by Stow,
“Because it standeth near to Clement’s Church,
but nearer to the fair fountain called Clement's
Well” It is stated by Dugdale to have been an
Inn of Chancery in the reign of Edward II.; but

Pennant speaks of it as dating baek only as far as

the reign of Edward IV.
. The following is quoted from Sir George Buc,
an old writer, whose style at least is quaint and
amusing : — ¢ Clement's Inne was a messuage

S
l
u
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belonging to the parish of St. Clement Dane, the | here first saw the light of day, Dec. 18, 1778. He

deuise whereof is an anchor without a stocke, with
a capital C couchant upon it; and this is grauen in
stone over the gate of St. Clement’s Inne. It
seemeth to be a hieroglyphike, or rebus (as some
conjecture), figuring herein.  St. Clement, who
having been Pope, and so reputed head of the
Church (and the Church being resembled to a

shippe), both his name and office are expressed[

in this deuise of the ¢ C’ and anchor.”

The entrance to Clement’s Inn from the thorough-
fare on the north side of the church of St. Clement
Danes was formerly through a tall archway, sup-
ported by lofty columns, which, however, has been
demolished to make room for the New Law Courts.
Our readers will scarcely need to be reminded that
St. Clement’s Inn is the one which Shakespeare
has made immortal as the home of “Master
Shallow” in his Templar days, as may be seen by
the motto prefixed to this chapter.

Clement’s Inn is said by Seymour in his “Survey"
to have descended to the Earls of Clare from Sir
William Hollis, Lord Mayor of London in 1539.

In the garden is a celebrated bronze figure of

a negro supporting a sundial, which was brought
from Italy early in the eighteenth century by Lord
Clare, by whom it was presented to the Inn. The
Hall of Clement’s Inn, the east end of which over-

seems to have been born in the purple of the
theatre. His father was of Italian extraction; his
mother, according to Mr. Diprose, was a Miss
Rebecca Brooker, who had been from infancy a
dancer at Drury Lane, and subsequently played
“old woman” at Sadler's Wells. From “Pink’s
History of Clerkenwell” we learn that “Joe Gri-
maldi” made his first appearance at ¢ the Wells”
| in 1781 in the character of a monkey, became part
proprietor of the house in 1818, and finally quitted
it in 1832. He died, somewhat suddenly, at his
house in Southampton Street, Pentonville Road, at
the end of May, 1837, and was buried in the
churchyard of St. James’s, Pentonville, by the side
of his friend Charles Dibdin.

There is but little in the way of antiquarian
lore or of recent anecdote to be told concerning
Holywell Street, which no doubt received its
name—not, we fear, much in keeping with its real
character—from the “holy well” already men-
tioned near St. Clement’s Church. Leigh Hunt,

in his “ London Journal,” passes it by with discreet
silence.  Allen, in his “ History of London,” dis-
| misses it in a line, styling it a ““narrow, inconvenient
| avenue of old, illformed houses;” and Mr. Peter
Cunningham “a narrow, dirty lane, chiefly occupied

lby old clothesmen and the vendors of low publi-

looks the site of the New Law Courts, is built of cations.”

brick, and is an elegant, well-proportioned room.
It contains, among other pictures, a good portrait
of Sir Matthew Hale.

New Inn, which adjoins Clement’s Inn, is said
by tradition to have been removed to Wych Street
from Seacole Lane, before which time there was
here a common hostelry or inn, known by the sign
of the “Blessed Virgin.”

“To this inn,” says Seymour, with his usual
accuracy, in his “Survey of London and West-
minster” (1735), “are pleasant walks and gardens.
The north-easterly part joints to Clement’s Inn,
from which it is separated by a handsome iron
gate, shut up a nights, which was placed here anno

1723.”

Pennant, writing in 1805, says of it—“ New Inn, |

[ It appears from honest Strype that in his day
it was tenanted by “divers salesmen and piece-
brokers,” and was commonly called “the Back
Side of St. Clement’s.” Mr. Timbs says that the
“holy well” which gave to it its name was
| ‘““under the ‘Old Dog’ Tavern” (No. 24); but this
\is clearly a mistake. He adds that the “salesmen
rand piecebrokers of Strype's day have nearly
| deserted it, and that it is now the head-quarters of
old bookstalls.” A few lofty-gabled and deep-bayed
fronts still remain upon some of the houses, espe-
cially on the southern side. It is only fair to add
that during the last few years the character of the
street has shown a marked improvement, owing to
| the stringent enforcement of Lord Campbell’s Act
against the sale of bad books and prints, for which

where the students of the Strand Inn nestled after formerly this thoroughfare was a notorious market.
they were routed thence by the Duke of Somerset. | At the corner of one of the houses on the south
In New Inn the great Sir Thomas More received r side, near the centre of the street, there still re-
the early part of his education before he removed mains a grotesque carving—a lion’s head—pro-
to Lincoln’s Inn.” The armorial bearings of this | bably the last of such ornaments now to be found
Inn are Vert, a flower-pot argent. It became an ' in the metropolis.
Inn of Chancery in 148s. | Holywell Street, we may be pardoned for adding
Stanhope Street, in this immediate neighbour- here, was formerly used as the emporium of the
hood, is worthy of a passing note as having been | mercers, who had their appropriate signs. Of these
the birthplace of the famous clown, Grimaldi, who | one still remains, the * Half Moon,”a carved pro-
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The site of the old “ White Lion” was at the
corner of one of the courts on the northern side,
' and was latterly occupied as a carpenter’s shop.

jecting sign; another —the “Indian Queen,” painted |
by one of the members of the first association of
the Royal Academy, one Catton—might be seen

down to a very recent period. The “ Golden Ball”
in this street was a noted house for silk remnants,
and continued in repute to the end of the last
century. As the mercery trade declined in Holy-
well Street, the traffic in frippery and old clothes
took its place, and has, to a certain extent, con-
tinued to the present time.

| Speaking of Wych Street as it was in the days of

l Jack Sheppard, we may say of the Via de Aldwych,

las the writer of “Haunted London” says of
Holborn Hill—

““The street curves quaint,

| And cumbrous sign-boards creak on left and right ”

From the “ Angel” Inn, at the bottom of Wych

Of late years many houses in this street have Street, Bishop Hooper was taken in 1554 to
been occupied by booksellers of a certain class— | Gloucester to be burnt at the stake. Something
those who deal in indecent and immoral literature ; ' more than two centuries later, the “ Angel” Inn
and so bad has been its reputation that, in the figured in a curious advertisement which appeared
interest of the more respectable inhabitants it has in the Public Advertiser, March 28, 1769 :—
been proposed more than once to alter the name | “To be sold, a Black Girl, 11 years of age ; extremely
to “ Bookseller's Row,” and the idea has lately been  handy ; works at her needle tolerably, and speaks English
carried out by the Metropolitan Board of Works, | well. Inquire of Mr. Owen, at the Angel’ Inn, behind
although the street continues to be known as St Clement's Church, in the Strand.”

Holywell Street. It is only right to add that in) It is said by Allen, in his “ History of London,”
the street at the present time are many second-| that the  Great Fire” of 1666 was not the first of
hand book-shops of a far different character frcm\its kind which laid London waste, for that “in
those above mentioned. | 1136 a great fire happened within the City, which

Wych Street—our pathway as we walk from St.  destroyed all the way westward to St. Clement
Clement’s Church towards Drury Lane—derives ' Danes,” but he does not mention the precise spot
its name from the Via de Aldwych, whereof it | where this fire ended at the west.
originally formed a part, a lane leading from the| We have seen that the parish of St. Clement
north side of the Strand to Broad Street, St. Giles’s. | Danes was not considered remarkable for decency
It still contains, especially on the south side, some | and order in the reign of Queen Elizabeth ; for in

of those curious old woodenfronted and gabled
houses which are equally picturesque and incon-
venient. Like Holywell Street, of late years this
thoroughfare has gained a notoriety for the sale of
books and prints of an immoral class, and at
present the sale of them is not wholly suppressed.
In bygone days, however, it was tenanted by
a very differept class of persons; although in
1734, according to a statement quoted by Mr.
Diprose, this street was “much taken up by up-
holsterers for the sale of bedding and second-hand
household goods.”

On the north side of Wych Street, nearly
about the centre, is the entrance to New Inn,
through which in the day-time there is a thorough-
fare into the dismal region of Clare Market. In
a narrow court of this street the notorious Jack
Sheppard served his apprenticeship to Mr. Wood,
the carpenter; and in White Lion Passage stood
the “hostelrie ” of the “ White Lion,” the scene of
many of the events in the career of that prince of
“cracksmen,” who used nightly to meet in the tap-
room his professional friends and acquaintances,
and with whose feats and various adventures the
pen of Mr. Harrison Ainsworth has made us so
familiar. The house was pulled down in 1880.

spite of the rank, wit, and fashion which dis-
tinguished it a century and a half later, we find
that it even then bore no better character; and the
Clement’s Lane of the First and Second Georges
| was no bad precursor to the Wych Street of our
| own day. The London Spy of that date observes,
| half in earnest and half in jest, that it “is deemed
an excellent air for breeding attorneys in, the chief
subject of all conversation turning here upon
verdicts, costs, damages, writs of inquiry, &c.”

| According to the same authority, published in
| 1725, there was formerly in the parish of St.
Clement’s the custom of “saddling the spit,” which,
the writer adds, “is now laid aside, for reasons well
| known at Westminster Hall” It would seem that
! whatever this custom may have been—and as far as
| we have been able to discover, history preserves a
discreet silence as to its nature—it was a rough
and boisterous one, “ more honoured in the breach
than in the observance.”

Lyon’s Inn, lately demolished, was an old
Inn of Chancery, belonging in former days to the
Inner Temple. It faced Newcastle Street, on its
eastern side, between Wych Street and Holywell
Street ; one entrance led to it from the latter, and
also another through Horne Court, next door to an
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inn known as the “Spotted Dog.” Mr. Diprose,
in his “Account of St. Clement Danes,” tells us
that this same “Spotted Dog” had been a hostelry
for some 230 years at least before its demolition in
1864, for the purpose of carrying out a building
speculation of the “Strand Hotel Company,” a
speculation which ended in failure. It is said—but
we know not with what amount of truth—that the
once holy well, which gave its name to the street,
was under the *“Spotted Dog.”

Howes, in his % Annals,” in continuation of Stow,
quaintly tell us that it was “a guest inn or hostelerie
held at the sign of the ‘Lyon,’ and purchased by
gentlemen professors and students in the law in
the reign of King Henry VIIL, and converted to
an Inn of Chancery.” Sir Edward Coke was a
student there in 1578.

This Inn, never of much importance, had fallen
utterly into disrepute before the beginning of this
century, and become the resort of gamblers and
swindlers. Here lived Mr. Weare, who was mur-
dered near Edgware by Thurtell, in 1824. The
latter in defence pleaded in extenuation that Weare
had cheated him at cards out of ,£300.

Each of the three Inns alluded to in this chapter
was governed by a Principal or Treasurer, and a
number of “ Ancients,” corresponding to Benchers ;
and Seymour tells us, in his “Survey,” that there
were “mootings ” in each Inn in every term.

The property of “Lyons Inn” was sold about
the year 1863, and on its site now stand two
theatres, the “Globe,” as if in memory of Shake-
speare’s theatre, and the “ Opera Comique.”

The Globe Theatre, which covers its western
portion, was built and opened in 1868. It has
a narrow frontage in Newcastle Street. On this
site the Architectural Association had its first
home. The theatre was built from the instructions
of Mr. Sefton Parry, the proprietor, and will seat
1,500 persons. The auditorium is effectively deco-
rated in relief, and has a domed ceiling, with a
sunlight in the centre. The site having been exca-
vated very considerably for the proposed hotel, the
floor of the pit has been made many feet below the
line of the street, and is approached by a steep
flight of steps from Wych Street. In Wych Street
also are the entrances to the gallery stairs, and
that to the “royal box.” The ordinary boxes are
entered from Newcastle Street, and are on a level
with the street, so that stairs are avoided. Here,
too, enter the occupants of the stalls. The seats
are all fairly commodious, and conveniently placed,
so that all that is passing on the stage can be dis-
tinctly seen and heard from any part of the house.
The house opened in December, 1868, with Mr.

H. ]. Byron’s comedy of “ Cyril’s Success,” which
in itself proved a great success.

The principal front of the “ Opera Comique” is
in the Strand, and observant passengers who know
the narrowness of the area between the Strand and
Holywell Street will find it difficult to imagine
how, even in London, where now-a-days theatres
are edged in among houses anyhow, an “Opera
Comique” can have been formed there. This
frontage, however, is, in truth, nothing but the
entrance to an underground way leading across
Holywell Street to a theatre which has been built
between that and Wych Street. The building,
which is very small, backs on the “Globe,” and is
to a considerable extent underground, as will be
understood when we mention that a long flight of
stairs in Wych Street leads down to the stage level,
and that the pit, of course, is lower than that again.
The theatre was opened in 1870, and has seen
several changes of lessees. It is nicely decorated,
and commodiously arranged. Its greatest pros-
perity has been in the production of those comic
operas with which the names of Messts. Gilbert and
Sullivan are popularly associated, notably “H.M.S.
Pinafore,” and “The Pirates of Penzance.”

The Olympic Theatre, at the end of Wych Street,

occupies the site of old Craven House, which was
taken down in 1803, the ground being purchased
by Mr. Philip Astley, of the * Amphitheatre ” over
Westminster Bridge, who constructed what was
czlled at the time “a house of public exhibition of
horsemanship and droll,” which he styled “the
Olympic Pavilion.” It was opened as such in 1806,
but the speculation does not appear to have been
successful. In 1813 the lease was sold to Robert
Elliston, who introduced pieces of sufficient merit
to attract the fashionable dwellers in the West-end,
and by that means raised the theatre to something
like successful popularity. The building was de-
stroyed by fire in 1849, but rebuilt and opened
again in the same year, and is now one of the most
popular theatres in London. Madame Vestris had
the management of the “Olympic” from 1832 to
1839, and many of the most eminent actors of the
| day have appeared upon its boards. The pieces
| brought out at this theatre are principally melo-
| dramas of the superior kind. For many years Rob-
‘son, one of the most gifted modern comedians,
attracted thousands here to witness his wonderful
delineations of the tears and laughter, the joys
and sorrows, of human life in its humbler aspects.
Mr. Horace Wigan was for some time manager
here ; Mr. Benjamin Webster has likewise had the
| management, and since then Miss Ada Cavendish
| and others have taken it in hand.
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OLD CRAVEN HOUSE,

1800. (See page 35.)

CHAPTER VI

THE STRAND (NORTHERN TRIBUTARIES).—DRURY LANE AND CLARE MARKET.
“Q may thy virtue guard thee through the roads

Of Drury’s mazy courts aud dark abod,
“ Paltry and proud as drabs in Drury La

1"—Gay's ' Trivia.”
e."~—Fope.

The Hundrd of Drury—Drury House, afterwards called Craven House—The *“Queen of Bohemia "—Drury Lane—Emincnt Inhabitan v—Resi-

dence of Nell Gwynne—The “ Cock and Magpic”—The “ Craven

Head” and the Norfolk Giant—Disrcputable Character of Drwvy Lane

in the Past Century—Pepys’ Visit to the ““Cockpit "—Puritan Observances—The Theatre in Vere Street—' Spiriting Away ™ an Infant—
Princes Street— Clare Market—John Henley, the Demagogue—Clare Houss —Killigrew's Theatre—Mrs. Bracegirdle’s Benevolence—The
“ Bull's Head” and the Artists’ Club—The *“Spiller's Head ” Tavern—Care Market Chapel— Denzil Strest—Holles Street.

“ON the borders of St. Giles-in-the Fields,” says should receive its name from a word which, in the

the Zondon Spy, “is situated that ancient and |
venerable spot the Hundred of Drury, which, I |
hear, is the property of two or three parishes more.” |
The character of this region may be inferred from
the words which follow : “ There are reckoned to
be one hundred and seven ¢ pleasure-houses ’ within
and about this settlement ; and a Roman Catholic
priest, who has lodged here many years, assures me
that to his knowledge the Societies for the Refor-
mation of Morals have taken as much pains, and
expended as large sums to reclaim this new Sodom,
as would have fitted out a force sufficient to have
conquered the Spanish West Indies.”

Pennant remarks it as a singular occurrence that

this lane, “of late times so notorious for intrigue,”

language of Chaucer, had an amorous signification :
“ Of bataile and of chevalrie,
Of ladies’ love and drucric,
Anon I wot you tell.”

Drury House, from which the lane originally took
its name, stood at the west end of Wych Street. It
was built by Sir William Drury, who is reported to
have been not only the head of a great family, but
Knight of the Garter. He held a command in the
Irish wars in the reign of Elizabeth, and showed
great ability as an officer. He unfortunately fell
in a duel with 2 Sir John Burroughes, about a
foolish quarrel for precedency. The house deserves
to be remembered as the place where the rash
friends of the Queen’s favourite, the Earl of Essex.
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devised those wild schemes which led to the ruin
of himself and his adherents. The *Account of
St. Clement’s in 1734,” to which we have so often
referred, speaks of it as “a very large honse, or
which may rather be termed several honses. The
entrance,” adds the writer, “is through a pair of

THE ‘““COCK AND MAGPIE,” DRURY LANE.

gates, which leadeth into a large yard for the re-
ception of coaches.” At the back of the house was
a handsome garden, “In the following century,”
says Allen, in his “History of London,” “it was
possessed by the heroic Lord Craven, who rebuilt |
it. It was lately a large brick pile, concealed by |
other buildings, and turned into a public-house
bearing the sign of the ‘Queen of Bohemia,’ the '
earl’s admired mistress, whose battles he fought, |
100

animated at once by love and duty. When on the
death of her husband he could aspire to her hand,
he is supposed to have succeeded ; at all events
history says that they were privately married, and
that he built for her the fine seat at Hampstead
Marshal, in Berkshire, afterwards destroyed by fire,”

ehin

From an Original Skutch in 1840, (Sec page 38)

The services rendered by Lord Craven to London,
his native city, are worthy of being recorded here.
He was so indefatigable in preventing the ravages
of fire, that it is said “his horse would smell the
outbreak of a fire, and neigh to give the alarm”
He and Monk, Duke of Albemarle, stayed in Lon-
don throughout the visitation of the Great Plague
in 1665, and at the hazard of their own lives
preserved order in the midst of the horrors of the
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time. Allen adds that there used to be in Craven
Buildings a very good fresco portrait of this hero
in armour, mounted on a white horse, and with his
truncheon in hand, and on each side an earl’s and a
baron’s coronet, with the letters « W. C.” (William
Craven). This painting, though several times re-
coloured in oils, has long since perished; but an
engraving of it is preserved in Smith’s * Antiquities
of London.”

It deserves to be recorded of Sir Robert Drury
that he for some time entertained, as a welcome
and honoured guest, at his mansion in Drury Lane,
the amiable and learned Dr. John Donne, after-
wards Dean of St. Paul’s, when he was young and
poor, having contracted marriage with a young
lady of high connections, against the will, or at all
events without the consent, of her relatives. It is
added that he not only gave him and his wife the
free use of apartments, but also was “a cherisher
of his studies, and such a friend as sympathised
with him and his in all their joys and sorrows.”
Such friends, no doubt, were rare then; as rare,
perhaps, as now-a-days ; but it is a pleasure to re-
cord such an act of genuine friendship.

The exact date of the removal of Lord Craven’s
family from Drury Lane to their subsequent residence
at Bayswater, where now is Craven Hill, is not
known; but it must have been just before the
close of the seventeenth century. Craven House
itself was taken down early in the present century,
and the site is now occupied by the Olympic
Theatre, as stated in the last chapter.

Drury Lane was once the “Via de Aldwych,” a
name still preserved in Wych Street, as already
mentioned. Then the great family of the Druries
built in it a town house, and the Earls of Craven
and Clare followed. It became a Belgravia. Here
lived Archibald, the famous and ill-fated Marquis
of Argyle. Here, too, close to Cradle Alley, Arthur
Annesley, Earl of Anglesey, and Lord Privy Seal
under Charles II., had his town house. Here, too,
in the heyday of her glory, lived Nell Gwynne,
the “pretty Nelly” whom Pepys saw “standing at
her lodgings’ door in her smock sleeves and bodice,
a mighty pretty creature.” Here also resided John
Lacy, the comedian, and Sir William Alexander,
the poet, afterwards Earl of Stirling.

At the same period was residing here a relative
of the staid Mr. Evelyn, who, after recording in
his “Diary” that he attended the marriage of his
niece to the eldest son of Mr. Attorney Montagu,
at Southampton Chapel, and eulogising the mag-
nificence of the entertainment, adds, “the bride
was bedded at my sister's lodgings in Drury
Lane”

It was in Drury Lane, not very far from the steps
of the Olympic Theatre, that Lord Mohun made
his unsuccessful attempt to carry off the beautiful
and much-wooed actress, Mrs. Bracegirdle, as we
shall presently show.

By the time of Steele, Drury Lane had changed
its character, and its narrow, close, and filthy
courts were rising into existence.

All that is now left of Drury Lane is its memory
of past glories. The shades of the persons above
mentioned, as well as those of the pretty Mrs.
Bracegirdle, the fiery Lord Mohun, and of the
quarrelsome Carlo Fantom, the Croatian, who
challenged his man and killed him, “because the
noise of his spurs pleased him not,” haunt it still
On the west side is a small burial-ground, unknown
to Stow or Strype, to most of the map-makers, and
to Peter Cunningham. It lies between Russell
Street and Long Acre. For many years it had
exhibited a most desolate and miserable aspect ;
indeed, it had become a sort of “no man’s land.”
During the year 1874, however, the authorities
of St. Martin’s-in-the-Fields, to whom the ground
belongs, at some considerable expense had the
graveyard levelled and converted into a garden
with walks and shrubberies. A neat brick wall
separates the grounds from the public street, and
on one side a brick building has been erected, to
be used as a mortuary.

Towards the lower end of Drury Lane, nearly
opposite to Drury or Craven House, is a quaint
old gabled house, with its pents still remaining.
A quarter of a century ago it was known as the
“Cock and Magpie,” but more recently as “Stock-
ley’s Cheap Bookshop.” It is said that the region
to the north, leading up towards St. Giles’s, was
once known as “Cock and Pie Fields;” but an-
tiquaries are divided on the question as to whether
they were so called from the house, or the house
from them. Whichever may be the case, it is cer-
tain that the “Cock and Magpie” as a sign, is
but a travesty of a chivalric legend, which Douce
thus explains :—*“In the days of ancient chivalry
it was the practice to make solemn vows or engage-
ments for the performance of any considerable
enterprise. This was usuvally performed during
some great feast or entertainment, at which a
roasted peacock, being served up by ladies in a
dish of gold or silver, was presented to the knight,
who then made his particular vow with great solem-
nity. When this custom had fallen into disuse, the
peacock nevertheless continued to be a favourite
dish, and was introduced on the table in a pie, the
head, with gilded beak, being proudly elevated
above the crust, and the splendid tail expanded.
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-Qther birds of smaller value were afterwards intro-
duced in the same manner ; and the recollection of
the old peacock vows might occasion the less serious,
or even the burlesque, imitation of swearing, not
only by the bird itself, but also by the pie: hence,
probably, came the oath ¢ By cock and pie,’ for
‘the use of which no very great antiquity can be
found.” From “ Cock o’ pie ” to * Cock and mag-
pie” the transition was easy and obvious.

Opposite to the above is the ““ Craven Head”
Tavern, which, from 1851 to 1855, was kept by
Mr. Robert Hales, the “ Norfolk Giant.” He was
horn in 1820, near Yarmouth, where his father was !
a small farmer, and was one of nine children, all |
far above the ordinary stature. He was exhibited
by Barnum, in America, in 1848, and was one of
the curiosities of London in the year of the first
Great Exhibition. In the April of that year he
was presented to the Queen, who gave him a
watch and chain, and also to other crowned heads.
He stood upwards of eight feet in height. His
death occurred in 1863, at the age of forty-eight.

Little Drury Lane is a narrow street, leading
-down from Drury Lane to St. Mary’s Church in
the Strand. Its eastern side is composed of a
range of houses which have stood apparently more
‘than two centuries and a half,

1t will be remembered that in the Za#/er (No. 46)
Steele gives a picture of the morality of Drury Lane,
describing it as a district divided into particular
““ladyships,” analogous to *lordships” in other
parts, “over which matrons of known ability pre-
side,” Its character, too, as well in the present as
in the past century, is delicately hinted at by Gay,
in the lines quoted from *Trivia,” at the head of
this chapter. The *Dog,” a low public-house in
this street, was known as the robbers’ den; and
nothing can confirm more clearly the character
of the immediate neighbourhood, to which we have
referred, than the fact that Drury Lane was the
'scene of the “ Harlot’s Progress,” by Hogarth.

In Drury Lane was one of the several “cock-
pits,” or places reserved for cock-fighting, which a
century ago or earlier were to be found scattered
about London. Mr. John Timbs tells us that one
of our oldest theatres was called the “ Cock-pit,”
namely, the “ Pheenix” in Drury Lane, and that the
site of it is still to be traced in the name of Pit or
Pitt Place, an abridgment of “ Cock-pit” Place.
Samuel Pepys thus describes in his “Diary” a visit
to one of these places, not far from Drury Lane :—
“December 21. To Shoe Lane to a cock-fighting
at a new pit: but Lord! to see the strange variety
of people, from Parliament men, to the pootestl
“prentices, bakers. brewers, butchers, draymen, and |

{

what not ; and all these fellows, one with another,
cursing and betting,  Strange that such poor
people, that look as if they had not bread to put
in their mouths, shall bet three or four pounds at
a time, and lose it, and yet bet as much the next
battle, so that one of them will lose 410 or 420
at a meeting! I soon had enough of it.”

From Stubs’s * Anatomie of Abuses,” published
in 1583, it is evident that in the good old Tudor
times Sunday was the day of all the week especially
set apart for this amusement. As early as the
reign of Henry II., according to Fitzstephen, cock-
fighting was the sport of school-boys in and around
London on Shrove Tuesday ; and from that time,
though occasionally forbidden by some of our
sovereigns, it has continued to exist among us, as
we shall see hereafter.

At the beginning of the eighteenth century it
would seem that Drury Lane had succeeded to a
part at least of the reputation of Grub Street, as
the residence of poor poets and hack rhymsters,
as witness the words of Pope, in his “ Dunciad "—

“ Cries he who high in Drury Lane,
Lulled by soft zephyrs through 112 broken pane,
Rhymes ere he wakes, and prints b:fore Term ends,
Obliged by hunger, and request of friends.”
Anad in like spirit wrote Oliver Goldsmith—
¢ Where the ‘Red Lion,’ staring o'er the way,
Invites each passing stranger that can pay ;
Where Calvert’s butt, and Parson’s black champague,
Regale the drabs and bloods of Drury Lane,
‘There, in a lonely room, from bailiffs snug,
‘The Muse found Scroggins, stretch’d beneath a rug.”

“ Their Majesties’ servants,” as might have been
expected, fared but ill during the austere tyranny
of the Puritan faction. At the Restoration the sur-
vivors of the old actors naturally formed themselves
into a company, and Downes tells us that they
acted at the Tennis-court, in Vere Street, Clare
Market, till a new theatre was built ; and Guest is
of opinion that both before and after that event
they performed at the Cockpit in Drury Lane.
The theatre in Vere Street was opened November
8th, 1660, by Killigrew and Davenant, under a
patent which allowed women to act the female
parts, a practice till then unknown in England.

It was at this theatre that an unknown young
lady was performing the character of Roxana, in
the Sicge of Rhodes, who fell a victim to Aubrey de
Vere, the last (and most unworthy) Earl of Oxford
of the ancient line. This scion of a noble house,
finding that he could secure his prey in no other
way, brought to her lodging a sham clergyman and
a sham marriage certificate ; and she learnt to her
cost, when it was too late, that she had no preten-
sion whatever to style herself Countess of Oxford.
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It is clear that although the Puritans disapproved
of plays pur ct simple, they tolerated mixed entertain-
ments of a musical kind. Such an entertainment,
we know from Evelyn, was given after the death
of Oliver Cromwell, for he writes, in May, 1659 :—
“I went to see a new opera after the Italian way
in recitative music and scenes. It was
prodigious that in a time of such public conster-
nation such a ‘vanity’ should be kept up or per-
mitted.” That this entertainment was something
different from a tragedy or comedy is clear from
another entry by Evelyn in his * Diary,” in January,
1661 :—* After divers years since I had seen any
play, I went to see acted Z%ke Swrnful Lady, at a
new theatre in Lincoln’s Inn Fields.”

Mr. Peter Cunningham tells us that Laguerre,
whose “sprawling saints” are immortalised by
Pope, was a member of a club of virfuosi who
used to meet at a house in Drury Lane, and that
he' painted on its walls a Bacchanalian procession,
which he presented to its members. But appa-
rently the abrtat of this club was unknown to him.

It was in a low lodging-house in Lincoln Court, |
one of the gloomiest purlieus on the eastern side of
the upper part of Drury Lane, that in 1861 was
discovered the infant son of a Mr. and Mrs. Hill—
relatives of the Burdett family—which had been
“spirited away ” from its mother's charge at Rugby
by its father. The story is thus told by a writer in
Cassell's Magazine of May 24th, 1873 :—

“The boy’s own father, after falsifying the
register of its birth, took it to London, and handed

it was said, was the danghter of a Church of England
rector, and after struggling amid ill health to earn a-
living as a governess and by needlework, had ulti-
mately, as the evidence showed, died of want,
alone, in a small back room in Drury Lane!”

Drury Lane was inhabited, in the early part of
the present century, by a still lower and rougher
lot than now, if it be true, as stated on apparently
good authority, that Drury Lane had seldom less
than six or seven fights going on npon a Sunday
morning at the same time.

It should be added here that this street—or, at.
all events, a part of it—at one time was called
Prince’s Street; “but the old name triumphed,”
says Mr. Peter Cunningham, “and Prince’s Street
was confined to a new row of tenements branch-
ing off to the east, and still distinguished by that
name.”

The thoroughfare known as Clare Market, leading
eastwards into Lincoln’s Inn Fields, was so called
in honour of the Earl of Clare, who lived “in a
princely mansion ” adjacent. His name is inscribed
as a parishioner of St. Clement Danes in the rate-
books of 1617. In Howell's “ Londinopolis” or
1657 we read :—*“ Then is there, towards Drury
Lane, a new market, called Clare Market ; then is
there a street and palace of the same name, built
by the Earl of Clare, who lived there in a princely
mansion, having a house, a street, and a market
both for flesh and fish, all bearing his name.” It
is thus mentioned by Strype :—* Clare Market,
very considerable and well served with provisions,

it over to some women whom he met in the strect. | both flesh and fish ; for, besides the butchers in the
The police were soon put upon the track of | shambles, it is much resorted unto by the country
the culprits, who were shown to have received | butchers and higglers. The market-days are Wed-
the missing infant from its unnatural parent. The | nesdays and Saturdays. The toll belongs to the
papers took up the matter, which became a ‘nine Duke of Newcastle (Pelham- Holles) as ground
days’ wonder,” and in a little time the child was ' landlord thereof.”
discovered in Lincoln Court, Drury Lane, a place | “ This market,” says Nightingale, in the tenth
tenanted by the lowest class of Irish. It wasina | volume of the “Beauties of England and Wales,”
sadly dirty state, and such clothing as it had on | “stands on what was originally called Clement's
its back was not the same which it wore on leaving Inn Fields. In the year 1657 a Bill was passed
Rugby ; but in spite of dirt and rags, there was  for preventing the increase of buildings, in which
something about the child which marked it off was a clause permitting the Earl of Clare to erect
from the beggars’ brats among whom it was . the market, which bore his title, in these fields, to
playing, and its distiugué looks led to its recovery. i be held on Tuesdays, Thursdays, and Saturdayc
Ultimately the father was acquitted of the charge | The earl, it seems, also erected a chapel of ease to
on which he was arraigned. Both he and Mrs. | St. Clement's, which is said to have been converted
Hill, however, died shortly afterwards. This court  to dwelling-houses. That these lands were before
was pulled down in 1880, to make room for model | in the possession of Holles we have already shown
lodging-houses. {under Clement’s Inn. Charles L, in 1640, granted
The following brief extract from a daily paper his license to Thomas York, his executors, &c., to
in the year of grace 1874 tells its own sad story :— | erect as many buildings as they thought proper
“On Saturday, Mr. Langham held an inquest on | upon St. Clement’s Inn Fields, the inheritance of
the body of Miss Eliza Merrit, aged fifty-six, who | the Earl of Clare, ¢ to be built on each side of the
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causeway, leading from Gibbon's Bowling Alley, at
the coming-ont of Lincoln’s Inn Fields, to the
Rein Deer Yard, that leadeth unto Drury Lane,
not to exceed, on either side, the number of 120
feet in length or front, and 6o feet in breadth, to
be of stone or brick”’* Charles I. issued another
license in 1642, permitting Gervase Holles, Esq.,
to erect fifteen houses, a chapel, and to make
several streets of the width of thirty, thirty-four,
and forty feet. These streets still retain the names
and titles of their founders, in Clare Street, Denzil
Street, Holles Street, &c.” Rein Deer Yard was,
probably, what is now called Bear Yard, and
Gibbon’s Bowling Alley was covered by the first
theatre erected by Sir William Davenant, whence
he afterwards removed to Portugal Street. Here,
during the administration of Sir Robert Walpole,
in the reign of George II., John Henley, a disap-
pointed demagogue, stood on a tub and vented his
factious ebullitions, which he distinguished by the
name of oratory. He is alluded to by Pope, in his
“Epistle to Arbuthnot,” but not in very quotable
terms. Possessing some abilities, he was also ob-
noxious to Government by the publication of the
“Hyp Doctor,” and other papers on the politics
of the times. A contemporary writer speaks of
him as—
“Preacher at once and zany of the age.”

On Henley's death in 1756, his demise was thus
announced in the Gentleman’s Magazine.—* Rev.
‘Orator Henley, aged 64.”

We learn from the “ Harleian Miscellany” that
the City had a long lawsnit with Lord Clare for
this property, but that at last the City yielded.

1t | in England.”

Clare House is known to exist, nor is any detailed
description of the house to be found. All that we
know is that the Earl of Clare, as we are told by
Howell, lived in his “palace” here in a “princely
manner,” to which, we fear, the present aspect of
the place presents a very marked contrast.

With the Earl of Clare, and other aristocratic
denizens of St. Clement Danes, have passed away
‘“the butchers in the shambles, and country
butchers,” who used to supply these wealthy house-
holds. The merchandise at present exposed for
sale in Clare Market consists principally of dried
fish, inferior vegetables, and such humble viands,
suited to the pockets of the poor inhabitants of
the narrow courts and alleys around.

The celebrated actress, Mrs. Bracegirdle, we
are told, was in the habit of going often into Clare
Market, and of giving money to such poor basket-
women as were out of employ, thereby calling
down many blessings on her head.

As Clare Market lay between two great theatres,
its butchers and hucksters, as remarked by Mr.
Timbs, were the arbiters of the galleries, and the
leaders of theatrical rows, as well as the musicians
at the marriages of actresses, and the chief mourners
at players’ finerals. In one of the many public-
houses which, as was natural, abonnded here,
Hogarth, in the days of his apprenticeship, was a
frequent boon-companion of Joe Miller.

In Gibbon’s Court, Clare Market, was a small
theatre, in which Killigrew's company performed
for a short time. Pepys speaks of it as a hand-
some building, “the finest, I believe, that ever was
This, however, must have been an

appears, also, from the same source, that the exajggeration. It soon passed away, and its re-
success of his lordship in obtaining a charter for | mains were long used as slaughter-houses and car-
his market led to one important result, namely, Penters’ shops. The butchers of Clare Market are
the establishment of other markets round about  MoW nearly extinct; but Mr. P. Cunningham tells
the metropolis, some of which are now things of | s that so lately as 1850 from 350 to 400 sheep,
the past, such as Hungerford, Brooke, and Blooms- | and from 50 to 200 oxen, were slaughtered there.

bury Markets, and that at Petty France, in West-
minster, and St. James’s and Newport Markets,
which are still in existence.

Of the house of Holles, Lord Clare, whose
family names are so perpetuated in this vicinity, no
remains are left, nor is the precise site of it known.
It was a large and stately mansion, shut in with a
high wall, and its grounds joined on to the eastern
side of those of Craven House. Clare Street is
‘mentioned in Strype’s edition of Stow as “a
good open place fronting the market,” while Clare
Market bears the reputation of being “a street well
inhabited by tradesmen” No engraving of old

* Malcolm's “ London,” vol. i, p. 292.

|

He adds, “ In a yard distinct from the more public
portion of the market is the place where the Jews
slaughter their cattle, according to a ceremony pre-
scribed by the laws of their religion.”

When Cromwell revived the prohibition of his
predecessor against the erection of new buildings
in and near London, imposing even a fine on its
violation, an exception, we are told, was made in
favour of the new buildings then scarcely finished,
in Clare Market. In consequence of this exemption,
unfortunately for the healthiness of the locality,
they were not made “of brick or stone,” or “up-
right, and without projecting their upper storeys
into the street.”

The “Artists’ Club,” of which Hogarth was a
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member, used to meet at the “Bull's Head”
Tavern in this market. Here also was the
“Spiller’s Head ” Inn, named after James prller,
a well-known actor, where was held a club prin-
cipally consisting of artists, authors, and actors
connected with the Lincoln’s Inn Fields Theatre.
It was founded about the year 16go, under the
auspices of Colley Cibber, Tom D'Utfey, and
many noted characters. Of Spiller, Mr. Diprose
tells us, “he was an immense favourite with the

HALL OF THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF SURGEONS.

In 1701 there appeared at a place of entertain-
ment in Islington, called “ Miles's Music House,”
afterwards known as “ Sadler’s Wells Theatre,” “a
strange sort of monster that does everything like
a monkey, mimics man like a jackanapes, but is
not a jackanapes; jumps upon tables and intc
windows on all fours like a cat, but is not a cat;
does all things like a beast, but is not a beast;
does nothing like a man, but is a man! He has
given such wonderful content to the butchers of

(See page 46.)

butchers of Clare Market, one of whom was so | Clare Market,” says a contemporary writer, “that

charmed with his performances that he took down
the sign of the “Bull and Butcher,” and put up
“Spiller's Head.” The success or failure both
of actors and pieces appears in those days to have
greatly depended on the verdict of the butchers
of Clare Market, whose approval was sometimes
recorded by managers in their advertisements !

To the pen of one of these low patrons of the
drama is assigned the following graceful elegy upon
the death of James Spiller in 1729 :—

“ Dawn with your marrow-bones and cleavers all,
Anil on your marrow-bones ye butchers fall ;
For prayers from you who never prayed before
Perhaps poor Jemmy may to life restore.”

the house is every day as full as the Bear Gardens,
and draws the City wives and ’prentices out of
London much more than a man hanged in chains.”
Clare Market has of late years been much im-
proved by the establishment of a mission chapel
and schools in its centre, around which other bene-
volent and charitable institutions have gradually
been gronped, such as a soup-kitchen, a home for
needlewomen, and a working men’s club.
Adjoining Clare Market are Holles and Denzif
Streets, the latter “so called,” as we are told by a
mural tablet on one of its houses, “by Gilbert.
Earl of Clare, in memory of his uncle Denzil, Lord
Holles, who died in 1679, a great honour ‘o s
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name, and the exact paturne of his father's great | to Stanhope Street, we know little except what
meritt, John, Earl of Clare.” This Lord Holles, it | Mr. Peter Cunningham has told us, namely, that
will be remembered, was one of the five members [ in 1688 it numbered among its inhabitants Sir
of the House of Commons whose person Charles L [ Thomas Lyttelton and also the poet Ogilby, who
made an ineffectual effort to seize. here disposed of his books by a lottery ; and that
Holles Street, which runs into Stanhope Street, | in it stood Gibbon's Tennis Court, subsequently
was built in 1647, and was called, like its neigh- | converted into a theatre by Killigrew. Of Stan-
bour Denzil Street, after Holles, Earl of Clare. hope Street, in spite of its grand name, we have
Of Vere Street, which runs northwards parallel | no interesting memories to record.

CHAPTER VIL

LINCOLN’S INN FIELDS.
“ Laudaturque demus longos quas prospicit agros."—Horace.

Formstion of Lincoln’s Fn Ficlds ~Dimensions of the Square—lnigo Janesstm—Noble Families resident here—The Poet Gay's Estimate of
the Place—* Mumpers” and “ Rufflers "—Used as Training-g of the Ficlds in Former Times—Execution
of Lord William Russcll—The Tennis Court—The Royal Collcge of SnxgeonSAS'\rdlnun Chapel—The Sardinian Ambassador’s Residence—
The “ Devifs Gap"—lustitution for the Remedy of Organic Defects, &c.—Society for Promating Christian Knowledge—Newcasile
House~The Soaoe Mi of Court Hotel—Wh Park—Miltow's Resid and Little Turnstiles—Proposal to
erect the Courts of Law in Lincaln’s Ina Fields.

This open space, which happily still serves to | the Fields measuring 82r feet by 625, while the
supply fresh air to the residents of the crowded | Great Pyramid covers a space of 764 feet square.
courts of Drury Lane and Clare Market, affords | The “square” was formed in the seventeenth
in its central ericlosure ‘one of the largest and | century by no less a person than Inigo Jones, to
finest public gardens in London, and in point | whom, along with other gentlemen and one or two
of antiquity is perhaps the oldest. In 1659, we members of the Court, a special commission was
find from Charles Knight's “ History of London,” | issued by James L., for the purpose of having the
James Cooper, Robert Henley, and Francis Finch, | ground laid out and improved under his direction.
Esquires, and other owners of “certain parcels of | Several of the houses on the west and south sides
ground in the fields, commonly called Lincoln’s are of his design. “The expense of laying out
Inn Fields, were exempted from all forfeitures and | the grounds,” as we learn from Northouck, “was
penalties which they might incur in regard to any | i ! levied on the surrounding parishes and Inns of
new buildings they might erect on three sides of | Court.” The west side was originally known as
the same fields, previously to the 1st of October | Arch Row, the south as Portugal Row, and the
in that year, provided that they paid for the public ' north as Newman’s Row; but the names dropped
service one year's full value for every such house | out of use at the close of the last century.

within one month of its erection; and provided =~ The original plan for “laying out and planting”

that they should convey the ‘residue of the said | these fields, drawn by the hand of Inigo Jones, is

fields’ to the Society of Lincoln’s Inn, for laying still to be seen in Lord Pembroke’s collection at
the same into walks for common use and benefit, Wilton House. The chief feature in it is Lindsey
whereby the annoyances which formerly have been (afterwards Ancaster) House, in the centre of the
in the same fields will be taken away, and pas- | west side, now divided into two houses and cut
sengers there for the future better secured.” up into chambers for lawyers. It is unchanged in

It has often been stated, and repeated until |all its external features, except that the balustrade

generally accepted as true, that the square of | [ along the front of the roof has lost the handsome

Lincoln’s Inn Fields was designedly laid out so as | vases by which it was formerly surmounted.

to be exactly of the size of the base of the Great | Among the noble families who lived in this spot
Pyramid.  “This,” remarks Horace Walpole, | was that of the Berties, Earls of Lindsey and after-
““‘would have been much admired in an age when | wards Dukes of Ancaster; but they seem to have
the keep of Kenilworth Castle was erected in the | migrated to Chelsea in the reign of Charles II
form of a horsefetter and the Escurial in the | In this square at various dates lived also the
shape of St. Lawrence’s gridiron ;” but a reference | great Lord Somers ; Digby, Earl of Bristol; Mon-
to Colonel Howard-Vyse’s work “On the Pyra- | tague, Earl of Sandwich ; the Countess of Middle-
mids” will show that the fanciful idea is untrue, | sex, and the Duke of Newcastle: and in the

A ——
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present century Lords Kenyon and Erskine, Sir
John Soane, and Mr. Spencer Percival. A
century ago Lord Northington, Lord Chancellor, |
lived in a house on the south side of the square, |
on the site of the Royal College of Surgeons. At
the birth of her first son, Charles Beauclerk, after-
wards the first Duke of St. Albans, Nell Gwynne
was living in lodgings in Lincoln’s Inn Fields,
being up to that time regularly engaged at the
theatre close by.

It is to be feared that although Lincoln’s Inn
Fields is said to be the largest and handsomest
square, not only in London, but in Europe, it has
not borne a very good character in olden times.
At all events Gay speaks of the Fields in his
“Trivia” as the head-quarters of beggars by day
and of robbers at night :—

“ Where Lincoln’s Inn’s wide space is railed around,

Cross not with venturous step ; there oft is found

The lurking thief, who, while the daylight shone,
Made the walls echo with his begging tone.

That cruich, which laie compassion mov'd, shall wound
Thy bleeding head, and fell thee to the ground.
Though thou art tempted by the linkman’s call,

Yet trust him not along the lonely wall ;

In the midway he'll quench the flaming brand,

And share the booty with the pilfering band.”

Blount tells us, in his “ Law Dictionary,” that he
used to see idle fellows here playing at “ the Wheel
of Fortune ;” and it is clear, from more than one
contemporary allusion in comedies, that the square |
was the regular haunt of cripples, with crutches, |
who lived by mendicancy, which they carried on |

of wooden posts and rails, the iron rails not having
been put up until the year 1735, when the money
for so enclosing and adorning the Fields was raised
by a rate on the inhabitants. The plan of the
railing, its gates, and its ornaments, was submitted
to and approved by the Duke of Newcastle, the
minister of George 11., who was one of the residents
of the square. ~ We are told that before Lincoln’s
Inn Fields were so railed in they were used as a
training-ground by horse-breakers, and that many
robberies were committed in its neighbourhood.
And Ireland, in his “Inns of Court,” tells us a
story which shows us that they were surrounded
by a rough and lawless set of people: “Sir John
Jekyll having been very active in bringing into
Parliament a Bill to raise the price of gin, became
very obnoxious to the poor, and, when walking
one day in the Fields at the time of breaking the
horses, the populace threw him down and trampled
on him, from which his life was in great danger.”
Peter Cunningham, in his “Handbook of
London,” tells another story which shows that
the bad reputation of these Fields at the time of
their enclosure was of more than half a century in
standing : “Through these fields,” he writes, “in
the reign of Charles 1L, Thomas Sadler, a well-
known thief, attended by his confederates, made
his. mock procession at night with the mace and
purse of Lord Chancellor Finch, which they had
stolen from the Lord Chancellor’s closet in Great
Queen Street, and were carrying off to their
lodging in Knightrider Street. One of the con-

in the most barefaced, if not intimidating, manner. | federates walked before Sadler, with the mace of
Here, too, according to Peter Cunningham, “the | the Lord Chancellor exposed on his shoulder;
astrologer Lilly, when a servant at Mr. Wright's, at [ while another, equally prominent, followed after
the corner house, over against Strand Bridge, spent | him carrying the Chancellor’s purse. For this theft
his idle hours in ‘bowling,’ along with Wat the | Sadler was executed at Tyburn.” And to go back
cobbler, Dick the blacksmith, and such like.” a little further still. “Here,” he adds, “even in

We occasionally find in the literature of the! the place where they had used to meet and confer
seventeenth century allusions to the “Mumpers ”[ on their traitorous practices, were Ballard, Bab-

and “Ruofflers” of Lincoln’s Inn Fields. These
were, according to Mr. John Timbs, names given
to the troops of idle vagrants by whom the “ Fields”
were infested ; and readers of the Spetator will
hardly need to be reminded of “Scarecrow,” the |
beggar of that place, who, having disabled himself |
in his right leg, asks alms all day, in order to get
a warm supper at night. The “Rufflers,” if we
may accept the statement of the same authority,
were ‘“wretches who assumed the characters of
maimed soldiers,” who had suffered in the battles |

ington, and their accomplices beheaded, to the
number of fourteen.” Here, too, in 1683, a far
worthier man, whom it is almost a sin to mention
in such company, Lord William Russell, laid his
noble head on the block, Dr. Tillotson standing
by his side. The reader of Bumet’s “ History of
his Own Time,” will not forget his description of
the scene of Lord William Russell's execution in
this square. He writes, “Tillotson and I went
with him in the coach to the place of execution.
Some of the crowd that filled the streets wept,

of the Great Rebellion, and found a ready prey in | while others insulted. He was singing psalms a
the people of fashion and quality as they drove by. | great part of the way, and said he hoped to sing

The “railing” to which Gay alludes in his | better ones soon. As he obsetved the great crowd
poem, it should be here remarked, was only a series | of people all the way, he said to us, ‘I hope I
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shall quickly see a much better assembly” When
he came to the scaffold, he walked about it four
or five times; then he turned to the sheriffs and
delivered his papers. . . . He prayed by him-
self, then Tillotson prayed with him. After that
he prayed again by himself, then undressed himself,
and laid his head on the block without the least
change of countenance ; and it was cut off at two
strokes.” The death of this patriotic nobleman
must for ever remain as a blot of deep dye on the
memories of those who commanded his execution.

We learn incidentally that early in the last cen-
tury Betterton and his company were playing at
the “ Tennis Court,”* in Lincoln’s Inn Fields,
when it was first proposed to him by Vanbrugh and
Congreve, as builder and writer, to join in starting
2 new theatre in the Haymarket.

On the south side of the square, the Hall of the
Royal College of Surgeons is the principal orna-
ment. The building was erected, or rather rebuilt,
in 1835-6, under the superintendence of the late
Sir Charles Barry. The College of Surgeons was
chartered in the year 1800, since which time many

valuable advantages have been conferred upon

the society by the Legislature. The front of the
hall consists of a noble portico, with fluted
columns, whilst along the top of the edifice is a
bold entablature, with enriched cornice. To the
left of the entrance-hall are two or three spacious
rooms for the use of the secretary and other
officials, and on the right a doorway gives access to
the museum, which forms perhaps the chief feature
of the building. This occupies three large and
lofty rooms, lighted from the top, and each sur-

organs of plants and animals, classed according to
their different vital functions, and in each arranged
so as to present every variety of form, beginning
from the most simple, and passing upwards to the
most complex. They were disposed in two main
divisions : the first, illustrative of the functions
which minister to the necessities of the individual ;
the second, of those which provide for the con-
tinuance of the species. . .. . The patholo-
gical part of the museum contained about 2,500
specimens, arranged in three principal departments :
the first illustrating the processes of common
diseases, and the actions of restoration ; the second,
the effects of specific diseases; and the third, the
effects of various diseases, arranged according to
their locality in the body. Appended to these was
a collection of about oo calculi and other inor-
ganic concretions.” This, it may be added, has
been considerably augmented by subsequent pur-
chases, and also by gifts to the college; so that
it may now be fairly said to form the richest
collection of the kind in existence.

Among the objects of curiosity preserved here
are the skeletons of several human beings and
animals, which during the time of their existence
had obtained some celebrity. Among them may
be mentioned Jonathan Wild, the notorious thief-
catcher ; Mlle. Crachani, a Sicilian dwarf, who at
the age of ten years was just twenty inches high;
Charles Byrne, or O'Brien, the Irish giant, who
at his death measured eight feet four inches;
and also the gigantic elephant * Chunee,” which
was formerly exhibited on the stage at Covent
Garden Theatre, and afterwards in the menagerie at

rounded by two galleries, in which are displayed, Exeter Change, where, in 1824, “in consequence of
aswell as in cases on the ground-floor, the valuable | the return of an annual paroxysm producing such
collection of objects of which the museum consists.  ungovernable violence as to endanger the breaking
‘The basis of this collection was originally formed "down of the den,” its destruction caused so much
by John Hunter, whose museum was situated in ‘ sympathy at the time. Its death was effected by
Leicester Square. It was purchased from his shooting, but not until the animal had received up-
widow at his death, by the Government, for the sum

wards of roo musket and rifle shots. The skeleton
of £15,000, and presented to the College of Sur. |

of this animal is twelve feet four inches high.
geons.  “The main object which he had in view in | In the first room of the museum is a very life-

forming it,” says the writer of an admirable account | like marble statue of John Hunter, the founder of
of Hunter and his museum in the Penny Cyclopedia, the collection, by H. Weekes, Esq., R.A., erected
was to illustrate, as far as possible, the whole sub. | by public subscription in 1864. The library of
ject of life by preparations of the bodies in which | the institution is a noble room extending over the
the phenomena are presented. The principal and | entrance-hall and adjoining offices, and contains
most valuable part of the collection, forming the | a few portraits of eminent surgeons. The council
physiological series, consisted of dissections of the room has a few portraits hanging upon its walls,
mm, P 1T . e ‘and also a cartoon of Holbein’s great picture
Dlay-house ncar Lincoln's Tnn. Ficlds, which ws brmerly Gibbors | Of (1€ - Grant of the Charter to the Barber-Surgeons,”
;l;\e{y;:l:n;lo::o -« - Here T saw for the first time one Moone Of Which the original is in the council room of the

X is said to be the best actor in the world, hately come | Barhers’ Company in Monkwell Street. The lec-

over with the king ; and, indeed, it is the finest play-housc, T believe, .
that ever was in England.” tures to students, of which there are three courses




Lincoln’s Inn Fields.]

THE SOANE MUSEUM.

47

during the year, take place in the theatre, a lofty
but somewhat contracted-looking place, with wains-
coted walls, crimson seats, and a square-panelled
ceiling, in the centre of which is a lantern or sky-
light. The museum, it should be added, is not
intended as a place of exhibition, but a place of
study. Members of both Houses of Parliament,
the dignitaries of the church and law, members of
learned and scientific bodies, physicians, surgeons,
&c., have not only the privilege of visiting it per-
sonally, but of introducing visitors.

On the western side of Lincoln’s Inn Fields, a
little south of Lindsey House, is a heavy and
gloomy archway (said, however, to be the work of
Inigo Jones), which leads intoc Duke Street. On
the south side of this, close to the archway, stands
the Sardinian Chapel, the oldest Roman Catholic
chapel in London. It was originally attached to
the residence of the Sardinian Ambassador, and
dates as a building from the year 1648. It is well
known that during the reigns of the later Tudors
and the Stuarts, the Roman Catholics in England

were forbidden to hear mass, or have chapels
of their own for the performance of their worship,
They therefore resorted in large numbers to the
chapels of the foreign ambassadors, where their
attendance was at first connived at, and afterwards
gradually tolerated and allowed. The ambassador’s |
residence stood in Lincoln’s Inn Fields, and
originally the only way into it lay through the
house. In the Gordon Riots, in 1780, this house‘
and the chapel were attacked and partially de-|
stroyed, as being the chief resort of the Roman‘}
Catholic nobility and gentry, and of the Bishop
or Vicar Apostolic of the London district, who
tived in a small house in seclusion in Castle Street, |
Holborn. Afier the suppression of the riots, |
.the chapel was rebuilt and enlarged westwards, |
by adding to it the ground formerly occupied by‘
the ambassador’s stables.  During the first twenty |
years of the present century this chapel formed‘
the centre of the Roman Catholic worship and
of the charities of that Church; but it was super-
seded by the erection of St. Mary’s, Moorfields, in |
1820, and subsequently by the erection of other
Roman Catholic Churches in Islington, Clerken-f‘
well Soho, &c. It formerly had a fine choir,
and still shows in its fine ecclesiastical plate and
pictures some remains of its former importance.J
It has now gradually come to be a chapel for
the Catholics of its immediate neighbourhood,
many of whom are foreigners. A body of Fran-
ciscans, we are told, was established in connection
with the Sardinian Chapel, near Lincoln’s Inn
Fields, in the reign of James IL.

As late as the reign of George II. there was on
this side of the square an archway with a tenement
attached to it, known in common parlance as “ the
Devil's Gap.” It was taken down.in 1756, in con-
sequence of the dilapidated state into which it had
fallen. Its last permanent tenant, some century
before, as we learn from the London Gazette of that
year, was an attorney or money-lender, Jonathan
Crouch, a man who, in the days of Civil War,
squeezed the Life-blood out of his victims, regard-
less whether they were Puritans or Royalists. He
over-reached himself in an effort to secure a rich
and youthful heiress as a wife for his son ; and his
melancholy end in a death-struggle with the rival
for the young lady’s hand forms one of the most
sensational tales in Waters’ “ Traditions of London.”
The affair caused an intense excitement at the
time, and it is said that the house, or rather den,
of Crouch in the Devil's Gap could not find a
tenant for many a year afterwards.

On the same side of the square was, early in the
present century, the “Institution for the Remedy
of Organic Defects and Impediments of Speech,”
established by Mr. Thelwall, who, having been in
early life a somewhat revolutionary reformer, later
turned his attention to philanthropy, and taught
elocution with success. All remembrance, how-
ever, of the institution and its founder, has long
since passed away.

At the northern end of the west side, at the
corner of Great Queen Street, over the pathway of
which one end of it is carried on arches, the visitor
will be sure to note a large and handsome mansion
which for the last halfcentury formed the head-
quarters of the Society for Promoting Christian
Knowledge. It was originally built by the Mar-
quis of Powis* in 1686, no doubt on account of
its nearness to the Sardinian Chapel, as the family
were at that time Roman Catholics. It afterwards
became the residence of the Duke of Newcastle,
the Prime Minister of George IL’s reign, after
whom it was called Newcastle House till 1879.

Nearly in the centre of the north side of the
square stands the museum founded in 1837, by a
bequest of Sir John Soane, and called after his
name. The son of a common bricklayer in a
Berkshire village, he rose into celebrity as an
architect, and designed, among other buildings, the
Bank of England, and most of the terraces in the
Regent’s Park. He was also clerk of the works

* The marquis was outlawed by William and Mary for his fidelity to
James 1., whose exilc he shared, and by whom after his abdication h
was created Duke of Powis, He was the father of the foundress of the
Convent of Augustinian nuns at Bruges, and also of the Co intess oc
Nithsdale, who 5o nobly effected the escape of her husband from th
Tower of London while under sentenee of death.
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at St. James's Palace, and architect generally to
the Houses of Parliament, and other public
buildings. He was subsequently elected Professor
of Architecture to the Royal Academy. All his
life long he had been a collector of books, statues,
pictures, coins, medals, and other curiosities mostly

GATE, CHANCERY LANE.

antique, with which he stored the house where he
lived and died. The museum, filled from top to
bottom with a beautifully arranged collection of
models of art in every phase and form, small as it
is, may be said to be almost as useful to the art
student as is the Louvre at Paris. And yet,

" standing in the centre of London, it is but little

known, though open to the public gratuitously. It
is open always to students in painting, sculpture,
and architecture; and (on application) to the

general public on every Wednesday, Thursday, and
Friday in April, May, June, and on Wednesdays in
February, March, July, and August. Professional
and amateur students can obtain from the curator,
or from any of the trustees, permission to copy any
of the pictures and other works of art.

(See page 52.)

In 1833 Sir John Soane obtained an Act of
Parliament for settling and preserving his museum,
library, and works of art “for the benefit of the
public, and for establishing a sufficient endowment
for the due maintenance of the same.” The
building may be distinguished from the others in
the row in which it stands from the peculiar semi-
Gothic style in which it is erected. Between the
windows of the ground and of the first floor are
fragments of Gothic corbels from ancient buildings,
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erected, probably, about the close of the twelfth  Pantheon, and the Tower of the Winds ; and there
centary. Upon each side of the gallery of the  is also a large model in cork of part of the ancient
second floor are copies in terracotta from the | city of Pompeii.
Caryatides in front of the Temple of Poseidon at | The next room contains a considerable collec-
Athens. | tion of marble fragments of Greek and Roman
The walls of the entrance-hall are coloured to | sculpture, of antique bronzes, and some curious
imitate porphyry, and decorated with casts in plaster | natural productions. In what is called the Monu-
after the antique, medallion reliefs, and other sculp- | ment Court, the walls of which are enriched with
tures. The dining-room and library, which may be | various fragments of ancient buildings and pieces
considered as one room, being separated only by | of sculpture, is an architectural group about thirty

LINCOLN'S INN EHAPEL (See page 754.)

two projecting piers formed into book-cases, is the | feet high, comprising works of various forms and -
first apartment entered. The ceiling is formed into | nations,
compartments, enriched by paintings by the late |  One of the principal apartments in the basement
Henry Howard, R.A. Over the chimney-piece is a | of the building is called the Sepulchral Chamber;
portrait of .Su- John Soane, painted by Sir Thomas | and in the centre of it is the splendid ancient
Lawrence: in 1829, almost the last picture painted | Egyptian sarcophagus discovered by the traveller
by that distinguished artist ; and beneath this is 2 | Belzoni in 1817, in a royal tomb in a valley near
highly-finished model in plaster of the Board of Thebes. It was purchased by Sir John Soane for
Trade and Privy Council Offices, &c., at Whitehall, | the sum of .£2,000. The pictures are chiefly in
being a design for completing the buildings north | the rooms on the first and second floors, and among
and south of Downing Street, made by Sir John | them will be seen several by Hogarth, Turner, and
Soane in 1826. This room contains a large | Sir Charles Eastlake, and a large number of archi-
number of plaster models of ancient Greek and | tectural designs by Sir John Soane himself.
Roman buildings, such as the Parthenon, the | Near the above building stands a palatial
101
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edifice, known as the Inns of Court Hotel. It
remained for many years in an unfinished state.
In 1874 its app was thus graphically de-
scribed by a writer in one of the illustrated news-
papers :—*“It is windowless, doorless, and the sky
can be seen through the skeleton bones of its
untiled roof. It is blackening from exposure to
our grimy, smoke-laden atmosphere ; and, forallits
bigness of form and solidity of structure, already
declining and decaying like a phthisical youth
without ever having reached maturity or consum-
mation. It is the monument—after the manner of
the broken columns emblematic of mortality, so
frequently to be found in cemeteries—of a rage
that once existed for monster hotels. The rage
is gone—here are its ruins.” It was, however,
at length taken in hand again, and has been
since 1876 one of the largest and busiest hotels
in London.

Parallel to the northern side of the “Fields,” | p
and lying between them and Holborn, is an almost
untenanted row of houses or buildings, now chiefly
turned into stables, but formerly dignified by the
name of “ Whetstone Park.” Two hundred years
ago it was a place of very bad reputation, and
was attacked by the London apprentices in 1602.
The loose character of Whetstone Park and its in-
habitants is a frequent subject of allusion in the
plays of Dryden and Shadwell, and occasionally in
Butler’s “ Hudibras” and Ned Ward's Zondon Spy.
But Whetstone Park is not without at least one
distinguished inmate. At all events we read in
Philips's “Life of Milton” that the author of
“Paradise Lost” “left his great house in Barbican,
and betook himself to a smaller (in Holborn)
among them that open backward into Lincoln’s
Inn Fields, Here he lived a private life, still pro-
secuting his studies and curious search into know-
ledge.”

At each end of this park are narrow foot-
entrances leading into Holborn, called the Great
and Little Turnstiles, names which testify to the
rurality of Lincoln’s Inn Fields, when turnstiles
were put up to let pedestrians pass through, whilst
they checked the straying of the cattle that fed
there. Mr. John Timbs says that Turnstile Alley,
when first built, was “ designed as a change for
the sale of Welsh flannels;” but afterwards both

of these narrow thoroughfares became the homes
and haunts of booksellers and publishers. One
of these booksellers, Cartwright, was also known in
his day as a player, and he left his plays and his
pictures to Alleyn's College of “God’s Gift” at
Dulwich.

The new law buildings belonging to the Society
of Lincoln’s Inn harmonise finely with the associa-
tions of the neighbourhood ; and these, with the
low wall of Lincoln’s Inn Gardens, occupy the
eastern side of the square. Before speaking of
these buildings, we may add that this fine open
space was very nearly being lost to the public
a few years since, for in 1843 the late Sir Charles
Barry designed a magnificent structure for the New
Courts of Law—which even then were in contem-
plation—to occupy the centre of Lincoln’s Inn
Fields. Nearly two hundred years before, a ques-
tion had been mooted whether it would not be

to blish an Acad of Painting, the
head -quarters of which should have covered the
self-same spot.  Happily Providence preserved the
square on each occasion of danger.

It has always been a matter of complaint that
the access to so noble 2 square on all sides should
have been so wretched as it is. It has no direct
street leading into it from either Holborn or the
Strand, though at the north-east and north-west
corners there are narrow footways, known as the
Old and New Turnstiles. Indeed, access to it is
very poor and scanty. From Long Acre it is
approached by way of Great Queen Street. At
the south-east corner, Serle Street serves as an
ontlet to Carey Street, and this with Portsmonth
Street at the south-west corner, winding by King’s
College Hospital, lead into Chancery Lane, and so
on to Fleet Street. Northouck, as far back as the
year 1785, suggested that the “situation ” of Covent
Garden Market, with the indifferent state of the
buildings between, furnished a hint for continuing
| Great Russell Street in a straight line uniformly to

the south-west corner, instead of the narrow, irre-

| gular, and dirty avenue through Prince’s Street and
| Duke Street. But up to the present date nothing
has been done, though it is hoped that the com-
| pletion of the New Law Courts may possibly
| expedite the formation of a new street or two
in this direction.
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CHARTER, VIII.
LINCOLN’S INN,

“ The walks of Lincoln’s Inn
Under the elms."—Ben Jonsor.

Fostescuc's defnition of * Inns of Court *—~The ¢ Revels”—Regulation of the Growth of Beards-—' Mootings”—Liocoln's Iun a mansion of
i Tharloe Pap dy

The

Henl’Y
B i

de Lacy, Earl of Lincolo—Description of the Build

Jonson as a Brickl

Tnscriptioo on “ Foundation-stone "—Sir Matthew Hzle-—Thg Gﬁ.rdelu—ﬂmury of Lincoln’s Inn—Sir Thnmz.: Mnre—-lllusmous Membeh

of Lincoln's Inn.

As distinguished from the Inns of Chancery, such |

as Barnard’s and Staple Inns, Lincoln’s Inn is
an “Inn of Court ;” in other words, as defined by
Waterhouse, the learned commentator on For-
tescue, “one of the Hospitia Majora, such as
receive not gudgeons and smelts, but the poly-
puses and leviathans, the behemoths and the
giants of the law.” How far this remark may
be true, and how far an exaggeration, we must
leave it to the lawyers of this and other Courts to
determine.  Fortescue speaks in glowing terms
of the Inns of Court in his own time; and, as a
member of Lincoln's Inn, he may be presumed
to draw his expressions from what he had seen
on this spot. He says: “Of the Inns of Court
there are four in number. In the least frequented
there are about 200 students, In these greater
Inns a student cannot well be maintained under
4728 a year [equivalent to at least £500 now].
For this reason the students are sons of persons
of quality, those of an inferior rank not being able
to bear the expenses. There is both in the Inns
of Court and the Inns of Chancery a sort of
academy or gymnasium, where they learn singing

and all kinds of music, and such other accom-

plishments and diversions (which are called revels)
as are suitable to their quality and usually practised
at court. Out of term the greater part apply them-
selves to the study of the law. All vice is dis-
couraged and banished. The greatest nobility of
the kingdom often place their children in those
Inns of Court, not so much to make the law their
study, but to form their manners and to preserve
them from the contagion of vice.”

Possibly, however, the garrulous old writer has
taken rather too couleur de rosc a view of the
domestic virtue taught and practised in his
favourite Inns of Court. One subject, however,
the celebration of “Revels” at certain seasons of
the year within their walls, comes too frequently
under the notice of the student of English history
to be passed by unnoticed here. The idea of the
actual existence of such “ Revels” is so much out of
keeping with our practical and prosaic age of stuff
and silk gowns, and barristers’ wigs and the gravity
of a judge, that it cannot fail to prove attractive

alike to writers and readers. It is to be feared
that the popular notion concerning them is drawn
by far too exclusively from the lines of Gray,
which are not true to fact :—
“¢The grave Lord Keeper led the brawls,
The seals and maces danced before him.”

It wonld have been far more true to have spoken
of the “Revels” as plays performed by the
youthful students of each Inn of Court, in the
presence of the grave and reverend seigniors of
the same.

These “Revels,” together with almost every
other harmless diversion of the kind, with much
that was characteristic of our national manners
and habits, would seem to have passed out of use
during the time of the Puritan tyranny, which is
usually styled the Commonwealth. The plays of
Aschylus and Sophocles and of William Shake-
speare were alike profane and unholy things in
the eyes of these sour-visaged “Saints of the
Lord,” who tore down the Maypoles in our streets
and broke the painted windows that adorned our
churches, and which the Reformers had spared.
It may, however, be said in their excuse that these
“Revels,” while they lasted, were got up with
great extravagance, and that many a parent
suffered for his son’s outlay on such “private
theatricals.” But then, though distasteful to the
| pockets of paterfamilias, it may be said that they

must have been ““ good for trade.”

“Lincoln’s Inn,” says Charles Knight, in his
Cyclopedia of London, was never behind the
Temple in its masques and Christmas revels;
nor were the exercises of dancing and singing '
merely permitted, but even insisted on, at this
Inn; for by an order made on February 6th, in
the 7th of James I, it appears that “the under-

| barristers were by decimation put out of commons
for example’s sake, because the whole Bar were
offended by their not dancing on the Candlemas
Day preceding, according to the anci.nt order of
the Society, when the Judges were present; and
a threat was added, that if the like fault were
repeated they should be fined or disbarred.”

Very careful provision would seem to have
been made by the council or benchers of the
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Inn with regard to such minute matters as the
apparel of its members, who were bound to dress
soberly and to avoid gay colours. On the matter
of beards, too, it would seem that they exercised
a degree of control which savoured of austerity.
For instance, it is on record that the student who
wore a beard should pay double for his daily
commons and dinner in hall. In the first year of
Queen Elizabeth it was ordered “that no fellow of
the house should wear a beard of above a fort-
night’s growth under penalty of loss of commons,
and, in case of obstinacy, of final expulsion.”
Such, however, was the love of long beards, that it
trinmphed over these sumptuary restrictions, and
in November, 1562, all previous orders on the
subject were repealed or withdrawn. The long
rapier, an appendage of fashion of a still more
obnoxious character than the long beard, did not
fare equally well. When Elizabeth, whose orders
were paramount, ordered watches to be set at each
gate of the City to take the measure of every gen-

tleman’s sword, and to see that it did not exceed |

three feet, members of the Inns of Court were
obliged to conform, like other citizens, to this
standard ; and they were further obliged to lay
aside their rapiers on entering their several dining-
halls, and to content themselves with the daggers
which they wore behind.

The life of a law student at the time of which
we speak, when, as at Oxford and Cambridge, the
students really lived in their “chambers” instead
of in lodgings at a distance, and kept up a real
bond of fellowship and social intercourse by the
common use of a hall and a chapel, must have
presented an immense contrast to the usage of our
own day. Even down to so late a period as the
close of Elizabeth’s reign, we are told, the members
of Lincoln’s Inn resorted once every year in the
summer to Kentish Town, where they dined to-
gether and indulged in sports, just as now-a-days
the employés of some printing establishment drive
off to Richmond or the Crystal Palace to celebrate
their “wayzgoose.” The only remnant of the
old social customs which once prevailed is to be
found in the fact that there is a dinner served daily
in the hall during term-time for those who care
to partake of it. But this must have been a reality,
and only a part of the daily routine of existence at
the time when the collegiate system was not as
yet wholly banished from the Inns of Court, when
men really lived in their chambers and spent their
lives in their Inn, at all events until they took
. on themselves the responsibility of a wife and a
domestic establishment. Nor was their legal
education neglected even at the dinner-table ; for

at each mess it was a rule that there was to be a
“moot ” daily. We all of us speak of a “moot-
point,” but few, perhaps, understand its meaning.
The junior member of each mess had to propound
to the rest at his table some knotty question of
law, which was discussed by each in turn during
the dinner.  This excellent cnstom, however, still
kept up as it is by members of many religious
orders in the Roman Catholic Church, has long
since disappeared from the Hall of Lincoln’s Inn,
although there is extant and probably unrepealed a
standing order of the reign of Edward VI, to the
effect that every junior at each mess during dinner
should “put to the rest a short case of one point
which was to be argued thoroughly.”

It is obvions that while the lawyer must have
an especial, he cannot feel that he has an ex-
clusive, interest in the early history of the Inns of
Court, which form so considerable a part of the
antiquities of the metropolis. The buildings of
Lincoln’s Inn for instance, though consecrated to
the legal profession for the past five or six hundred
years, if they could speak of their earlier years,
would tell us of Knights Templars, and of the
proud house of De Lacy, Earls of Lincoln, and of
more than one bishop who held the Great Seal in
the days of the Plantagenets.

If our imagination could carry us back to the
thirteenth century, we should notice, as we walked
up what now is Chancery Lane, but then was
known as New Street, leading from the Temple Bar
up to “Old Bourne,” the palace of the Bishops of
Chichester, the mansion of Henry de Lacy, Earl of
Lincoln, and the beautiful church of the Knights
Templars, resplendent with the solemn services
which were daily celebrated within it. It is from
this Earl of Lincoln that what is now “Lincoln’s
Inn” derives its name; and it is the opinion of the
learned antiquary, Francis Thynne, that it was
constituted a regular Inn of Court not long after
that nobleman’s death in 1312. Those of the
buildings which still remain, however, are not older
than the Tudor times, the old gateway and the hall
having been both erected in the reign of Henry
VII. The frontage of these old buildings facing
Chancery Lane is about 5oo feet in length. The
gatehouse is a fine specimen of late red brickwork
of a Gothic type, and is now almost the only
example of that sort of work to be found in Lon-
don. The principal gateway, and the two flanking
towers on either side, still stand in the same
condition as when they were first erected, except
that their red colour has been dulled by three
centuries and a half of dust and smoke ; but the
windows for the most part have been modemnised,
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much to the loss of picturesque effect. Over
the gateway are still to be seen three shields of
arms in as many square compartments, The first
are those of Lacy, Earl of Lincoln; those in the
centre are the royal arms of England; and the
third and last are the bearings of the actual builder
of the gate, Sir Thomas Lovel, Knight Beneath
these is the date A.D. 1518. These heraldic sculp-
tures were repaired and redecorated in 1815.

It is rumoured that this gateway, which abuts
too closely on the narrowest part of Chancery
Lane, is destined to be removed at no distant date,
inaccordance with a plan in progress for rebuilding
the suites of chambers on one uniform plan. We
should be sorry to lose the venerable but some-
what gloomy edifice, on account of the many
illustrious personages with whom its memory is
associated, and who must have passed beneath its
portals on their way to “chambers”—Sir Thomas
More, Lord Keeper Egerton, Dr. Donne, Sir
Henry Spelman, Sir Matthew Hale, Sir John
Durham, Attorney-General Noy, Rushworth, Lord
“Thurlow, I.ord Shaftesbury, Lord Mansfield, Lord
Eldon, and Loid Erskine.

The red brick buildings adjoining the gateway in
Chancery Lane are of a slightly later date than the
entrance itself; and it is in all probability to this
portion of the structure that quaint old Fuller
alludes when he writes of Ben Jonson, that “he
helped in the building of the new structure in
Lincoln’s Inn, and having a trowel in one hand, he
had a book in his pocket.”

Mr. Peter Cunningham tells us that in the south
angle of the great court leading out of Chancery
Lane, formerly called the Gatehouse Court, but
.now Old Buildings, in No. 24, in the apartments
on the ground-floor on the left-hand side, Thurloe,
the secretary to Oliver Cromwell, had chambers
from 1645 to 1659. Cromwell himself must often
have darkened by his presence this doorway ; and
here, by the merest accident, long after Thurloe’s
death, his papers and correspondence with the
Lord Protector and other members of the Round-
head party were discovered, having lain for years
concealed behind a false ceiling. Mr. John
Timbs, in his “Romance of London,” relates a
curious anecdote concerning these chambers, to the
effect that one evening Oliver Cromwell came
thither to talk over with Thurloe a plot for seizing
the person of Prince Charles, then at Bruges, and
his brothers the Dukes of York and Gloucester,
when, finding Thurloes clerk asleep at his desk, he
drew his dagger to kill him, thinking (as was really
t}}e case) that he had been overheard, and was with
difficulty stopped by his secretary from carrying out

his design. The young clerk found means to warn
the royal party of their danger, and the plot fell
through. If this story be really true, it may safely
be asserted that in this very set of chambers
English royalty has been saved.

The “Thurloe Papers,” it may be added on the
self-same authority, were disposed of by the dis-
coverer to Lord Chancellor Somers, who caused
them to be bound up in sixty-seven volumes in
folio, and they form the principal part of the
collections afterwards published by Dr. Birch, and
known by the name of the “ Thurloe State Papers.”

The old hall, as seen through the archway
leading into the court from Chancery Lane, with
its high-pitched roof externally, has all the appear-
ance of a monastic building, from its buttresses
and pointed windows. It is situated in the first
court opposite the entrance gate ; it was erected in
the twenty-second year of King Henry VIL, so
that it is nearly of the same date with the gateway ;
its appearance, however, is very different from the
dull red brick of the entrance, being covered with
an exterior coating of white plaster or stucco. It
has undergone alterations at various dates, and in
1819 it was lengthened by ten or twelve feet, and
the present unsightly modern ceiling was substituted
for the fine open roof of oak, which was removed
or concealed. The hall is about 70 feet by 30,
and 32 feet high. “It was divided,” says Mr.
Spilsbury, the Librarian of Lincoln’s Inn, “in
1853, by permission of the benchers, in order to
form two courts, the one for the Lord Chancellor,
and the other for the Lords Justices of Appeal,
until snitable accommodation can be provided by
the country for the administration of justice.” In
1874 the partition was again removed, and the
building fitted up so as to form one spacious court
for the Lord Chancellor and Lords Justices, when
sitting together or alternately. At the upper end,
over the seat of the Lord Chancellor, is a picture
of Paul before Felix, painted for the society by
Hogarth. At the opposite end of the room isa
statue of Lord Erskine, by Westmacott. The
heraldic achievements in stained glass, with which
the windows were formerly enriched, and also those
of the panels of the walls, have been removed to
the new hall.

Here were held all the “ Revels” of the society,
in which the benchers themselves indulged.
Dancing was especially enjoined, and was thought
to conduce to the end of making gentlemen more
fit for their books at other times. One of the latest
“Revels,” at which King Charles IL was present, is
noticed both by Evelyn and Pepys in their respec-
tive diaries. On a second visit of that monarch
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to Lincoln’s Inn, on the 27th of February, 1671,
he was accompanied by his brother, the Duke of
York, Prince Rupert, the Duke of Monmouth, and
others of the nobility. These illustrious and dis-
inguished p ges were admitted bers of
the Honourable Society, and entered their names

in the Admittance Book, where their signatures are
preserved.” Hogarth’s picture, mentioned above,
it may be interesting here to remark, was painted
at the instigation of Lord Mansfield, as the best
way of expending a legacy of .£200 left to the
benchers.

The chapel possesses features of peculiar interest.
It has been the opinion of some antiquaries that it
is a restoration or reconstruction of a much earlier

ESSEX WATER GATE, ESSEX STREET, STRAND.

edifice ; but there is evidence which proves con.
clusively that the present building was erected in
the reign of James L, and that the old chapel was
standing at the time of the consecration of the new
one. It was built from the designs of Inigo Jones,
and consecrated in 1623. Ben Jonson is said to

(See page 68.)

have assisted with his trowel in the building of this
chapel, as well as of the outer wall already men-
tioned. Its size is 60 by 4o feet, and it is about
44 feet high. The windows are filled with stained
glass of very brilliant colours, and the carved work
of the oaken seats is of very chaste design, and
superior execution, as specimens of the style pre
vailing in the reign of James I. The crypt under
the chapel, now dwarfed by the gradual raising of
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the ground, was built, like the cloisters in the
Temple, as a place for the students and lawyers
“to walk in and talk and confer their learnings.”
Mr. Peter Cunningham reminds us that the round
nave of the Temple Church was formerly used for
a like purpose, and Butler and Pepys both allude
to the custom. This crypt was long reserved
as a burial-place for the benchers of the Inn. In
it sleeps the Puritan Baxter, close by Thurloe, and
near him Alexander Brome, the Cavalier song-
writer, and William Prynne, already mentioned,
who wrote against the unloveliness of lovelocks,
and the inscription on whose grave was already
blotted out when Wood wrote his “ Athenz
Oxonienses.”

The present noble hall and library, built of red
brick, with stone dressings, by the late Mr. Philip
Hardwick, R.A., was commenced in 1843. The
first stone of the hall was laid on the zoth of April
in that year by Sir James Lewis Knight-Bruce, the
treasurer of the society. It bears the following
inscription :—

¢ Stet lapis, arboribus nndo defixus in horto,
Fundamen pulchra tempus in omne domds,
Aula vetus lites et legum senigmata servet,
Ipsa novo exorior nobilitanda coquo.
XX1j. CAL. MAIJ, MDCCCXLIT).”
The inscription was humorously translated by the
late Sir George Rose as follows :—
“ The trees of yore
Are seen no more :
Unshaded now the garden lies.
May the red bricks,
‘Which here we fix,
Be lasting as our equitics.
‘The olden dome
With musty tome
Of Iaw and litigation suits :
In this we look
For a better ‘cook’ *
Than he who wrote the ¢ Institutes,”

The library was originally 8o feet long, but
in 1873 it received an addition of 50 feet to its
length. The present dimensions are 130 feet by
40 feet, and 44 feet high. The original foundation
of this library is of earlier date than any now
existing in the metropolis, namely, 1497. At the
time of the removal of the books to the Ppresent
building, in 1845, the number of volumes was about
18,000. It has since gone on increasing, so that
the library now contains about 40,000 volumes,
on law, jurisprudence, history, and other cognate
and collateral studies. In addition to the collec-
tion of law books, admitted to be the most complete
in this country, the shelves of the library are well

* Aliuding to Coke's * Institutes,” a legal work of high reputation.

furnished with books in historical and various other
classes of literature. The Reports of Cases in
England are extant in a regular series from the
reign of Edward IL, from whose time to that of
Henry VIIL they were taken by the prothonotaries,
or chief scribes of the court, at the expense of the
Crown, and published annually, whence they are
known under the denomination of the “ Year
Book.” Here also is an unique copy of the fourth
volume of “Prynne’s Records,” purchased in 1849
at the sale at Stowe for £335. Here likewise is
preserved the collection of legal MSS, and books
bequeathed to the Inn by Sir Matthew Hale, “a
treasure,” he says in his will, “that is not fit for
every man’s view.” The formation of this library
was commenced as early as the reign of Henry VI,
and the acquisition of books received a great im-
pulse by an order issued in the early part of the
reign of James L, to the effect that every person
called to the Bar should contribute to it 13s. 4d.,
and every bencher on his election 20s, In the
Council Room of the society is the portrait of Sir
Matthew Hale, by Wright.

Stone Buildings—so called from the material of
which they are built—lie at the north-eastern ex-
tremity of Lincoln’s Inn. The range of buildings
forms part of a design made in 1780 for rebuilding
the whole Inn. The structure is commodious and
imposing when viewed from the gardens, or even
from Lincoln’s Inn Fields. Part of the eastern
side of Lincoln’s Inn, abutting upon Chancery*
Lane, was rebuilt in 1880-81.  The new buildings
are of red brick, with stone dressings.

The houses in New Square were built in the
reign of Charles IL In the open space in the
centre of the square there was formerly a Corinthian
column, bearing a vertical sun-dial.  The houses,
which form three sides of the square—as stated,
indeed, in a previous chapter —were formerly
called Serle’s Court, having been erected in 1682z
by Henry Serle, one of the benchers of Lincoln’s
Inn. They are of brick, and are wholly occupied
as chambers, many of the most eminent members
of the Bar and legal profession holding them. It
may be worth while to record here the fact that Sir
Samuel Romilly had chambers at Nos. z and 6,
Sir William Grant at No. 3, and at No. 11 Lord
Selboe, whilst as yet only Sir Roundell Palmer,
The site upon which New Square is built was
originally called Fickett's Field, or Little Lincoln’s
Inn Field The garden in the centre was railed
and planted in 1845; and in 1867 was erected,
within the encl , the temporary building for the
exhibition of the designs for the New Law Courts.

The gardens of Lincoln’s Inn, though not
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washed like those of the Temple, by the “silver” | them a piece of ground near Baynard’s Castle,
Thames, and though not possessing equal histo- | between Ludgate and the Thames, to build a new
rical associations with the spot where the White | monastery and church, which was afterwards known
and Red Rose were chosen as the badges of two | as the “Black Friars.” The old house appears.
rival and royal houses, were not and indeed are | to have been the property of William de Haverill,
not without a beauty of their own; and the fine | the King’s Treasurer, and on his attainder for
elms which they contain are an ornament to the | treason, to ha.ve been given by the Crown to Ralph
neighbourhood. They were famous of old, how- | de Nevill, Bishop of Chichester, and Lord Chan-
ever, but have been much curtailed by the erection | cellor, who built there a large house which he
of the new hall and library at the south-western | occupied till his death in 1244. The memory
angle. There is a fine and broad terrace walk ;| of the bishop is retained in the name of a small
but “the walk under the elms,” celebrated by Ben | court between the Inn and Chancery Lane, stiil
Jonson, has disappeared. In these gardens, as we | called « Chichester Rents.” Having passed through
learn from the Zatler (No. 100), old Isaac Bicker- | one intermediate owner, it became the residence
staffe delighted to walk, being privileged to do so|of Henry de Lacy, Earl of Lincoln, to whom
by his friends amongst the benchers, who had grown | Edward I. made a present also of the old friars’
old along there with himself. In the time of the | house. The two thus joined together formed a
old Earls of Lincoln the gardens are said to have | residence for the earl; and hence the place was
been most fruitful, supplying apples, nuts, and|styled his “Inn,” meaning his lodging or house.
cherries in great abundance, as well as flowers and | It is said that the earl introduced law students
“kitchen herbs,” the produce of which, over and | into his “Inn” as early as the year 1310; but this
above what was needed for his lordship’s house-|is at best doubtful. Nor is it clear, nor do his-
hold, brought in to the steward of the estate a | torians or antiquaries tell us, how the Bishops of
large sum annually. Chichester again became the owners of the “Inn.”

The readers of Pepys’ “Diary” will scarcely | Such, however, apparently was the case, for they
need to be reminded here of the following entry, | held it until the beginning of the sixteenth century,
as it has been so often quoted before :—* 27 June, | When Robert Sherborne, bishop of that see, con-
1663. To Lincoln’s Inn, and there walked up and | veyed it to an Essex gentlemen named Sulyard,
down to see the new garden which they are making, | Whose family conveyed it, in 1579, to William King-
and will be very pretty, and so to walk under the smith and the rest of the benchers for the modest
chapel by agreement.” | sum of £520.

As to the past history of Lincoln’s Inn, a part’ As the title-deeds of Lincoln’s Inn do not go
of its site was occupied in ancient times by the | further back than December, 1535, its early
church and house of a body of “preaching friars,” | history is naturally involved in no little obscurity.
who came to England in 1221, and received much | The tradition of its establishment in the reign of
encouragement and great support in London. | Edward IIL, is highly probable, although no
Hubert de Burgh, the powerful Earl of Kent, who ' evidence of a documentary nature can be adduced
died in 1252, and was buried in their church, left to prove it. The first mention of the four Inns of
to them his house in Westminster, which was Court—of which Lincoln’s Inn beyond a doubt
nothing less than the ancient White Hall, after- | was one—occurs in the writings of Fortescue, who
wards York House, of which we shall have to| wrote in the latter half of the fifteenth century.
speak presently. The friars sold it to the Arch-| According to the received opinion, Lincoln’s Inn _
bishop of York, - who left it an heirloom to his had flourished for a century and a half before
successors in the see. ‘ Fortescue wrote; but certainly we meet with no

In 1250 the friars of this order held a grand  record of any distinguished student within its
convocation at their house, when no less than 500 | walls at that date. From a record of the same
churchmen were present. On the first day of their | age with Fortescue, namely, the “Black Book”
meeting, Henry III attended their chapter, and | of the Inn itself, we find that, whether it was the
sat with them at their table to a dinner which his | oldest of the four Inns of Court or not, at all
royal self had provided. Afterwards the queen|events it was the first which instituted a settled
did the same, and her example was followed by the | order of government, and made provision for the
Bishop of London, the Abbots of Westminster, | needs of legal education. This Black Book com-
St. Albans, Waltham, and others. Here the | mences in 1423, and gives the name of Fortescue
friars continued until r276, when the Mayor | himself as one of its governors or benchers. In
and other influential citizens of London gave | 1440 the governors began to be formally sworn on
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‘taking office, and the stud dmission were | b they were anciently held in the Aula
alsomqmmdmtakeanuthofobedmoetotkn Regia, or Court of the King’s Palace. They are
body. In x464ﬂnSocctycfunoolnsmeade selfgov_emedby an eleenve body of benchers,
an important step of progress in their org: of the most disting d and successful
oilega!edumuon, by appointing a “reader” to mmbasofthe&x,anma?usbody,wm;nmg
give readings in the law to the students during |between 3,000 and 4,000 bamisters. ~ No person is
the vacation of the courts. The first reader whose | called to the Bar until he is twenty-one years of
name is recorded is William Huddersfield. The | age and of five years’ standing as a student, except
persons chosen as readers were the most eminent | he be 2 ber of the Universities of Oxford and
lawyers ol't.hcdzyundathedcgmeufsa)cantjcambﬁdgc,hwhﬂ)msehemaybeaugdm
A reader in 1475, and again in 1481, was Sir | three years.

Thomas Lovel, who built the gatehouse of the Inn. Atwha:umestudcmswmﬁmzdmmdmto
'l‘hcnameofjohn\lom,thcanmmnmderfor Lincoln’s Inn secems to be a doubtful point
1489, introduces us to an episode in the history of | Malcolm, on the authomy of an old heraldic
the Inn. In 1464]ohn\[omrasmscdfmmtbcll\ls.whu:h styles the Inn “an ancient ally unto
office of butler to that of steward. In 1470 his | the Middle Temple,” observes that “there is no
long and fithful services in those two capacities | mention of any flourishing estate of the students
were rewarded by his admission to be a member | and professors of the common law resident in this
of the society, and in 1489, 2nd again in 1495, he | oollegch'ﬂthemgnofﬂcnzyvl when it appears
held the high and honourable office of reader. by the rolls and remembrance of that house the
His son John succeeded the father in the office of | same then began to be famous.”

butler, and enjoyed the like promotion. The son| Besides the office of reader, which is now held
of this latter John More was the illustrious Sir by 2 clergyman, the Inn has two other offices held
Thomas More, the chancellor and martyr. Of‘bymenmhdymdcrs, namely, those of preacher
Sir Thomas More’s conduct upon the woolsack it | and chaplain.  Since 1581, when the first appoint-

was said, in the punning style of the day:— ment of preacher to the society appears to have
“When More some years had Chancellor been, been made, many of the most eloquent and dis-

No mory suits did remain ; tinguished divines of the Church of England have

The same shall never more be seen, filled the office, amongst whom have been Arch-

Till More be there again.” bishop Tillotson, Dr. Donne, Thomas Gataker,

Allen. m his “ History of London,” remarks of and Dr. Hurd; Bishops Warburton, Heber, and
this Inn that “it ranks next to the Temple, which = Maltby; and Archbishop Thomson. 1In fact, the
it equals in the number of eminent lawyers that it | Preachership of Lincoln’s Inn has ofien been
bas produced.” Of these it may be sufficient to | regarded as a “ stepping-stone to a bishopric.”
mention Sir John Fortescue. one of the “fathers’ Among the most illustrious students, benchers,
of the English law,” who held the Great Seal under | treasurers, and members of this Inn have been
Henry VI.; that virtuous chancellor. Sir Thomas ' Sir Robert Atkins, Lord Chief Baron of the Ex-
More ; the learned antiquary. Sir Henry Spelman ; | chequer, Zmg. William IIL ; Sir John Fortescue ;
the great Sir Matthew Hale, and Lord Chancellor ' Anthony, first Earl of Shaftesbury; Lord South-
Egerton. Prynne, the wellknown victim of Star ampton ; Archbishop Tillotson; S Arthur Plan-
Chamber tyranny, was also 2 member of this tagenet, patural son of Edward IV.; Sir Joseph
society. For an alleged libel in the “Histric- Jekyll; Sir Thomas Egerton, Lord Keeper of the
Mastix” he was condemned by that court to pay Great Seal, fowp. Elizabeth; Sir Thomas More,
a fine of :£3,000, to lose his ears. to stand in the Chancellor of England, already mentioned ; the
pillors, and to be imprisoned for life. Nor did the Earl of Hardwicke; Lord Talbot; Sir Robert
odious sentence end there, for the Chamber, “as- Walpole; Sir Matthew Hale, whose gift to the
suming an authority co-extensive with its vindic- library is noticed above; Lord Mansfield ; Lord
tiveness,” ordered Prynne to be expelled from the | Walsingham ; Dr. Warburton, Bishop of Glouces-
University of Oxford and aiso from the Soc.\etyof ter ; Lord Camden; Lord Henley ; William Pitt;
Lincoln's Inn. %ddmgton,aftawaxdsludsidmonth Lord Ellen-

The Inns of Court have deservedly been styled ' borough, the Chief Justice; the Right Hon.
“the noblest nurseries of humanity and liberty in Spenoer Percival; Lord Dunfermline; and at
the kingdom.” They are four in number, viz, the |least six Lord Chanccllus of our own day,
Inner Temple, the Middle Temple, Lincoln’s Inn, | B gh C h Campbell, Selb Hath.
and Gray’s Inn. They arc called Inns of Cowr?, | erley, and Cranworth.
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CHAPTER IX.
THE STRAND—INTRODUCTORY AND HISTORICAL
~Come, Fortescue, Giend, My business o my distant lodging calls ;

Come, lct us lcave the Temple's sileat walls ;

Conditicn of the Strand in the Days of the
Nasse of the Strand—Graphic

DurING the reign of Henry VIIL an active stir
had d for the ion of streets and
highways in and about the metropolis, and the
necessity for such improvement is fully shown by
the words of the royal statute which was then
enacted for the purpose. In granting permission
to lay out a new road in the Weald of Kent, which
formed an important thoroughfare to London, we
are told that “many other common ways in the
said Weald be so deep and so noyous, by wearing
and course of water and other occasions, that
people cannot have their carriages or passages
by horses, upon or by the same, but to their great
pains, peril, or jeopardy.” Nor in approaching
London was the casc improved, in several instances
at least; for the suburban districts, as yet only
villages separated from the City by fields, ga.\'dens,

Through the loag Setrasd together let ws stray,
With thee comversing, 1 forget the way."—Gay.

a8d Todors—Rules for Hackney Coaches—Tayke, the * Waser Poct "—Origia of the
Skrtch of the Strand Five Centuries ago—New Paviag Act—State Pageants-Temple Bar in Danger.

| perhaps, of forgetting the fact that at that time the
traffic along it consisted mainly of foot passengers,
or riders on horseback, carriages being then almost
‘ as unknown as hansom cabs or omnibuses. Eliza-
beth, as we know, rode usually on a pillion, even
on state occasions; and fifty years after her, we are
told, there were only thirty vehicles on wheels in
the whole of London. No wonder, therefore, that
many of our old thoroughfares are still narrow i
| the extreme.
In the present admuably paved state of the
streets of the the

relative to the St:rand, Charing Cm and Parlia-
ment Street, must appear strange :—* In 1353, the
road from London to Westminster had become so
dangerous for the transit of passengers or car-
n'age of goods, as to demand the interference of
A 1 fore di "

and a sprinkling of cottages, were
the City by a lnghway, often left in grievous dls-
repair through the of inhabi

Such was the case even with that great artery of
the metropolis—the Strand—of which we are abont
to treat.

Frequented though it was, and necessary for
the comfort of the City, yet this highway, in the
thirty-fourth and thirty-fith years of Henry VIIL,
is described as a road “full of pits and sloughs,
very perilous and noisome.” There is extant
somewhere or other in the Rolls of Parliament,
a complaint of the high-road between the Temple
“and the village of Charing” being so deep
I mire as to be almost impassable. In fact it
had earned a thoroughly bad character. It was
described in the statute above quoted as “very
noyous and foul, and in many places thereof very
jeopardous to all people passing and repassing, as
well on horseback as on foot, both in winter and
in summer, by night and by day.” By this route,
however, Cardinal Wolsey, when residing in Chan-
cery Lane, used to ride down to Westminster Hall,
in all the magnificence which befitted a “ Prince
of the Church,” as already described in the first
volume of thxs work (page 81)

Insp g, b , of the d ful conditi
of the high-road between London and Wt

was
in the name of the king and council, dated West-
mmster, Nov. 20, to John de Bedeforde, of London,
ppointing him the for the paving of
the mad in question. This instrument recites, that
the highway leading from the gate called Temple
Bar, London, to the door of Westminster Abbey,
by the frequent passage of carts, horses, mer-
chandise, and provisions, to the Staple at West-
minster, ever since its establishment, had become
so deep and muddy, and the pavement so much
injured and broken, that unless soon repaired,
great perils must be mcurred by the passage both
| of men and of carriages. In order to remedy this.
evil, therefore, it was ordained that the foot-pave-
‘ment adjoining to the houses on the line of the
road should be newly laid, at the expense of the
owners of the nearest houses; and that money
should be levied by tolls on goods sold at the
Staple, to defray the charge of paving the road
between the kennels on each side.”

In 1625 there were fwenfy hackney coaches in
London ; but they multiplied so rapidly, that in
ten years afterwards Government took the alarm
at their general use, and endeavoured to limit it,
apon the plea that these carriages “ disturbed the
ears of king, queen, and nobles, jostled horse and
foot tore up the streets and pave-

in the days of the Plantagenets, we are in danger,

ments, and increased the price of hay and horse
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provender.” It was therefore ordered ¢ that no
hackney or hired coaches be used or suffered in
London, Westminster, or the suburbs thereof,
except they be to travel at least three miles out of
the same ; and also, that no person shall go in a
coach in the said streets, except the owner of the
coach shall constantly keep up four able horses for
our (the king's) service when required.” But the
time had gone by when such despotic edicts were
in force ; and Cromwell himself, we are told, was
destined soon after to drive four-in-hand, in Jehu
fashion, through this forbidden territory, and be
capsized for his pains.

Scarcely had this innovation been commenced
in London, when Taylor, the “ Water Poet,” who
plied a scull upon the Thames, exclaimed, ¢ They
have undone my poor trade!” Speaking of the
coaches, he adds, “This infernal swarm of trade
spillers have so overrun the land, that we can get
no living on the water; for I dare truly affirm, that
every day in any term, especially if the court be at
Whitehall, they do rob us of our livings, and carry
five hundred and sixty fares daily from vs.” Allud-
ing also to the confusion produced by this startling
civic revolution, he adds, “I pray you look into
the streets, and the chambers or lodgings in Fleet
Street or the Strand, how they are pestered with
them (coaches), especially after a mask or a play
at the court, where even the very earth quakes and
trembles, the casements shatter, tatter, and clatter,
and such a confused noise is made, so that a man
can neither sleep, speak, hear, write, nor eat his
dinner or supper quiet for them.”

The scene occasionally presented by the Strand
through its entire length, if we may believe such
an eyewitness as John Evelyn, was very gay
and brilliant. He writes in his Diary, ¢ May 29,
1660. This day his majestie, Charles IL, came
to London, after a sad and long exile and cala-
mitous suffering both of the king and church,
being seventeen years, This was also his birthday,
and with a triumph above 20,000 horse and foot,
brandishing their swords and shouting with in-
expressible joy; the ways strew'd with flowers,
the bells ringing, the streets hung with tapestry,
fountains running with wine ; the mayor, aldermen,
and all the companies in their liveries, chains of
gold, and banners; lords and nobles clad in
cloth of silver, gold, and velvet; the windowes
and balconies well set with ladies; trumpets,
music, and myriads of people flocking even so
far as from Rochester, so as they were seven hours
in passing the City, even from two till ten at night.
T stood in the Strand and beheld it, and bless'd
God. And all this was done without one drop of

bloodshed, and by that very army which rebelled
against him; but it was the Lord’s doings, for
such a restoration was never mentioned in any
history, ancient or modern, since the return of
the Jews from the Babylonish captivity ; nor so
joyful a day and so bright ever seen in this nation,
this happening when to expect or effect it was past
all human policy.” 1

To pass on to a somewhat later date, we are told
by Malcolm that when, in 1689, the number of
hackney carriages in London was limited by Act of
Parliament to 4o00, the inhabitants of the Strand
and Fleet Street petitioned against any increase in
their numbers, on the ground that * they prevented
the quality from getting to their shops 1”

During the time of Queen Elizabeth, considerable
improvement had been effected by the filling up of
the gaps or blanks left between the dwellings that
had already been built along the Strand; and:by
the end of her long reign, both sides of this line of
route had been nearly covered with the mansions
of the nobility, so that Westminster may be said at
that time to have been joined on to London. The
still rural character, however, of the districts
abutting on the north side, at the time when the
Strand was only an unpaved road, may be gathered
from the existence to our own day of such names
as the Convent (Covent) Garden, Long Acre, St.
Martin’s-in-the-Fields, and Lincoln’s Inn Fields,
most of which were open country at the date of the
earliest existing map of the metropolis.

The name of the Strand is clearly of Saxon and
not of Norman origin ; and, if we may trust a writer
in the Penny Cyclopedia, it is mentioned by name
in the Saxon Chronicle. And as a proof of the
statement it is recorded that upon the Strand Earl
Godwin and his son Harold drew up their land
forces in the insurrection which they headed against
Edward the Confessor, in A.D. 1052.

We find this thoroughfare sometimes spoken of as
“the High Street of Westminster, commonly called
the Strand,” as, for instance, in the lease by which
Sir Wm. Cecil agrees to take his property in this
neighbourhood for a term of years from the Earl
of Bedford. The lease is printed iz extenso in the
thirtieth volume of the “ Archzologia.”

The following graphic sketch, which we take
from A/ the Year Round, carries us back to the
Strand of five hundred years ago :=—

“Beyond the Bars is the river-side road, called
¢Strand Street.” It was sorely in need of paving
until lately, when a tax for its repair was levied on
all goods carried along it to the Staple at West-
minster. Here, many lords, spiritual and temporal,
have goodly Inns, of which you can see but two

Y-
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or three: the Bishop of Exeter’s close on the left ;

the Bishop of Bath's beyond it ; and the Bishop of

Chester’s, with the old stone cross before it. At
that cross the Judges have sometimes sat to try
pleas. The palace which you can just see to the

left is the Savoy, so called from Peter, Connt of

Savoy, who built it in the reign of our Henry IIL,

whose Queen was the Count’s niece. Now the
Duke of Lancaster is the owner thereof, and John,
the captive King of France, lodged there not long

since. The bridge over the lane in the centre of | of Percy,

the road is called ‘Strand Bridge’ On the right

of St. Clement Danes Church you see the wells of

St. Clement and Holy Well ; and, beyond them,

the vineyard and convent garden of the Abbey of

“Nestminster, skirted by the woods of Long Acre.
102

MILFORD LANE IN 1820, (Ser pagr 70.)

The church among the fields in the distance is St.
Martin’s.”

Between the Strand and the river-side there are
four or five great and noble families whose names
and histories are interwoven with the vicinity.
Nearest to Temple Bar, the Devereuxes, Earls of
Essex ; next the Howards, of the ducal family of

Norfolk ; then the Protector Somerset ; the Cecils,
Earls of Salisbury and Exeter ; and Villiers, Duke
of Buckingham ; to say nothing of the proud line
Dukes of Northumberland, who up to
1874 kept up their town residence at Charing
Cross. About one and all of thesein succession we
shall have plenty to say in the next few pages.

Mr. A. Wood, in his “Feclesiastical Antiquities
of London,” tells us that “the Abbot of West
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minster had a garden on the banks of the Thames,
where Westminster and London join, near St
Clement Danes. It was called the ‘Frire Pye
Garden,” and stood opposite to the palaces of the
Bishops of Durham and Carlisle.” The site is
fixed by its garden, which is now Covent Garden.

The town house of the Duke of Beaufort in
the reign of Charles IL stood here, on the site of
what now are known as Beaufort Buildings; but
the family removed thence to Beaufort House at
Chelsea in 1682. Then there was Essex House,
and the Inn of the Bishops of Norwich (afterwards
York House), which as far back as the reign of
Edward III. spread out their embattled fronts
towards the Strand, while their extensive gardens,
terraces, and water-stairs sloped down to the river.
Spelman says that in the troublous times of the
Tudors most of the houses of the prelates in the
Strand were taken from them by courtiers “with-
out any recompense.”

Among the characteristic features of the Strand
at this period were the bridges that spanned the
various water-courses flowing from the meadows
and open fields on the north, and crossing this
thoroughfare in their way to the Thames. One
or two of these bridges were kept in remembrance
down to comparatively recent times in the names
of Ivy Bridge Lane and Strand Bridge Lane, of
the latter of which—now simply Strand Lane—
we shall have to speak presently, in connection
with the old Roman bath which is situated there.
Then there was the stone cross, of which old
Stow speaks as being situated in front of the spot
now occupied by St. Mary’s Church, and which in
its turn gave place to the famous Maypole, thus
alluded to in the “Dunciad,” and of which we
shall speak hereafter :—

‘Amidst the area wide they took their stand,
‘Where the tall Maypole once o’erlook’d the Strand H
But now, as Anne and Piety ordain,
A church collects the saints of Drury Lane,”

Stow states that the Liberty of the Duchy of
Lancaster extended from Temple Bar to the east
side of Cecil Street, near what is now the Adelphi,
and from the stocks just outside Temple Bar to
““a stone cross, now headless,” over against the
Maypole in the Strand, and along by Exeter
Change and Burleigh Street.

The foot-pavement of this quarter of the town,
as well as of other parts of Westminster, would
seem to have been in a deplorable state as recently
as the year 1762, when a new paving Act was
passed. Until that time, it appears, every in-
habitant did before his own house just what was
Sght in his own eyes, without rule or plan. The

consequence was that some parts of the footway
were paved admirabl indi , and

, some
some were left unpaved—mere pools of mud and
water—according to the wealth or caprice of each
resident. A proof of the general filth of this part
of the Strand may be found in the Zondon Chronicle
of the time, where we read, apropos of the new
measure of reform, “All sorts of dirt and ashes,
oyster-shells, the offals of fish, poultry, and other
kinds of meat, will now no longer be suffered to be
thrown loose into the streets, but must be kept until
the dustman comes round ; nor will the annoyances
erected by coachmakers be permitted ; and when a
house is pulled down the rubbish must be carried
to the proper place, and not left on the footway.”

In the description of the Strand given by him in
1807, Pennant complains of the street as being in
some places too narrow for the incredible number
of persons and carriages passing through it.

The Strand has witnessed in its day some strange
and curious sights. For instance, we read that
Queen Elizabeth, when she rode into the City, sat
ona pillion behind her Lord Chancellor, wagons and
the newly-invented “carriages” being in disfavour
with her Majesty. Among the numerous pageants
which the thoroughfare of the Strand has witnessed
may be mentioned the procession of Queen Eliza-
beth in state to St. Paul’s, to return thanks for the
victories over the Spanish Armada. Queen Anne
passed this way in state to St. Paul's on several
occasions, to commemorate victories over France
and Spain. In 1704 there was a state visit to the
City to celebrate the victory of Blenheim ; and in
like manner have been commemorated the victories
of Ramillies and other important triumphs. Then
there was the religious ceremonial when George III.
and his consort went in state to St. Paul’s to offer
a nation’s thanks for its king’s recovery; the solemn
conveyance of captured banners and the great
naval procession to St Paul’s, headed by the King,
in 1797 ; the funeral procession of Lord Nelson in
1806, and that of the Duke of Wellington in
1852 ; and the visits of Queen Victoria, when she
went in state to dine at Guildhall, and to open
the new Royal Exchange, and, in 1872, to return
public thanks for the restoration of the health of
the Prince of Wales.

But probably none of these pageants ever pre-
sented a scene so striking as when the gates of
Temple Bar were opened at the approach of the
second Charles on his restoration, and the King,
brought back to his own again, rode gallantly
through the City to Whitehall. The houses of the
Strand were adorned with the richest tapestry, and
window, balcony, and scaffold were crowded with
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all that was beantiful and loyal. The streets were
lined with members of the City companies in their
liveries, and the loud music of the trained-bands,
and the din of the bells from a hundred steeples,
were drowned in the cheers of the enthusiastic
populace. This event appears all the more im-
pressive when contrasted with the rueful spectacle
presented by Temple Bar just eighty years later,
when the heads of the most devoted followers of
the house of Stuart were exposed over its gates, as
if in bitter derision of the monarchs of the exiled
Stuart line whose effigies adorned its niches.
Temple Bar—almost the last relic of the geo-
graphical sovereignty of London—had for many
years previous to its removal, as already recorded
by us (see page 20 ante), been in an utterly hopeless
and forlorn condition; in fact, it was latterly
propped up and supported by wooden beams,

otherwise it would probably have fallen. Its de-

molition was first suggested nearly a century ago, as

is clear from the following lines which were written
on the report of its proposed removal as far back
as 1788 :—

“THE METROPOLITAN PROPHECY.

# I that gate is pulled down, “twixt the Court and the City,
You'll blend in one mass prudent, worthless, and witty ;
If you league cit and lordling, as brother and brother,
You’ll break Order’s chain, and they’ll war with each other.
Like the great wall of China, it keeps out the Tartars
From making irruptions where industry barters.

Like Samson’s wild foxes they'll fire your houses,

And madden your spinsters, and cozen your spouses ;
They'll destroy in one sweep both the mart and the forum,
‘Which your fathers held dear and their fathers before ’em.”

But it is time to pass from these general remarks

to a more detailed account of the thoroughfare of
which we treat.

CHAPTER X.
THE STRAND :—SOUTHERN TRIBUTARIES.
“ Westward the tide of Empire makes its way.”

Thanet "Place—~The old * Rose " Tavern—Palsgrave Placc—The * Palsgrave's Head "—Andrew Marvell—The London and Westminster Joint.
Stock Bank—Messrs. Strahan, Paul, and Bates—Messrs, Twining and Co.’s Bank and Tea-warchouse —* George's Hotel "—Devereux
Court—* Tom's Coffee House"”=The * Grecian "—Eldon Chambers.

EXTENDING from Fleet Street as far as the present | half ago.

Essex Strect was formerly an Outer Temple, which,
with the Inner and Middle Temples, constituted
the residences of the Knights Templars. This
space is now for the most part occupied by the
houses in Thanet Place, Palsgrave Place (both ¢/s
de sac), and Devereux Court.

The first of these—Thanet Place—stands as
nearly as possible on the site of the old “Rose
Tavern,” a place of rendezvous for lawyers and
wits in the last century. The place consists of
ten houses. It was named after the Earls of
Thanet, to whom it belonged, and from whom the

property passed, in 1780, by purchase to one John '

Cooke, a bookseller in Paternoster Row. The
“Rose Tavern” is described by Strype as being
in his day a “well-customed house, with good
convenience of rooms and a good garden ;” and
T. Fairchild, in his “ City Gardener,” in 1722, tells
us that in this garden was “a vine that covers an
arbour where the sun very rarely comes, and has
had ripe grapes upon it” It makes our mouths
water as we pass along the street on a hot sum-
mer afternoon, with the thermometer at 83° in
the shade, to hear of grapes growing in the open
air close to our left hand even a century and a

The “painted room” at this tavern is
mentioned in Horace Walpole’s “Letters,” but it
has long since passed out of memory.

Palsgrave Place, a narrow paved court, about
half-way between Temple Bar and Essex Street,
is named after the Palsgrave Frederick, King of
Bohemia, who in 1612 married the Princess Eliza-
beth, daughter of James I. Close by was the
tavern known as the “Palsgrave’s Head,” where
Prior and Montague make the “country mouse
and city mouse ” bilk the hackney coachman :— -

¢ But now at Piccadilly they arrive,

And taking coach towards Temple Bar they drive
But at St. Clement’s Church cut out the back,
And slipping through the ¢ Palsgrave’ bilk’t poor hack.”

Some of the taverns of the seventeenth century
appear to have been established over the shops
in this locality; for in 1679, according to Mr.
Diprose’s “ Account of St. Clement Danes,” “a
goldsmith named Crutch carried on business under
this tavern, and most of the shops were marked
by signs. William Faithorne, an engraver of merit,
lived ‘at the sign of the Ship, next to the Drake,
opposite to the Palsgrave’s Head Tavern, without
Temple Bar’” Another house of entertainment
or tavern in this neighbourhood, much frequented
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by members of Parliament and City gallants of
the seventeenth century, was “Heycock’s Ordi-
nary.” Here usually dined Andrew Marvell, some
time member for Hull, and famous in his day
as a wit and satirist ; and here, according to ‘the
above authority, he administered a severe castiga-
tion to certain members of the House, known to
be in the pay of the Crown, which ensured the
subserviency of their votes. “ Having ate heartily
of boiled beef, with some roasted pigeons and
asparagus, he drank his pint of port, and on the
coming in of the reckoning took a piece of money
out of his pocket, held it between his finger and
thumb, and add his venal iates, said,
¢ Gentlemen, who would lett himself out for hire
while he can have such a dinner for half-acrown?’”

Another “scene,” in which Andrew Marvell
appears as the principal character, may possibly
have taken place here. The anecdote has been
often related, but will bear repetition:—*The
borough of Hull, in the reign of Charles II., chose
Andrew Marvell, a young gentleman of little or
no fortune, and maintained him in London for
the service of the public. His understanding,
integrity, and spirit were dreadful to the then in-
famous administration. Persuaded that he would
be theirs for properly asking, they sent his old
schoolfellow, the Lord Treasurer Danby, to renew
acquaintance with him in his garret. At parting,
the Lord Treasurer, out of pure affection, slipped
into his hand an order upon the Treasury for
A1,000, and then went to his chariot. Marvell,
looking at the paper, called out after the Treasurer,
¢ My lord, I request another moment.’ They went
up again to the garret, and Jack, the servant-boy,
was called. ‘Jack, child, what had I for dinner
yesterday?’ ‘Don't you remember, sir? You
had the little shoulder of mutton that you ordered
me to bring from a woman in the market.” ¢ Very
right, child. What have I for dinner to-dayi’
‘Don’t you know, sir, that you bid me lay the
bladebone to broil ?’ “'Tis so; very right, child;
go away.” ‘My lord, do you hear that? Andrew

Snow and Walton, who carried on business here
as pawnbrokers during the Commonwealth, their
house bearing the sign of the “Golden Anchor.”
Their ledgers went back as far as the year x672.
There was a book in the possession of the late
members of the firm, showing that they were
established as bankers in the reign of Charles IL,
when their accounts were kept in decimals. The
firm came to a disgraceful and disastrous end in
1855, the leading partners of it being tried crimi-
nally and convicted of misappropriating the moneys
of their customers, for which they were sentenced
to various terms of imprisonment, a climax which
offers a striking contrast to the reputation enjoyed
by the original owner and founder of the house, a
wealthy goldsmith named Snow, whose memory is
thus immortalised by Gay :—

“ Disdain not, Snow, my humble verse to hear ;

Stick thy black pen awhile behind thy ear.

O thou whose penetrative wisdom found

The South Sea rocks and shelves when thousands drown'd,

‘When Credit sank and Commerce gasping lay,

‘Thou stood'st, nor sent one bill unpaid away;

‘When not a guinea clinked on Martin’s boards,

And Atwel's self was drained of all his hoards,

Thou stood’st—an Indian king in size and hue—

Thy unexhausted store was our Peru.”

Adjoining the above house, and opposite to
the spot where formerly stood Butcher’s Row, are
the banking-house and tea-warchouse of Messrs.
Twining and Co. The latter was founded about
the year 1710 by the great-greatgrandfather of
the present partners, Mr. Thomas Twining, whose
portrait, painted by Hogarth, “ Kit-cat size,” hangs
in the back parlour of the establishment. The
house, or houses—for they really are two, though
made one practically by internal communication—
stand between the Strand and the east side of

Devereux Court. The original depbt for the sale
of the then scarce and fashionable beverage, tea,
stood at the south-west angle of the present pre-
mises, on the site of what had been “Tom’s Coffee
| House,” directly opposite the “ Grecian.” A peep
into the old books of the firm shows that in the

Marvell's dinner is provided. There’s your piece ! reign of Queen Anne tea was sold by the few
of paper; I want it not. I know the sort of | houses then in the trade at various prices between
kindness you intended. I live here to serve my | twenty and thirty shillings per pound, and that
constituents. The ministry may seek men for | ladies of fashion used to flock to Messrs. Twining’s

their purpose ; I am not one.” ”

The house No. 217, Strand, now a branch of
the London and Westminster Joint-Stock Bank,
but which till lately was occupied as a bank by
Messrs. Strahan (originally Snow), Paul, and Bates,
had a history approaching in venerable antiquity
to that of its neighbour, the bank of Messts.
Child.  The name of the firm was originally

house in Deverenx Court, in order to sip the
enlivening beverage in very small china cups, for
which they paid their shillings, much as now-
a-days they sit in their carriages eating ices at the
door of Gunter's in Berkeley Square on hot days
in June. The bank was gradually engrafted by
Messrs. Twining on the old business, after it had
been carried on for more than a century from sire
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to son, and may be said, as a separate institution,
to date from the commercial panic of 1825. It is,
perhaps, worthy of note that a member of this
family, which has been so long and so honourably
connected with commerce, was that elegant and
accomplished scholar, the Rev. Thomas Twining,

the translator of Aristotle’s “ Poetics” in the days
of our grandfathers.
d from the abo tioned establish-

ment by the entrance to Devereux Court is
“George’s Hotel,” which stands on the site of
what was once “George’s Coffee House"—one
which, though not equal in reputation to “ Tom’s
or the “ Grecian,” had associations of its own. It
is mentioned by Foote in his “ Life of Murray,” as
a place where the wits of the town in 1751 would
assemble in the evening; and among its frequenters

from the Levant. As far back as 1664-5, says
Mr. Diprose, “he advertised his Turkey coffee-
berry, chocolate, sherbet, and tea, good and cheap,
and d his readi to give in-
struction in the art of preparing the said liquors.”
And Steele, in the first number of the Zatkr,
supplies us with an idea of the character of this
house, when he tells the public that he “shall
date all gallantry from ¢ White’s,” all poetry from
‘Wills’s) all foreign and domestic news from
‘St. James’s,” and all learned articles from the
‘Grecian.’” The existence of the rival coffee-

” [ houses gave a high literary character to Devereux

Court in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries.
The face of the “Spectator ” himself was very well
known at the “Grecian,” “adjacent to the law,”
and the house was frequented by the Irish and

was the poet Shenstone—he of the “ L r—

L shire Templars, and also by Fellows of the

who tells us that for a subscription of a shilling he
could read all the lesser pamphlets of the day. It
ceased to be known as a coffee-h about the

Royal Society. It was Foote's morning lounge,
and 1n a snug and cozy comer here Goldsmith

year 1842, and has since been used as an hotel.

When the new sewers were being constructed in
the Strand, a little to the east of St. Clement’s
Church, in 1802, the workmen found a stone
bridge of a single arch, strongly built, and covered
to some depth with rubbish and soil. A doubt
arises as to whether this could have been an arch
turned over a gully or ditch at a time when the fields
along the north side of the Strand were furrowed
with water-courses, or whether it was actually the
Pons Novi Templi passed by the lords and others
who went from London to attend the Parliament
at Westminster in the reign of Edward IIL, and
the repair of which that monarch called upon the
Templars to effect. In the absence of architec-
tural details, or at least a sketch of the bridge, we
shall not attempt to decide so knotty a point.

Devereux Court, into which we now pass, is
famous as having been the Jocale of two of the
most celebrated coffee-houses—* Tom's” and the
“Grecian.” It takes its name from Robert Deve-
reux, Earl of Essex, the Parliamentary general, who
was born in Essex House (part of which stood upon
this spot), and of whom we shall have more to say
presently.

Of “Tom’s” coffee-house we know that Aken-
side was a frequenter in the winter evenings, and
that Pope here addresses a letter to Fortescue, the
‘‘counsel learned in the law.” Another of its
frequenters was Dr. Birch, the antiquary.

The “Grecian,” again, was much frequented by
a goodly company of wits and poets, including
Addison, Steele, and Goldsmith, and derived its
name from having been kept originally by a Greek

ly “wound up his shoemaker’s holiday
with supper.”

In the Spectator (No. 49) Addison describes his
feelings at seeing the young Templars lounge at the
“Grecian ” early in the morning, either dressed
for Westminster, and with the assumed air of men
with heavy business engagements, or else in gay
caps and slippers, as though wishing to display
their indolence.

Dr. King relates how two hot-blooded young
gentlemen quarrelled one evening at the “Grecian”
upon the appropriate subject of the accent of a
certain Greek word, and not being able to adjust
the matter amicably, stepped out into the court
and settled it with their swords, the one falling by
the others hand. The topographer of Leeds,
Ralph Thoresby, describes how on one occasion,
after a meeting of the Royal Society, he came
back to the “Grecian,” and spent the rest of the
evening there in the company of Sir Isaac Newton.

At the “Grecian” Akenside spent such of his
winter evenings as he could spare from “ Tom’s,”
as we learn from Sir John Hawkins’s “Life of
Johnson,” “entangled in disputes and altercations,
chiefly on subjects of literatare and politics, that
fixed on his character the stamp of haughtiness
and self-conceit, and drew him into disagreeable
situations.” The “ Grecian” ceased to be a
coffee-house or tavern about the year 1842, and
shortly afterwards it was converted into “cham-
bers.” A part of the building, however, now
known as ¢ Eldon Chambers,” is used as a refresh-
ment-bar. High up, on the front of this house, is
a bust of Lord Essex, and beneath it the inscrip-
tion, “ This is Devereux Court, 1676.”
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CHAPTER XIL
THE STRAND »—SOUTHERN TRIBUTARIES (wntinua).

“The glorics of our birth and state
Are shadows, not substantial things."~—Shirley.

Exeter House—Attacked by the Populace—
Essex Street—*Sam's” Club at the *
Unitarian Chapel--Eaclicst Inhabitants o

ssex Street,

THE site now covered by Essex Street and De-
vereux Court was, as stated above, originally a
portion. of the Outer Temple, and, as Dugdale
supposes, belonged at one time to the “ Prior and
Canons of the Holy Sepulchre.” In the reign of
Edward III. it passed into the hands of the Bishops
of Exeter, whose town residence was built here. It
was called Exeter House, and they occupied it till
the time of Henry VI. In 1326, as readers of
English history arc aware, Queen Isabella, “the
she-wolf of France,” consort of Edward II., landed
from France to chase the Spensers from the side
of her husband, and advanced upon London. The
king and his civil counsellors fled to the frontiers
of Wales; but Walter Stapleton, then Bishop of
Exeter, Lord Treasurer of England, held out stontly
for his sovereign in his house, and as custos of
London, demanded from the Lord Mayor the
keys of the City to prevent any uprising in the dis-
affected City, And then a scene occurred which
would require the pen of a Macaulay to paint in
adequate colours. “The watchful populace,” says

d by Lord Paget, and Bequeathed to Robert, Earl of Essex—Paterson, the Auctioneer—
x Head "—Anecdote of the Young Pretender ~The Robin Hood Society—Chatles Dibdin—The

Mr. Diprose, “fearing the ‘Mayor’s sabmission, and
roused by Isabella’s proclamation, which had been
hung on the new cross in Cheapside, rose in arms
and took the keys. They ran to Exeter House,
then newly erected, fired the gates, and plundered
or burnt all the plate, money, jewels, and goods
that it contained. The bishop rode to the north
door of St. Paul’s to take sanctuary; but there
the mob tore him from off his horse, stripped him
of his armour, and dragging him to Cheapside,
proclaimed him a traitor and an enemy of their
liberties, and lopping off his head set it on a
pole.” Bishop Stapleton’s remains were buried
under a heap of rubbish or sand hard by his own
gateway.

At the Reformation the house was seized on by
Lord Paget, who called it after his name. The
great Earl of Leicester was its next occupant. He
changed it to “Leicester House,” and bequeathed
it to his son-in-law, the unfortunate favourite of
Queen Elizabeth, Robert, Earl of Essex, from whom
it derived the name under which it was known
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for many years, and the memory of which is still
retained in Essex Street. It will be remembered
that it was from this house that he made, towards
the end of Elizabeth’s reign, his frantic and im-
prudent sally, in the vain hope of exciting the
citizens of London to take up arms against their
Finding that his star at court was
sensibly waning after the death of Lord Burleigh,
and the estrangement of his sovereign, he listened
to the advice of those who would have had Raleigh,
Cecil, and Cobham banished from the Queen’s
councils. To strengthen his interest in antagonism
to the Queen and the Court, he threw open the
gates of Essex House to all discontented persons,
and especially to those of the Puritan party. In
February, 1601, he took part in an overt act of
rebellion, assembling his friends, to whom he stated
that his life was threatened by Raleigh and Cobham.
“«In consequence of this news, Lords Sandys and
Monteagle, the Earls of Rutland and Southampton,
with nearly 300 other gentlemen, assembled at
Essex House, where it was divulged that Essex
had resolved at once to rid himself of his enemies
by forcing his way to the Queen, and informing her
of his danger from those who had so long abused
their influence with her Majesty. Having shut
up within his gates the Lord Keeper, the Lord
Chief Justice, and others whom the Queen, aware
of what was passing, had sent to inquire into the
canse of the tumult, Essex proceeded with his
friends to the City, where, crying aloud, ‘For the
Queen! for the Queen! a plot is laid against my
life!’ he tried to enlist the citizens in his favour.
But notwithstanding his popularity no one took up
arms : the cause of the tumult was either unknown
or mistaken. At length the Earl endeavoured to
return home, but he was met by a party of soldiers
near Ludgate, where a tumult ensued, in which
he was twice shot through the hat. At last he
reached Essex House; but after a short defence he
was compelled to surrender, and along with Lord
Southampton was committed to the Tower. .
o He was tried for high treason in Westminster
Hall on the 15th of the same month, and executed
on the 25th on Tower Hil.” His son, the next
Karl, the celebrated Parliamentary general, was
born here ; and in the Cavalier songs of the day
the house is often alluded to as « Cuckold’s Hall.”
1t was here, according to Whitelocke, that the Earl,
after the battle of Newbury, received a deputation
from the House of Commons and the citizens of
London with the Speaker and the Lord Mayor at
their head.

Spenser thus speaks of Essex House in his
“ Prothalamiym ; "—
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4 Next whercunto there stands a stately place,
Where oft I gaynid gifts and goodly grace

Of that great Lord which therein wont to dwell,
‘Whose want too well now feeds my friendless case.”

It is said that Sir N. Throgmorton was poisoned
here ; and within its walls was lodged, in 1613, the
Count Palatine of the Rhine, when he came to
London as the accepted suitor of “ the Lady Eliza- |
beth,” daughter of James I. i

It appears that in or about 1640 the great
mansion of Essex Honse was divided, the one half
being let by Lord Essex on a long lease to William
Seymour, Earl of Hertford, whose name is so well
known to history in connection with that of Lady
Arabella Stuart. ‘Twenty years later we find Lord
Southampton, the Lord Treasurer of Charles IL,
living here; and the house was tenanted by Sir
Orlando Bridgman, the Lord Keeper in 1669, when
it is described by Pepys as “large but ugly.”
Strype tells us that after this it was purchased by
a builder, who appears to have converted the
site into a good speculation, the houses which he
erected in its place being soon occupied by “ the
quality.” Old Essex House was partly demolished
about the year 1682, and Essex Street rose on the
site of its ruins about two years later.

The other half of the original edifice long retained
its name of Essex House, and it is worthy of note
that it served as a receptacle for the Cottonian
Library in the reigns of Anne and George 1 it
appears that this part of the house was afterwards
{ inhabited by an auctioneer. It was at Essex House,

according to Horace Walpole, that this auctioneer,

named Paterson, in 1761, first offered for public

i sale subjects in painted glass—the art of producing

| which appears to have been lost—imported by him

from Flanders.

l It must be owned that the architecture of Essex
Street, with its unsightly square-headed archway at
the lower end, leading by a flight of stone steps to
the Embankment, is by no means attractive or

.| tasteful ; but in this respect it resembles its pre-

cursor, Essex House, which is described by Pepys
as a “large but ugly ” mansion. The property was
| divided and let, as stated above, and ultimately
| the house was pulled down and the materials sold,
' towards the middle of the reign of George IIL,
from which the present houses date. ~The arch
and the steps at the end of the street are said by
John Timbs to have formed the water-gate of old
Essex House; if so, we can only say that it pre-
sented a sorry contrast to the work of Inigo Jones
half a mile further west. In a view of the “Frost
Fair” on the Thames in the reign of Charles IL,
where the royal party are walking on to the ic¢ at
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the Temple stairs, to witness the sport, this heavy
archway is seen in the background, and through it
can be descried the gardens and terraces and the
eaves of Essex House.

At the “Essex Head” in this street (now No.
40), the year before he died (1783), Dr. Johnson
established a club called “ Sam’s,” for the benefit
of the landlord, one Samuel Greaves, who had
been an old servant of his friends, the Thrales. It
was not so select as the Literary Club, but cheaper.
Johnson, in writing to Sir Joshua Reynolds, and
asking him to join it, says, “The terms are lax
and the expenses light; we meet thrice a week,
and he who misses forfeits twopence.” The rules
of this club, as drawn up by Dr. Johnson himself,
will be found at length in Boswell’s ¢ Life ;” and
our readers may be amused to learn that the
“forfeit” for non-attendance being found too low,
was raised to three-pence !

It was in Essex Street that Dr. King, as we learn
from his “Anecdotes of His Own Time,” was
privately presented by Lady Primrose, “in her
dressing-room,” to Prince Charles Edward Stuart,
“the Young Pretender,” during his short, secret,
and stolen visit to London, between the sth and
the 11th of September, 1750. The house of this
same lady, in this street, some three years before,
curiously enough, had afforded a temporary home
to Flora Macdonald, after her release from the
mild imprisonment to which she had been sub-
jected by the Government.

In the year 1613 the Robin Hood Society was
established at the house of Sir Hugh Middleton in
this street. 1t was removed to the “Robin Hood”
Tavern in Butcher Row, when it was presided over
by a baker. “Here,” Mr. Diprose tells us, “ Burke
displayed those oratorical powers which afterwards
became so transcendent. When, becoming recon-
ciled to the Pitt administration, he went over to
the Tory benches, exclaiming, ‘I quit the camp,’
Sheridan instantly rose and observed, ‘As the
honourable gentleman had quitted them as a
deserter, he hoped he would not return as a spy ;”
and when the king settled a pension on Burke,
Sheridan remarked that ‘it was no wonder that

- Mr. Burke should come to the House of Commons
for his bread, when he formerly went to a baker for
his eloquence '—meaning the Robin Hood Club.”
Poor Oliver Goldsmith was a member of this club.
The meetings were held on Monday nights, when
questions were proposed on which any one present
might speak if he did not exceed seven minutes,
When these were finished, the *‘baker,” who pre-
sided with a hammer in his hand, summed up the
arguments,

In 1788 Charles Dibdin, being “tired of dra-
matic uncertainties,” made a start on his own
account by turning some rooms in this street into
a theatre of his own, from which, however, he soon
afterwards moved to a more fashionable neigh-
bourhood further west.

On the west side of Essex Street is a once noted
chapel of the Unitarian body, in which in the course
of the last hundred years have ministered in suc-
cession Theophilus Lindsey, Dr. Disney, Thomas
Belsham, and Thomas Madge.

Of the founder of this Unitarian chapel it may
be well here to add a few particulars. His name
was Theophilus Lindsey, and he was a godson
of the Earl of Huntingdon, in whose family his
mother had resided. He took his degree at St.
John’s College, Cambridge, and was presented by a
connection of the Huntingdon family, whilst quite
a young man, with the chapel in Spital Square. -He
afterwards became chaplain to Algernon, Duke
of Somerset, and after the duke’s death was con-
tinued in the same post by the Duchess, who
sent him abroad with her grandson, the Duke of
Northumberland, as tutor. Having held for a few
years a living in Dorsetshire, he exchanged it, by
the interest of his old friend Lord Huntingdon, for
that of Catterick in Yorkshire, where he was pro-
mised a bishopric in Ireland on the appointment
of Viscount Townshend as Lord Lieutenant. In
1773, on account of scruples which he had long
cherished, he resigned his Yorkshire living and
became a convert to Unitarianism. He preached
his first sermon at Essex House in 1774, and the
new chapel was opened shortly after, Franklin,
with many other eminent men, being present.
He acted as pastor of it for twenty years, during
the latter part being assisted by Dr. Disney, who
had also seceded from the Church of England. He
died in 1808. Whatever we may think of the
creed which he adopted, we can have but one
opinion of his honesty and courage, and must
admire the man who in a selfish and thoughtless |
age could sacrifice his worldly prospects to his
conscience. The chapel was built on part of the
site of the property of Essex House. In the
forecourt, facing Essex Street, a monument was
erected in 1880 in honeur of the first twelve
originators of Sunday Schools, from the time of
Cardinal Borromeo in 1580 to that of Theophilus
Lindsay and Robert Raikes in 1780, Among the
eatliest inhabitants of Essex Street were Dr.
Hugh Chamberlain (the author of several works
on banks of credit, on land, security, &c.) and
Arthur Maynwaring, Here also lived Dr. George
Fordyce, a noted of the eigt
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century. In Jeaffreson’s “ Book about Doctors,”
we are told that “during twenty years he dined
daily at ¢ Dolly’s’ chop-house, and at his meat he
always took a jug of strong ale, a quarter of a
pint of brandy, and a bottle of port. Having im-
bibed these refreshing stimulants, he walked back
to his house, and gave a lecture to his pupils.”
The late Lord Cholmondeley, who died in 1770,
and who was not unknown as an antiquary, used
to say that one day, when visiting a house in this

street, he found, scratched to all appearance with a
diamond, on a weather-stained piece of glass in a
top room, the following letters, “1.c.U.5.X.
& E. r,” which he interpreted, “I see you, Essex,
and Elizabeth Regina.” If he was right in his
interpretation, it would seem probable that some
inquisitive occupant of this room, overlooking Essex
House, had seen the Queen when visiting the Earl,
and, like Captain Cuttle, had on the spot “made a
note” of it.

CHAPTER XIL

THE STRAND :-SOUTHERN TRIBUTARIES (continued).
“All the blood of the Howards."—Pgpe.
#lilford Lane—~The Chapel of the Holy Ghost—The Jiiustrated London News—Messrs. Woodfall and Kinder's—Arundel House—The An_lnd:l
Collection—Lord Seymour's Dalliance with the Princess Elizbeth—The Duc de Sully at Arundel House—* OId Parr”—Distinguished

Inhabitants of Arundel Strect—The **Crown and Auchor” Tavern—The Whittington Club—The Temple Club—Messrs. W, H. Smith and
Son's News Agency—An Early News Mart—Strand Lanc—The Qld Roman Bath—Jacob Tonson.

It may reasonably be supposed that just on the
west of Temple Bar the ground five or six centuries
ago was marshy and low, and that a brook ran
thence into the Thames. This, too, is rendered
probable by the name of Milford Lane, which leads
down from St. Clement’s Church to the river-side ;
and the supposition is confirmed by the fact that
in 180z the remains of a bridge of stone, eleven
feet in length, and covered by rubbish, was found
on digging between Temple Bar and the east end
of St. Clement’s Church, as stated already in a
previous chapter. It is suggested by Mr. T. C.
Noble, in his “Memorials of Temple Bar,” that
this was probably the very bridge mentioned in
the reign of Edward IIL as built by the Templars
of that day by command of the king. Towards
its lower end the lane winds round to the east,
meeting the steps at the bottom of Essex Street.
‘This part of the parish appears to have been always
inhabited by the poorer and less *respectable”
classes ; and it suffered accordingly most severely
from the Plague in 1663,

Stow remarks that lie could not account for the
origin of the name of Milford Lane ; but no doubt
it comes from a _ford—not over the Thames, as Mr.
Timbs suggests, but across the little stream which
ran there across and under the Strand into the
Thames, near which was a mi/. Mr. Timbs tells
us that the former is shown in a print of the reign
of James I, and that he has seen a “token” of
the Windmill, near Temple Bar ; but this may pos-
sibly have been an inn. It is a narrow, crooked,
and ill-built thoroughfare, and now contains more
stables and warehouses than private dwellings.

Yet it was once well tenanted. In it lived Sir
Richard Baker, the author of the * Chronicles,”
which, as most readers of the Speator will re-
member, was the favourite work of Sir Roger de
Coverley. The rectors of St. Clement Danes for
many generations dwelt about half-way down the
lane. The site of the old rectory is now occupied
by an infant school.

An unwelcome notoriety has been given to this
lane in a poem by Henry Saville, commonly attri-
buted to the witty Earl of Dorset, and beginning—

“In Milford Lane, near to St. Clement’s steeple;”

and Gay also mentions it in his “Trivia,” in the
following terms :—
“Behold that narrow street which steep descends,

‘Whose building to the slimy shore extends.

Here Arundel's famed structure rear’d its frame,

The street alone retains an cmpty name ;

There Essex’ stately pile adorn’d the shore,

There Cecil, Bedford, Villiers—now no more.”

The lane, it should be mentioned here, when it
really was a lane, acted as a boundary between the
property of Lord Essex on the east, and that of
the Earl of Arundel on the west.

Tradition assures us that in the Strand, between
Essex Street and Milford Lane, was formerly a
chapel dedicated to the Holy Ghost ; but no prints
of it have been preserved, nor is it known when or
by whom it was founded, or when it passed away.
Mr. Newton, in his “ London in the Olden Time,”
conjectures that it was originally a chapel belonging
to the Knights Templars, and that in after time it
became the chapel of the Bishop of Exeter’s Inn.
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He identifies its site, as nearly as possible, with
the Unitarian chapel in Essex Street already men-
tioned.

At the top of the lane, on the eastern side, there
stood down to about the year r850 some pic-
turesque wooden houses, with gables and orna-
mental fronts; but these were pulled down to
make room for the erection of Milford House, in
which since that date the /Zustrated London News
has been printed. It is published at the corner of
Milford Lane and the Strand, on the other side of
the way. This paper—the first of our “illustrated”
journals—was started by the late Mr. Herbert
Ingram, a native of Boston, in 1841, and by his
energy and ability soon grew into a splendid pro-
perty ; but it needs no description here. We
should, however, record in this place his melan-
choly death by drowning in 1860, on one of the
American inland lakes. At the opposite corner
house was published in 1858 its short-lived rival,
the Zlustrated News of the World,

At the bottom of this lane is the printing-office
of Messrs. Woodfall and Kinder. It was Mr.
Woodfall's grandfather who printed the famous
“Letters of Junius.” “The business,” says Mr.
John Timbs, “was first established about the year
1720, in Grocers’ Hall Court, and in Angel Court,
Skinner Street, George Woodfall printed his edition
of ¢ Junius ’—the first book printed there,”

Between Milford Lane and Strand Lane—a
narrow and rather winding thoroughfare leading to
the Embankment a few yards to the east of Somer-
set House—the entire space, about three hundred
yards in length and the same in breadth, formed
the site of the town residence of the Howards,
Earls of Arundel and Dukes of Norfolk. It was a
dull, heavy structure, as may be seen from Hollar's
prints; but its gardens and terraces were as exten-
sive as befitted the dignity of so noble a house and
family. The outlines and extent of the estate, as
it was in the days of the Stuarts, may be easily
gathered' from the names subsequently given to the
streets which were laid out upon its site, per-
petuating the names of Norfolk, Arundel, Howard,
and Surrey—names so familiar to the readers of
English history under the Tudors, and also to the
students of art and antiquity. Hollars prints,
however, do not give a very attractive view of it,
for though it covered a considerable space, the
buildings themselves were low and mean.

But it did not belong to the Howards in very
ancient days, having been before the Reformation
the “Inn” or house of the Bishops of Bath and
Wells, and known also as Hampton House. In
the reign of Henry VIIL, or of his successor

Edward VL, it was seized and appropriated by
royalty, and from royal hands it passed by an easy
transition into the hands of Lord Thomas Seymour
of Sudley, High Admiral of England, brother of
the Protector Somerset, who called it Seymour
Place. On the execution of Lord Seymour for
treason, the dead lord’s house was bought, together
with its gardens and lands adjoining, by Henry
Fitzalan, Earl of Arundel ; and, Strype tells us, for
the incredibly small sum of little more than forty
pounds. This Lord Arundel, at his death in 1579,
was succeeded in his title by his grandson, Philip
Howard, son of the Duke of Norfolk who had
been beheaded for taking part with Mary, Queen
of Scots ; and though Philip Howard died in exile
and attainted, his son Thomas contrived to obtain
from James I. a reversal of the attainder and a
restoration of his coronet.

Under this Earl of Arundel, the house which
stood here became not merely a depét, but the
very home and centre of art and art treasures, as
the repository of that collection long known as the
“ Arundelian Marbles,” and * of which,” to use the
words of Mr. Peter Cunningham,  the very ruins are
now ornaments to several private cabinets.” We
learn that the collection, when in its entire state,
comprised no less than 37 statues, 128 busts, and
250 inscribed marbles, besides sarcophagi, altars,
gems, and fragments of ancient art, all antique, and
obtained with great care and discriminating skill in
Italy. Besides these, “there really belonged to
the collection a variety of other art-treasures which
the Earl had purchased in Italy, but which he
never could obtain leave to transport to England.”
However fanlty he may be represented by Lord
Clarendon, his judgment as 2 connoisseur in the
fine arts will always remain undisputed. ~ Views of
the galleries in Arundel House are to be seen in
the backgrounds of Van Somer’s portraits of the
Earl and Countess.

During the Cromwellian wars, Arundel House
and its contents, of which, especially at that time,
any nobleman might well have been proud, were
given back to the Earl of Arundel’s grandson,
Henry Howard, sixth Duke of Norfolk, who, at the
recommendation of John Evelyn and John Selden,
the author of “Marmora Arundeliana,” gave the
marbles to the University of Oxford, which they
still adorn, and the library to the Royal Society,
which held its meetings for some time at Arundel
House.

The Compleat Gentleman, a publication of the
seventeenth century, informs the world, and with
some truth, that to the Earl’s “liberal charges and
magnificence this angle of the world oweth the first
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sight of Greek and Roman statues, with whose | design was one Thomas Parry, cofferer to the
admired presence he began to honour the gardens | princess, to. whom he oﬂ"cre_d for her Grace;’s
and galleries of Arundel House, and hath ever since | accommodation the use of his house and all its
continued to transplant old Greece to England.” | furniture during her stay in .London. The queen’s
It may be mentioned here that the remainder of death, and her own suspicions on her death-bed,
the Earl of Arundel’s coilection was kept for many | gave just cause for the worst surmises. ~Seymour’s

JACOB TONSON. (Sz page 79.)

years at Tart House, the residence of Howard, the execution, which soon followed, put an end to his
unfortunate Lord Stafford, in Pimlico, and was  projects, and saved Elizabeth and the nation from
ultimately sold in 1720. | a tyrant possibly worse than him from whom they
“This place,” says Pennant, “was one of the had but a few years before been released.” The
scenes of Lord Seymour’s indecent dalliance with | whole of Seymour’s infamous conduct respecting
the Princess Elizabeth, afterwards queen. At first | the unhappy Queen Dowager is fully detailed in
he certainly was not ill received, notwithstanding = Lord Burleigh’s State papers.
he had just espoused the unhappy Catherine Parr. | Arundel House came to the Duke of Norfolk
Ambition, not lust, actuated this wretched man; | from the Earl of Arandel by the marriage which
his designs on Elizabeth, and consequently on the | united in one line the Fitzalans and the Howards.
crown, spurred him on.  The instrument of his | While tenanted by the Howards, the mansion is
108
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described as “a large and old-built house, with 2
spacious yard for stabling towards the Strand, and
with a2 gate to enclose it, where there was the
porter’s lodge, and as large a garden towards the
Thames.”

The house was at one time occupied by the Duc
de Sully, who in spite of its humble appearance on
the outside, tells us that it was one of the finest and
most convenient in London, on account of the
number of rooms and apartments on the ground-
floor. At Arundel House, too, in its best and
palmy days, John Evelyn and his family were
frequent visitors, He tells us in his “Diary,”
under date July, 1662, that he was forced to
take home his son John, “who had been much
brought up amongst Mr. Howard’s children here,
for feare of their perverting him to the Catholic
religion.”

Arundel House, too, is in other ways connected
with history. To it the Earl invited Hollar, the
artist, who engraved some of his finest plates while
enjoying its princely hospitality—among others his [
(now very scarce) “ View of London from the Roof
of Arundel House.” There also lived for a short
time Lord William Howard, the “ Belted Will” of
border fame. And there also, in November, 1635,
died Thomas Parr, known to the world as “Old
Pamr,” having been invited to come thither from
his home in Shropshire, in order to become domesti-
cated in the Farl’s household, and to be introduced
to Charles I, when upwards of a century and a
half old. He did not, however, long survive the
change ; high feeding and the close air of London
in a few months brought him to his grave, at the
age of 152 years and nine months. His body, as
we leamn from the Philosopiical Transactions, was
dissected at the king’s command by Harvey, who
attributed the old man’s death to peripneumonia,
brought on by the impurity of a London atmo-
sphere and sudden change in his diet.

Taylor, the water poet, gives us the following |
description of Old Parr, when he saw him in
London :—

‘¢ His limbs their strength have left,
His teeth all gone but one, his sight bereft,
His sinews shrunk, his blood most chill and cold—
Small solace I~imperfections manifold.
Vet still his spirits possess his mortal trunk,
Nor are his senses in his ruins shrunk 8
But that his hearing’s quick, his stomach good,
He'll feed well, sleep well, well digest his food.
He will speak merrily, laugh, and be merry,
Drink ale, and now and then a cup of sherry ;
Loves company and understanding talk,
And (on both sides held up) will often walk.
And though old age his face with wrinkles fill,

He hath been handsome, and is comely still 5

Well fac'd ; and though his beard not oft corrected,
Yet neat it grows, not like a beard neglected,
From head to heel his body hath all over

A quick-set, thick-set, natural, hairy cover.”

Thomas Parr, according to the inscription on his
tomb in Westminster Abbey, was born in Shropshire
in 1483; and it is added, “he lived in the reign of
ten princes, viz., Edward IV., Edward V., Richard
111, Henty VIL, Henry VIIL, Edward V1., Mary,
Elizabeth, James I, and Charles I.; aged 1 52
years, and was buried here Nov. 15, 1635. He
lived at Alberbury, in Shropshire ; had an illegiti-
mate child born to hiin when over 100 years old;
and married his second wife, Catherine Milton, at
the age of 120. By her he had one child, and
after his second marriage he was employed in
threshing, and other husbandry work. King Charles,
on seeing him, said, ¢ You have lived longer than
other men ; now what have you done more than
other men?’  ‘Sir, he replied, ‘1 did penance
when I was a hundred years old’” There is a
portrait of Old Parr, said to be by Rubens.

“When Arundel House was pulled down,” in the
seventeenth century, we are told by Allen, “ there
was a design to build 2 mansion-house for the family
out of the accumulated rents on that part of the
gardens which faced the river, and an Act of Par-
liament was obtained for the purpose; but the
design was never carried out” He adds that it
was to Arundel House that the Royal Society re-
moved from Gresham College, after the Fire of
London, being invited thither by Henry, Duke of
Norfolk. They returned to their old home in
1674, soon after which the house was sentenced to
be taken down. The Duke, as we are informed
by Pennant, had presented his valuable library to
the society.

It would seem, from Gay’s “ Trivia,” that for a
long time after the demolition of Arundel House
the eastern part of the Strand lay forsaken and
neglected, thongh perhaps there may be some little
amount of poetic exaggeration in the following
lines :—

¢ Where Arundel’s famed structure reared its frame,
The street alone retains an empty name ;
‘Where Titian’s glowing paint the canvas warm'd,
And Raphael’s fair design in canvas charm’d,
Now hangs the bellman’s song, and pasted there
The coloured prints of Overton appear.
‘Where statues breathed the work of Phidias’ hands,
A wooden pump or lonely watch-house stands.”

Arundel Street, however, built in 1678 on
part of the site of Arundel House, has had in its
time some distinguished inhabitants, Amongst
others were Simon Harecourt, afterwards Lord
Chancellor ; Rymer, the antiquary, and author of
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the celebrated “Feedera;” John Anstis, Garter
King-at-Arms ; and the wellknown actress, Mrs.
Porter,

At the upper end of this street, on the site of the
Temple Club, formerly stood the noted “Crown
and Anchor” Tavern—so named, no doubt, from
the anchor of St. Clement already alluded to—the
head-quarters of the Westminster Reformers in the
days of Fox and “Old Glory,” Sir Francis Burdett.
Here, too, were held many of the meetings of the
Catholic Association before the passing of the
Roman Catholic Relief Act in 1829. The tavern
stood as nearly as possible on the site of the build-
ings in which the Academy of Ancient Music was
first instituted in the reign of Queen Annc. The
premises extended a considerable way down the
street, and at the back of them was a large and
spacious room, upwards of eighty feet long, which
was used as a banqueting apartment. Upon the
occasion of Fox’s birthday, in 1798, a great ban-
quet was given here, at which 2,000 Reformers sat
down to drink the toast of “The People the Source
of Power.”

Here the portly form of Dr. Johnson, in com-
pany with his friend Boswell, might often be seen ;
and during the Westminster elections in the last
century it became one of the principal houses
where the candidates of both sides were wont to
address the constituents, It was at the “Crown
and Anchor” that Daniel O’Connell first assailed
that “venerable champion of civil and religious
liberty,” Henry Brougham ; and it was here, too,
that Cobbett fell foul of Sir Francis Burdett, who, we
are told, “at once angrily responded by stating that
Cobbett owed him a thousand pounds. Cobbett
acknowledged receiving the money, but stated
that it was a gift, and consequently not a debt.”
The “King of Clubs” was instituted here early
in the present century; its members met every

Saturday. One of the chief members was Richard |

Sharpe, 2 West India merchant and a well-known
Parliamentary speaker during Addington’s and
Percival's administrations.

The coffee-room of the “Crown and Anchor”
had for many years hanging upon its walls a picture
which caused some stir among the parishioners of
St. Clement Danes early in the last century. 1t
appears that in 1725 the parish was thrown into a
state of commotion by an order from Dr. Gibson,
then Bishop of London, for the removal of an altar-
piece lately painted by Kent, which had cost no
small sum, and was supposed to be really a satire
on the reigning house of Hanover, by containing
scarcely disguised portraits of.the wife and children
of “The Pretender.” The painting, of course, at

once became famous, and Hogarth engraved an
exact fac-simile of it, as may be seen in Nichol's
“Biographical Anecdotes” of that painter. The
original, after being removed from the church, was
hung up in the coffee-room of this tavern, from
which it was subsequently removed into the parish
vestry-room.

In 1846 the Whittington Club was instituted at
Ithe “Crown and Anchor,” under the auspices of
| Douglas Jerrold and several other gentlemen con-
nected with literature and art. The “ Whittington
Club and Metropolitan Athenzum,” for such was
its ambitious name, was founded as a cheap club
for men and women of the middle or upper-middle
classes, and “with a view to throw open to them
those increased physical comforts and facilities for
moral and intellectual education, which are the
most attractive characteristics of modern London
life, but which, in the absence of individual wealth,
associated members can alone command.” Accord-
ingly, in addition to the usual conveniences in the
way of dining, &c., courses of lectures, and classes
in chemistry, music, modern languages, and litera-
ture, &c., were established, together with weekly
re-unions, in which dancing had a place. The
subscription was low, 41 1s. or £z zs. yearly,
according to the residence of the member in
country or in town ; and ros. 6d. for ladies.

The Whittington Club was named after Richard
Whittington, the former “Lord Mayor of great
London,” and in one of its large rooms hung a
picture of “ Dick Whittington listening to the sound
of Bow Bells,” by Newenham, which was given to
the club by its founder. The original premises of
the “Crown and Anchor” were burnt down in
1854, but they were subsequently rebuilt on the
former plan. The Whittington Club, however, lan-
guished, and at last came to an end in 1873.
The building then underwent considerable altera-
tion, and at the end of the same year was re-opened
as the Temple Club. The house, which was erected
at a cost of more than 20,000, contains above
thirty rooms ; what was formerly the hall, a magni-
ficent apartment, capable of seating 1,000 persons,
became the diningroom. One of the principal
| objects which the founders had in view was to
| “create the nucleus of a community whose mem-

bers, uninfluenced by any political bias and un-
| confined to any literary or scientific pursuit, might
lenjoy a neutral ground whereon to reciprocate
their ideas with regard to art, literature, and
science.” The Temple Club in 1881, when it was
broken up, numbered about 2,000 members.

[ At the opposite corner of Arundel Street, with
| its principal entrance in the Strand, is that great
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emporinm of modern intelligence, the news-agency
of Messrs. Smith and Son, which is, perhaps, the
most extraordinary house of business in London,
not alone from the rapidity and dexterity of its
operations, but the facility and certainty with which
business is transacted to such an enormous extent
in so short a time. The building is lofty, and
covers a large space of ground, and is complete in
every department.  On the ground-floor is a noble
and spacious hall, forming almost the extent of the
entire premises, and is surrounded by two galleries.
The bustle is at its height about five o'clock in the
morning, when vehicles are bringing in the morning
papers from the different printing-offices : these are
at once folded into oblong packages, wrapped in
brown paper covers already addressed, and dis-
patched in light red carts to the various railway
stations for transmission to different parts of the
world. Thousands of newspapers are transmitted
to their destination in the course of the week from
this establishment, and a large staff of clerks are
engaged, besides men and boys employed in the
packing departments, In addition to this extensive
wholesalé newspaper business, Messrs. Smith have
established a circulating library upon a most exten-
sive scale, from which subscribers can borrow and
return, at any of their establishments and agents,
all the best and leading books of the day. Printing,
advertising, and bookbinding likewise form im-

portant items in this vast commercial blishment,

severance of its projector was such that he boldly
pursued his course under all its difficulties, and
eventually won his way, acquiring the largest
newspaper agency trade in London, to which he
then devoted himself wholly and solely, giving up
entirely the stationery business with which he had
previously incorporated it. =~ As time changes all
things, so coach travelling was superseded by rail-
way locomotion, and Mr. Smith was not slow in
adapting the conduct of his business to suit this
wonderful alteration. In 1852 Mr. Smith retired
into private life, and for above six years he resided
at Bournemouth, doing all the good he could in
his new neighbourhood, for his activity was such
that he could not be idle. He died in 1865.”
The son of this gentleman, and the present head
of the establishment, is Mr. William Henry Smith.
He was Financial Secretary of the Treasury from
1874 to 1877, and First Lord of the Admiralty
from 1877 to 1880. In 1880 he became First
Lord of the Treasury, and Leader of the House of
Commons in 1886.

A rough idea may be formed of the vast extent
of the literary agency which is at work in the
dissemination of information through newspapers
and other publications of a serial kind, one-third
of which it is calculated pass through the hands of
Messrs. Smith, when we give our readers the following
statement, courteously furnished by the editor of
“ The N Press Directory” :—* There are

and so admirable are the arrangements that each
department is complete in itself, and conducted as
a separate business ; the whole giving employment
to something like a thousand hands.

From the Bookseller we learn that Mr. W. H.
Smith, the father of the present proprietor, and
founder of this gigantic establishment, was born in
the year 1792, and “at a very early age undertook
the management of a newspaper business at the
West-end of the town, removing in a few years to
the site of the present premises. At the early part
of this century newspapers required two days to go
to Manchester, Liverpool, and other great towns
far distant from London, for they were only con-
veyed by the night coaches, which took from twenty
to thirty hours to reach their various destinations, so
that Monday’s newspapers could not be received
before Wednesday morning. To obviate this
inconvenient delay Mr. Smith started express carts
and saddle-horses, so as to overtake the early
morning coaches, and thus the day’s paper was
delivered by the morrow, making a saving of
twenty-four hours in the transmission.  For some
time this admirable project scarcely paid its way,
and it seemed almost a failure; but the per-

now (1889) published in the United Kingdom 2,176
newspapers  distributed as follows :—England—
London, 463; provinces, 1277—1740; Wales,
87; Scotland, 190; Ireland, 146 ; British Isles,
23, Of these there are—133 daily papers published
in England: 6 ditto in Wales ; 19 ditto in Scot-
land ; 15 ditto in Ireland; r ditto in the British
Isles. On reference to the first edition of this
useful Directory, for 1846, we find the following
interesting facts—viz., that in that year there were
published in the United Kingdom 551 journals ; of
these 14 were issued daily, viz., 12 in England and
2 in Ireland ; but in 1889 there are now established
and circulated 2,176 papers, of which no less than
174 are issued daily, showing that the press of the
country has more than quadrupled during the last
forty-three years. The increase in daily papers
has been still more remarkable ; the daily issues
standing 174 against 14 in 1846. The magazines
now in course of publication, including the quarterly
reviews, number 1,593, of which 400 are of a
decidedly religious character, representing the
Church of England, Wesleyans, Methodists, Bap-
tists, Independents, Roman Catholics, and other
Christian communities.”
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It is not a little singular that a century and a
half ago the chief news-mart stood not far from
this very place. In proof of this assertion we would
quote the following passage from the Zondon Spy
published in 1725:—“Now I am in this neigh-
bourhood I know it will be expected that some
notice should be taken of Mr. William, the faithfal
messenger of the Muses, who is constantly ad-
ministering to the public the advices foreign and
domestick, and is early every morning ranging his
papers in order, . . . according to their seniority
and credit respectively, upon the counter.” The
list of these, with which the writer favours us, is
strange and well worth a passing note :—The Daily
Courant he posts first, as superior in credit to any
other, excepting the Gazette, for the affairs abroad.
After him the Daily Fournal and Daily Post, as
the two intelligencers at home. The Post Boy
takes the right hand of the #lying Post and Post-
man, and the weekly journals and pamphlets are
piled in the window on one side. Those paying
no stamp duties are not permitted to herd among
the friends of the Revenue. But this is not all.
The Strand, if second, has been for a century second
only to Fleet Street in literary interest of this par-
ticular kind. At No. 132 an enterprising citizen
named Wright established, in 1740, the first of
those circulating libraries which, for nearly a century
and a half, have afforded so large a market for our
novelists. Mr. John Timbs tells us that he was so
far successful that he shortly had four rivals in
Holborn, Fleet Street, and in his own more imme-
diate neighbourhood ; but some of these must have
failed, if it be true, as stated by him, that in 1770
there were only four circulating libraries in the
entire metropolis. Another literary celebrity, con-
nected with the Strand, was the friend of Pope,
old Jacob Tonson, of whom we give a pestrait on
page 73, and of whom we shall have more to say
at the close of the chapter.

A narrow and rather winding lane a few yards
to the east of Somerset House, and just opposite
to St. Mary’s Church, led in former times to the
water-side. It was called Strand Lane, and the
pier or small landing-place at the bottom of it
was known as “Strand Bridge.” In it was a
row of old tenements formerly known as Golden
Buildings, but the name has disappeared. On its
western side stood the “Strand Inn” The

“landing-place on the bank of the Thames® at |
this spot is mentioned by Stow, and no doubtl

apricot boats at Strand Bridge, after having put
in at Nine Elms and taken in melons, consigned
by Mr. Cuffe of that place to Sarah Sewell and
Company, at their stall.in Covent Garden.”

Mr. Newton, in his “London in the Olden Time,”
says that the bottom of Strand Lane appears to
have been an ancient landing-place, communicating
directly with Lambeth, and with the Via de Alde-
wych, which led toward the north-west country.

It is just worth noting here that the term
“Strand Bridge ” was applied by Stow and others
to a bridge ## the Strand, by which the roadway
just to the west of the Maypole was carried over a
brook. In the present century, too, it was the
name originally designed for Sir John Rennie’s
noble structure subsequently known as Waterloo
Bridge.

It is thought by antiquaries that Strand Lane,
which is somewhat tortuous, follows pretty nearly
the line of a little brook or rivulet which carried
off the water from the higher grounds about
Catherine Street and Drury Lane, passing under
the thoroughfare of the Strand, which, as Stow
observes, was carried over it by a bridge. On the
left-hand side of this lane, in passing from the
Strand, may be noticed 2 somewhat rural-looking
cottage, on which hangs a notice that within is
“The old Roman Bath.” It will thus be $een that
passengers along the Strand in the present day are
within some fifty or sixty feet of one of the oldest
structures in London, one of its few real and
genuine remains which date from the era of the
Roman occupation of England, and possibly even
as far back as the reigns of Titus or Vespasian, if
not of Julius Cesar himself.

The piece of land in which the bath is sitnated
formed part of the property of a very ancient
family, the Danvers (or D’Anvers), of Swithland,
in Leicestershire; and although the existence of
the bath was evidently unknown to Stow, Maitland,
Pennant, and Malcolm, from the absence of any
mention of it in their pages, yet, from time imme-
morial, in the neighbourhood, the fact of its being
a Roman bath has been received with implicit
credence.

There is apparently a dim tradition existing, to
the effect that the bath had been closed up for a
long period, and then re-discovered. Of this old
bath Mr. Newton observes in his “London in the
Olden Time,” that it is “ withont doubt a veritable
Roman structure, as an inspection of the old walls

was constantly used by the inmates of the Inn. |will prove.” A descent of four or five steps leads

Occasionall Rh

, it afforded

»dation | to a lofty vaulted passage, on the left of which is

to other persons; and in the Spectator, No. 454, |2 doorway leading into a vaulted chamber, about
we read how Addison “landed with ten sail of | sixteen feet in length, the same in height, and about
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nine feet in width, in the floor of which is the bath | by thin layers of stucco; whilst the pavement
itself. This is about thirteen feet long, six broad, | consists of a layer of similar brick covered with
and four feet six inches deep. Mr. Charles Knight, | stucco, and rests upon a mass of stucco and rubble,
in his “London,” tells us that “the spring is said | The bricks are nine inches and a half long, four
to be connected with the neighbouring holy well, | inches and a half broad, and an inch and three-
which gives name to Holywell Street, and their | quarters thick. At the farther end of the bath is a

|

OLD ROMAN BATH, STRAND LANE. (Se page 77.)

respective position makes the statement probable. small projecting strip or ledge of white marble, and
Through the beautiful clear water, which is also as | beneath it 2 hollow in the wall slanting down to
delightful to the taste as refreshing to the eye, one corer. These are beyond doubt the remains
appear the sides and bottom of the bath, exhibiting, ' of a flight of steps which once led down into the
we are told, the undoubted evidences of the high | water. Mr. Charles Knight adds :—* Immediately
origin ascribed to it.” The walls of the building ‘ opposite the steps was a door connected with a
are formed of layers of brick, of that peculiar flat | vaulted passage, still existing below ; and towards
and neat-looking aspect which certainly seem to | the back of three houses in Surrey Street, and
imply the impress of Roman hands, divided only ' continuing from thence upwards in the direction of

oy
-

S
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the Strand.  These vaults have some remarkable | through the sandy bottom, and its flow is pretty

features ; among others, there is a low arch of a very | even, both winter and summer.

There are no

peculiar form, the rounded top projecting gradually | pipes which supply it; and as it has in no way
forward beyond the line of its sides, in the house | been affected by the excavations for the Law
immediately behind the bath.” The bath is per- | Courts, nor for the Underground Railway, which
petually supplied from the spring, and discharges | runs along the Embankment, it is plainly natural,
at the rate of ten tons per day. The water in this ' and not artificial, and sparkles as clear as crystal.

GOLDEN BUILDINGS.

old Roman bath, which is beautifully clear and
extremely cold, is now used solely for drinking ;
there is, however, another bath-room on the right
of the passage by which we entered, which is used
as a plunging bath, and is open all the year round.
This new bath, the proprietor tells us, “was built
by the Earl of Essex, in the reign of Queen Eliza-
beth, 1588.” The source of the water which
supplies this bath is unknown., It bubbles up

(Sez page 77.)

It may as well be mentioned here, though we
have not travelled quite as far westward yet, that
at No. r4r in the Strand, between St Mary’s
Church and the corner of Wellington Street, on a
site now covered by part of Somerset House, was
the book-shop of Jacob Tonson, the friend and
publisher of Pope, &c. Hither he removed from
Gray’s Inn Gateway in 1712, and the shop was
known by the sign of the *Shakespeare’s Head.”
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It is described as being “over against Catherine | Dryden, and Pope; and his edition of Clarke’s
Street.” “Caesar,” which issued from his shop in 1712,

The subsequent history of the house occupied | is said to have been the largest and most ex-
by Tonson is thus told by Mr. Peter Cunning- | pensive work which up to that time had been
ham :—* The house (No. 141), since rebuilt, was | published in England. It was this Jacob Tonson
afterwards occupied by Andrew Millar, the pub-
lisher, and friend of Thomson, Fielding, Hume, and
Robertson ; and, after Millar’s death, by Thomas

“Kit-Cat” Club painted for him in a uniform
size, which still retains the name. On retiring
Cadell, his apprentice, the friend and publisher of | from business he lived chiefly at Barne Elms, in
Gibbon. Thomson’s Seasons,” Fielding’s ‘Tom | the village of Barnes, where his house was for
Jones,’ and the ¢ Histories” of Hume, Robertson, | many years a centre of literary society. He died
and Gibbon, were first published at this house.!in 1736, but his memory survives, having been
Millar was 2 Scotchman, and, true to his country | kept alive on the title-pages of many great works
and countrymen, distinguished his house by sub- in the eighteenth century, and by the pen of Mr.
stituting Buchanan’s head for that of Shakspeare | Charles Knight, in his “Shadows of the London
as its sign. Could any one save a Scotchman have | Booksellers.” In a dialogue between Tonson and
been guilty of such a deed of Vandalism ?” Congreve, published in 1714, in 2 volume of
The name of Jacob Tonson is familiar to every ‘ poems by Rowe, there is a pleasant description
reader, not only of Pope, but of Horace Walpole, of Tonson before he was spoiled by grand asso-
as the secretary of the “Kit-Cat” Club. The son . ciates:—
of a barber-surgeon in Holborn, he was born about ““ While, in your early days of reputation,
the year 1656. At fourteen years of age he was You for blue garters had not such a passion ;
bound apprentice to a bookseller, and on reaching | ,Iv.?;]?::lw’;‘:: :;%l:"ltoi"j‘;e’ B:d";":s?m“:.“!‘d; L
manhood joined with his brother Richardin part- i N - 2 e

! } e I Thou, Jacob Tonson, were, to my conceiving,
nership.  He published extensively for Addison, | The cheerfullest, best, honest fellow living.”

CHAPTER XIIL

THE STRAND:—SOUTHERN TRIBUTARIES (continucd).

“Interdum rpere occupat "— Harace.

Sir Thomas Lyttleton and Bishop Burnet—Norfolk Street~Royal Farmers” and General Insurance Company—St. John's House—Conservative

Land Socicty—Eminent Residents in Norfolk Street—Surrey Street—Office for Licensing Hackney Coaches—Voltaire and Will Congreve
—Howard Strect—Attempted Abduction of Mrs. Bracegirdle, the Actress—Murder of Mr. Mountfort.

Berween Arundel Street and Norfolk Street are | site of Arundel House and grounds. Most of the
two houses which are remarkable for the following  houses in this street have of late been used as
circumstance :—Sir Thomas Lyttleton, Speaker of private hotels ; but there are one or two which call
the House of Commons in 1698, lived in one of | for special mention. At No. 3 are the offices of the
these, and next door to him the father of the  Royal Farmers’ and General Insurance Company.

celebrated Bishop Burnet.  Here Burnet and Sir |  About half way down on the western side is St.
Thomas spent much of their time together ; and it John’s House, the home of a sisterhood of ladies
was the custom of the latter, when he had any = belonging to the English Church, who devote their
great business to transact in Parliament, to talk it | lives to the work of nursing the sick poor, and of

who had the portraits of the members of the .

over previonsly with Burnet, who was to act the
part of ‘devil's advocate, by bringing forward
against it every conceivable argument, true or
false.”  Burnet’s house continued to be in the
family until the end of the last or early in the
present century, when it was possessed by a book-
seller named Bumnet, a collateral d dant of the

training up a body of nurses really fitted for that
work. It was founded in 1848, under the modest
title of “The Training Institution for Nurses in
Hospitals, Families, and the Poor,” beginning its
work in St. John’s, a poor district of St. Pancras.
| In 1852 the sisterhood removed to Queen Square,
W i in order that the sisters might have

bishop.
Norfolk Street, the next street westward from
Arundel Street, was built in 1682, on a part of the

the double advantage of the religious services of
| the Abbey and of a more special training in the
wards of the Westminster Hospital.

;



Southern Tributaries.)

FAMOUS RESIDENTS IN NORFOLK STREET.

8r

In 1834 the sisterhood supplied some of the
nurses who accompanied Miss Nightingale to the
Crimea, whither twenty more of their number were
dispatched in the following year. In 1856 the
sisters removed to Norfolk Street, having entered
on the work of nursing the patients in King's
College Hospital. The sisters wear a distinctive
dress, with a small cross and medal. Besides King’s
College Hospital, the sisters of St. John’s House
nurse the patients in Charing Cross Hospital, and
those of the Galignani English Hospital at Paris.
They also dispense annually about 4,000 diets,
which are supplied for the use of convalescent
patients by the members of the Order of St
John. In this invaluable institution everything is
carried out on the voluntary principle, and although
it is styled a “sisterhood,” under a superioress, the
members are not tied down by any “vows of
poverty, monastic obedience, or celibacy ;” there
is “no cloistered seclusion, but a full, free, and
willing devotion to the great cause of Christian
charity.”

The Conservative Land Society have offices at
No. 33, Norfolk Street. The society, which has
done not a little towards increasing the influence
of the Conservative party among the middle
classes, was formed in 1852, and such was its pro-
gress and prosperity that in 1867 it was found
necessary to enlarge the premises by the acquisition
of the adjoining house at the corner of Howard
Street.

Among the notabilities who have resided in
Norfolk Street may be named Dr. Birch, the his-
torian of the Royal Society, and John Hamilton
Mortimer, the painter, styled “the English Salvator
Rosa.” A “Supper at Mortimer's” forms the sub-
ject of a chapter in those chatty volumes entitled
“Wine and Walnuts,” published in 1823. Sir
Roger de Coverley is stated by Addison to have
putup in this street, before he went to live in Soho
Square. Mr. Dowling, a gentleman well known in
sporting circles, and some time editor of BeZs Lifz,
lived for many years in this street; as also did Sam
Ireland, the father of the author of the Shake-
spearian forgeries ; Albany Wallis, the friend and
executor of Garrick; Mountfort, the actor; Mr.
William Shippen, the incorruptible M.P.—the only
man, according to Sir Robert Walpole, who was
proof against a bribe ; Penn, the founder of Penn-
sylvania ; and Peter the Great.

We learn from Sir John Hawkins's ¢ Life of
Doctor Johnson” that the house occupied by
Penn was at the south-western angle of the street,
close to the riverside, and he chose the house
as one out of which he could slip by water in

case of any emergency. It would appear that
this house was actually that occupied by Peter the
Great, if the following notice in the Postman of
January 13, 1698, be correct :—“ On Monday night
the Czar of Muscovy arrived from Holland, and
went directly to the house prepared for him in
Norfolk Street, near the water-side.” While stay-
ing here he was visited by King William III, and
by very many other members of the Court and
aristocracy.

Surrey Street, built about the same time, is de-
scribed by Strype as “ replenished with good build-
ings.” He draws especial attention to the two
houses at the bottom, which “front the Thames,”
with pleasant, though small, gardens “towards the
river,” that on the east side belonging to “the
Hon. Charles Howard, Esg., brother to Henry,
Duke of Norfolk.” Towards the Strand, he also
tells us that there was a fine large and curious
house built by a Mr. Nevinson Fox. In this
street, during the last century, was the head office
for the licensing of hackney coaches, but this
building being bumnt down, the office was trans-
ferrcd to Great Queen Street, Lincoln’s Inn Fields,

Voltaire, as we learn from his life, when in
London, paid a visit to Will Congreve, who was
living in this street, and who also died in it. “On
this and on other occasions,” says Peter Cunning-
ham, “Congreve affected to be thought a man of
fashion rather than of wit, on which Voltaire re-
marked, with his usual cynicism, that ‘if he had
been only a gentleman, he should not have come
thither to visit him.””  Another celebrated literary
charactel, who lived in Surrey Street, was George
Sale, the translator of the Koran; his death took
place here in 1736.

Howard Street, which runs at right angles across
the centre of Norfolk Street, from Arundel Street to
Surrey Street, consists of houses now almost all let
out as “lodgings for single gentlemen,” and has
never been remarkable for distinguished residents.
1t was, however, before it had been built twenty .
years, the scene of a terrible tragedy, the remem-
brance of which still survives. In it Will Mount-
fort, one of “his Majesty’s servants”—in other
words, a player—was murdered on the night of
December gth, 1692. The story is one of interest,
and involves some celebrated characters. We tell
the tale as told to us by Mr. Peter Cunningham in
his % Handbook of London : "—

A gallant of the town, a Captain Richard Hill,
had conceived what Cibber calls a ‘tendre,” or
passion for Mrs, Bracegirdle, the beautiful actress.
He is said to have offered her his hand, and to
have been refused. His passion at last became
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ungovernable, and he at once determined on
carrying her off by force. For this purpose he
borrowed a suit of night linen of Mrs. Radd, the
landlady in whose house in Buckingham Court he
lodged, induced his friend Lord Mohun to assist
him in his attempt, dodged the fair actress for a
whole day at the theatre, stationed a coach near
the ¢ Horseshoe ' Tavern, in Drury Lane, to carry
her off in, and hired six soldiers to force her
into it as she returned from supping with Mr.
Page, in Princes Street (off Drury Lane), to her
own lodging in the house of a Mrs. Dorothy
Brown, in this street. As the beantiful actress
came down Drury Lane, about ten at night, accom-
panied by her mother and brother, and escorted
by her friend, Mr. Page, one of the soldiers seized
her in his arms, and endeavoured to force her
into the coach. Page resisting the attempt, Hill
drew his sword, and struck a blow at Page’s head,
which fell, however, only on his hand. The lady’s
screams drew a rabble about her, and Hill, find-
ing his endeavours ineffectual, bid the soldiers let
her go. Lord Mohun, who was in the coach all
this time, now stepped out of it, and with his friend
Hill, insisted on seeing the lady home, Mr. Page
accompanying them, and remaining with Mrs. Brace-
girdle for some time after for her better security.

“Disappointed in their object, Lord Mohun and
Captain Hill remained in the street, Hill with his
sword drawn, and vowing revenge, as he had done
before, to Mrs. Bracegirdle on her way home. Here
they sent to the ¢ Horseshoe’ Tavern in Drury
Lane, for a bottle of canary, of which they drank
in the middle of the street. In the meantime Mrs.
Bracegirdle sent her servant to her friend Mr.
Mountfort's house in Norfolk Street adjoining, to
know if he was at home. The servant returned
with an answer that he was not, and was sent again
by her mistress to desire Mrs. Mountfort to send to
her husband to take care of himself : ¢ in regard my
Lord Mohun and Captain Hill, who (she feared)
had no good intention toward him, did wait in the
street.

“ Mountfort was sought for in several places
without success, but Mohun and Hill had not
waited long before he turned the corner of Norfolk
Street, with, it is said by one witness (Captain
Hill’s servant), his sword over his arm. It appears
in the evidence before the coroner, that he had
heard while in Norfolk Street (if not before) of the
attempt to carry off Mrs. Bracegirdle, and was also
aware that Lord Mohun and Hill were in the
street ; for Mrs. Brown, the landlady of the house
in which Mrs. Bracegirdle lodged, solicited him
to keep away. Every precaution was, however,

ineffectual. He addressed Lord Mohun (who
embraced him, it would appear, very tenderly),
and said how sorry he was to find that he (Lord
Mohun) would justify the rudeness of Captain
Hill, or keep company with such a pitiful fellow,
or words to the like effect. ‘And then,’ says
Thomas Leak, the Captain’s servant, “the Captain
came forward and said he would justify himself,
and went toward the middle of the street, and Mr.
Mountfort followed him and drew.’” Ann Jones,
a servant (it would appear, in Mrs. Bracegirdle’s
house), declared in evidence that Hill came behind
Mountfort and gave him a box on the ear, and
bade him draw. It is said they fought. Mount-
fort certainly fell, with a desperate wound on the
right side of the belly, near the short rib, of which
he died the next day, assuring Mr. Page, while
lying on the floor in his own parlour, as Page
declares in evidence, that Hill ran him through
the body before he could draw the sword. Lord
Mohun affirmed they fought, and that he saw a
piece of Mountfort’s sword lying on the ground.
As Mountfort fell, Hill ran off, and the Duchy
watch coming up, Lord Mohun surrendered him-
self, with his sword still in the scabbard.

“The scene of this sad tragedy was that part of
Howard Street lying between Norfolk Street and
Surrey Street. Mountfort’s house was two doors
from the south-west corner. Mountfort was a hand-
some man, and Hill is said to have attributed his
rejection by Mrs. Bracegirdle to her love for Mount-
fort, an unlikely passion it is thought, as Mountfort

was a married man, with a good-looking wife of his

own, afterwards Mrs. Verbruggen, and a celebrated
actress withal. Mountfort (only thirty-three when
he died) lies buried in the adjoining church of St.
Clement Danes.”

Mrs. Bracegirdle continued to inhabit her old
quarters for very many years. “ Above forty years
since,” says Davies, “I saw at Mrs. Bracegirdle’s
house in Howard Street a picture of Mrs. Barry,
by Sir G. Kneller, in the same apartments with
the portraits of Betterton and Congreve.” The
seconder of Captain Hill in this discreditable affair
was the Lord Mohun, whose name we shall have
occasion to mention again hereafter, when we come
to speak of Hyde Park, as having fallen in a duel
with the Duke of Hamilton.

Mrs. Bracegirdle, born in 1663, was known as
one of the most attractive and fascinating of our
earliest actresses, and it is said that every one of
her male audience became her lover, or at all
events her admirer. Her virtue was remarkable,
being “as impregnable as the rock of Gibraltar.”
She is called by Dr. Doran “that Diana of the
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stage before whom Congreve and Lord Lovelace,
at the head of a troop of bodkined fops, worshipped
in vain,”

This troop of fops, it may be added, would
sometimes include the Dukes of Devonshire and
Dorset and the Earl of Halifax ; amongst whom it
is said that the latter remarked at a coffee-house
one day, “ Come, you are always praising the lady’s
virtue : why then do you not reward the lady who
will not sell it?” then and there offering to head
a subscription list with £zo00, pour encourager les
autres,  “Four times that amount was raised,”
says Dr. Doran, “and with it the nobles, with their
swords in their hands, waited on Mrs. Bracegirdle”
—no doubt in Howard Street—* who accepted the
testimonial.”

Mrs. Bracegirdle was very kind to the poor, and
especially to the poorer members of her profession.
She is described by Aston as “of a lovely height,
with dark brown hair and eyebrows, black sparkling
eyes, and a fresh blushing complexion ; and when-
ever she exerted herself, had an involuntary flushing
in her breast, neck, and face, having continually
a cheerful aspect and a fine set of even white teeth,
and never making an exit without leaving the
audience in imitation of her pleasant countenance.”
Colley Cibber tells us that “she inspired the best
authors to write for her ; and two of them (Rowe
and Congreve), when they gave her a lover in a
play, seemed palpably to plead their own passions,
and make their private court to her in fictitious
characters.”

But there is a reverse to this exquisite medal.
In Spence’s “ Anecdotes,” and in Bellchambers’
edition of “Colley Cibber,” it is asserted or assumed
that this chaste lady was really Congreve’s mistress ;
and Dr. Young seems to hint the same thing, when
he says that “ Congreve was very intimate with
Mrs. Bracegirdle, and lived in the same street with
her, his house being very near hers, until his
acquaintance with the young Duchess of Marl
borough.”

This scandal would seem to have been confirmed
by the voice of contemporary testimony. Lord
Macaulay calls her, however, a “cold, vain, in-

terested coquette, who perfectly understood how
mnch the influence of her own charms was increased
by the fame of a severity which cost her nothing,
and who could venture to flirt with a succession of |
admirers in the just confidence that the flame which

she might kindle in them would not thaw her own
ice.” It was probably in a good-natured banter at
the lady’s real proclivities that Nicholas Rowe, in
one of his short poems, exhorts Lord Scarsdale to

‘¢ All publicly espouse the dame,
And say, Confound the town.”

Thackeray confirms the above account of the
attempted seizure of Mrs. Bracegirdle, which, he
says, occurred “opposite to my Lord Craven's
house in Drury Lane, by the door of which she was
to pass on her way from the theatre.” He adds,
“Mr. Page called for help } the population of Drury
Lane rose ; it was impossible to effect the capture ;
and so, bidding the soldiers to go about their busi-
ness, and the coach to drive off, Hill let go of his
prey sulkily, and he waited for other opportunities
of revenge.” As to her acting, if we may credit C.
Dibdin, “she equally delighted in melting tender-
ness and playful coquetry ;. . . . . and even at an
advanced age, when she played Angelica in Zove
Jor Love, for Betterton’s benefit, she retained all her
powers of pleasing.” She died in 1748.

At one time, as our readers will remember, when
it had been resolved to erect the long-expected
buildings for the New Law Courts of the future,
even after the site between St. Clement’s Church
and Carey Street had been cleared, it was in con-
templation to build them on the ground which
lies between Howard Street and the Thames
Embankment; and Mr. G. E. Street, the archi-
tect to whom this work had been entrusted, put
forth in print his reasons, both wsthetic and
practical, for preferring the site between the
Strand and the river. But into these it is not
necessary that we should now enter, as the sub-
ject has long since passed out of the range of
discussion.

It may, however, be said that in the long run
the proposal of the Embankment site was nega-
tived by the Art Commissioners, and that the
Legislatore in 1873 fixed definitely and con-
clusively that the Law Courts of the future were
to stand, as indeed they do now, between the
Strand and Carey Street. In fact, the building
and opening of them settled the question for ever.
Howard Street,” Norfolk Street, Snrrey Street,

| Arundel Street, and Essex Street will therefore, so

far as they are concerned, be allowed to remain
in statu guo.
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CHAPTER XIV.
ST. MARY-LE-STRAND, THE MAYPOLE, &c.

“Fuirly we marched on, till our approach No city, town, nor street can parallel ;
Within the spacious passage of the Strand Nor can the lofty spire of Clerkenwell—
Objccted to our sight a summer broach Although we have the advantage of 2 yock—
Yclep'd a Maypole, which, in all our land, Perch up more high his turning weather-cock.”

Building of St. Mary-le-Strand Church—Singular Accident—The Voung Pretender here renounces the Roman Catholic Faith—Strand Bridge—
Strand Theatre—The Original Church of St. Mary-le-Strand —Sctting up the Maypole~Anac Clarges, Wife of the First Duke of Albemarle
—Maypole Alley—Sir 1saac Newton purchases the Maypole—An Ancicnt Cross—Chester, or Strand lnin.

It is said by all the antiquaries who have written | they were churchless, and in order to be decently

on the subject of London topography, that the baptised, married, or buried, they were forced to

present church of St. Maryle-Strand covers the have recourse to the ministers of neighbouring
site of the spot on which in the olden time } parishes.

was set up the Maypole which the sour-visaged | In accordance with an Act passed in the reign of

Puritans pulled down as dangerous to the morals " Queen Anne, for building fifty new churchesin and

of youth. It was called “St. Mary’s as a matter of | around the metropolis, this site was fixed on for

course, because its predecessor, which stood on the | the first of these sacred edifices, which must have
south side of the Strand, and was demolished by | been much needed, on account of the growth of the
the Protector Somerset, was dedicated to St. Mary ' population westward of St. Clement Danes. The
the Virgin.” It is said that the Protector was at | first stone of it was laid in 1714, but it was not till
the time so all-powerful in matters of state, that he  nine years later, as we have said, that it was actually
was never forced to make to the parishi any ¢ ted. Gibbs was the architect, and in his
compensation for the robbery of which he was own account of St. Mary’s Church says it was the
guilty, though from his time down to the vear 1723 | first building he was employed upon after his
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THE CHURCH OF ST. MARY.

SOMERSET HOUSE IN 1785. (See prge 93.)
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arrival from Italy; and few structures, perhaps,
have been more severely criticised.  The building
is fine of its kind, but not extensive, and stands, as
it were, in the centre of the roadway of the Strand,
in a line with the houses which form the southern
side of Holywell Street, and from which it is sepa-
rated by the entrance to Newcastle Street. The
entrance, at the west end, is by a circular flight
of steps which lead to a portico of Ionic columns,
covered with a dome, which is crowned with an
elegant vase. The columns are continued along
the body of the church, with pilasters of the same
order at the corners; and between the columns are
niches, handsomely ornamented. Over the dome
is a pediment, supported by Corinthian columns,
which are also continued round the body of the
church, over those of the Ionic order beneath,
between which are the windows placed over the
niches. A handsome balustrade is earried round
the top, and its summit is adorned with vases.
The steeple at the west end is ornamented, with
composite columns and capitals. There was at first
no steeple designed for the church; only a small
campanile, or turret, for a bell, was to have been .
over the west end of it; but at the distance of
eighty feet from the west front it was intended to
have erected a column, 250 feet high, in honour of
Queen Anne, on the top of which her statue was to
be placed. The design for the column was ap-
proved by the commissioners, and a great quantity
of stone was brought to the place for laying the

If we may believe the statement of David Hume,
it was in this church that Prince Charles Edward
Stuart, “the Young Pretender,” as he is called by
the Hanoverian party, formally renounced the
Roman Catholic faith, and professed the religion
of the Church of England, doubtless for political
motives.

The author of “Walks through London” says
that “at the digging the foundation for the St.
Mary-le-Strand Church, the virgin earth was dis-
covered at the depth of nineteen feet ; a proof that
the ground in this neighbourhood originally was
not much higher than the Thames. This village
was, therefore, truly denominated the Strand, from
its situation on the bank of the river. Where
Catherine Street now stands a stream of water ran
into the Thames. Over this, in the Strand, was a
bridge called Strand Bridge.”

Nearly opposite to St. Mary’s Church is the
Strand Theatre. The house is small, and at one
time was commonly known as the “ Bandbox.” It
was originally built for the exhibition of a panorama,
but was altered to a theatre in 1831. We will
reserve a detailed description of this house for a
future chapter.

The original Church of St. Mary-le-Strand was
built under the dedication of “The Nativity of our
Lady and the Innocents,” and in consequence of a
religious sisterhood attached to it. It was some-
times styled also “St. Ursula of the Strand.” It
was formerly in the patronage of the Bishops of

foundation of it; but the idea of erecting that| Worcester, possibly because built or endowed by
monument was abandoned upon the Queen’s  one of those prelates, whose town-house adjoined
death, and the present steeple was erccted instead | it, while the Inns of the Bishops of Lichfield and
of the campanile, as at first proposed. Internally | Coventry, Llandaff, and Chester were not far off.
the church has a sumptuous appearance. The | The old Church of St. Mary occupied the site of
side walls display two ranges of pilasters, one | the eastern part of the present Somerset House.
above the other; the ceiling is slightly arched, In the reign of James I a windmill, and also a
and is divided into compartments, covered with | watch-honse stood on the site of the present
decorations in stucco, and richly coloured; and | church; and Stow observes that on this spot there
the altar at the east end, which is placed within a | was “a stone building or conduit over a spring.”

very large and strikinglooking recess, has above
it three large windows filled with stained glass, with
subjects of the Annunciation, the Passion, &c.
The church underwent a thorough restoration in
1862, when a new organ by Messts. Hunter and
Webb was put up.

A sad accident happened at this spot during the
procession of royalty to St. Paul’s on the proclama-
tion of peace in 1802, Just as the heralds came
abreast of the building, a man who was standing
on the roof of the church happened to lay his
hand on one of the stone arms upon the parapet,
knocked it down upon the crowd below, and so
killed three persons.

The Maypole, to which we have already referrec
as formerly standing on the site of the church o
St. Mary-le-Strand, was called by the Puritans one
of the “last remnants of vile heathenism, rounc
which people in holiday times used to dance
quite ignorant of its original intent and meaning.”
Each May morning, as our readers are doubtles:
aware, it was customary to deck these poles witl
wreaths of flowers, round which the people dancec
pretty nearly the whole day. A severe blow wa.
given to these merry-makings by the Puritans, and
in 1644 a Parliamentary ordinance swept them al
away, including this very famous one, which, ac
cording to old Stow, stood 100 feet high. On th
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Restoration, however, a new and loftier one was set
up amid much ceremony and rejoicing. From a
tract printed at the time, entitled “ The Citie’s
Loyaltie Displayed,” we learn that this Maypole
was 134 feet high, and was erected upon the cost of
the parishioners there adjacent, and the gracious
consent of his sacred Majesty, with the illustrious
Prince the Duke of York. ¢ This tree was a most
choice and remarkable piece; 'twas made below
bridge and brought in two parts up to Scotland
Yard, near the king’s palace, and from thence it
was conveyed, April 14, 1661, to the Strand, to be
erected. It was brought with a streamer flourish-
ing before it, drums beating all the way, and other
sorts of masick. It was supposed to be so long
that landsmen could not possibly raise it. Prince
James, Duke of York, Lord High Admiral of
England, commanded twelve seamen off aboard‘
ship to come and officiate the business ; where- |
upon they came, and brought their cables, pullies,

and other tackling, and six great anchors. After

these were brought three crowns, borne by three

men bareheaded, and a streamer displaying all the ‘
way before them, drums beating and other musick

playing, numerous multitudes of people thronging

the streets, with great shouts and acclamations,

all day long. The Maypole then being joined

together and looped about with bands of iron, the |
crown and cane, with the king’s arms richly gilded,

was placed on the head of it ; a large hoop, like a ‘
balcony, was about the middle of it. Then, amid

sounds of trumpets and drums, and loud cheerings,

and the shouts of the people, the Maypole, *far

more glorious, bigger, and higher than ever any

one that stood before it,” was raised upright, which

highly did please the Merrie Monarch and the |
illustrious Prince, Duke of York; and the little -
children did much rejoice, and ancient people did |
clap their hands, saying golden days began to

appear.” A party of morris-dancers now came

forward, “finely decked with purple scarfs, in their

halfshirts, with a tabor and a pipe, the ancient

music, and danced round about the Maypole.”

The setting up of this Maypole is said to have
been the deed of a blacksmith, John Clarges, who
lived hard by, and whose daughter Anne had been
so fortunate in her matrimonial career as to secure
for her husband no less a celebrated person than
General Monk, Duke of Albemarle, at a time when
courtiers and noble lords and princes did not
always look to the highest rank for their wives.
With her is connected a story which may best be
told, perhaps, by a brief outline of a certain cause
celébre in which her name figures prominently :—

“During the trial of an action for trespass |

between William Sherwin, plaintiff, and Sir Walter
Clarges, Baronet, defendant, at the bar of King’s
Bench, in November, 1700, the following circum-
stance occurred :—The plaintiff, as heir and repre-
sentative of Thomas Monk, Esq., elder brother
of George, Duke of Albemarle, claimed the manor
of Sutton, in Yorkshire, and other lands in
Newton, Eaton Bridge, and Shipton, as heir-at-
law to the said duke, against the defendant, to
whom they had been left by his only son and
successor, Christopher, the second duke, who died
without issue in 1688.”

In the course of the trial some very curious
particulars were disclosed with respect to the
family of Anne Clarges, the wife of George, the
first Duke of Albemarle. “It appeared that she
was daughter of John Clarges, a farrier in the
Savoy, who was farrier to the duke, then Colonel
Monk. She was married in 1632, in the church
of St. Lawrence Pountney, to Thomas Ratford,
son of another man of the same name, who had
been a farrier and a servant in the employment of
Prince Charles, and resident in the Mews (no
doubt the King’s Mews at Charing Cross). She
had a daughter who was born in 1634, and who
died at four years old. She lived with her husband
at the ‘Three Spanish Gipsies,’ in the New Ex-
change, in the Strand, and sold such things as
washballs, powder, and gloves, and also taught
girls plain work. About 1647 she was acting as
sempstress to Colonel Monk, and used to carry
him his linen. In 1648 her father and mother
died, and in the following year she and her husband
“fell out and parted, but no certificate from any
parish register could be produced to prove his
burial. However, in 1652, she was married at the
church of St. George, Southwark, to General George
Monk, and was delivered in the following year of a
son, Christopher, who, as stated above, became, or
at all events was called, the second duke, and who
died in 1688. Several witnesses were brought
forward to swear that they had seen Thomas
Ratford, her Grace’s first husband, alive as lately
as January, 1669-70, many years after her marriage
with the first duke and the birth of the second.
In opposition to this evidence, it was alleged that
all along, during the lives of Dukes George and
Christopher, this matter was never questioned;
that the latter was universally received as the son
of the former; and further, that the matter had
been thrice already tried at the bar of the King’s
Bench, and the defendant had gained three verdicts.
A witness swore that he owed Ratford five or six
pounds, which he had never demanded; and a
man who had married a cousin of the Duke of



88

OLD AND NEW LONDON.

[St. Mary-le-Strand.

Albemarle had been told by his wife that Ratford
died five or six years before the duke married.
In summing up, Lord Chief Justice Holt told the
jury, ‘If you are certain that Duke Christopher
was born while Thomas Ratford was living, you
must find for the plaintiff. I you believe that he
was born after Ratford was dead, or that nothing
appears what became of him after Duke George
married his wife, you must find for the defendant.’
In the end a verdict was given for the defendant,
who was only son to Sir Thomas Clarges, Knight,
brother of the duchess, and who was created a
baronet in 1674.”

Newcastle Street, at the north-east corner of the
church of St. Mary-le-Strand, was formerly called
Maypole Alley, but early in the last century was
changed to its present name, after John Holles,
Duke of Newcastle, the then owner of the property,
and the name has been transferred to another place
not far off. At the junction of Drury Lane and
Wych Street, on the north side, close to the Olympic
Theatre, is a narrow court, which is still known
as Maypole Alley, near which stood the forge of
John Clarges, the blacksmith, alluded to above as
having set up the Maypole at the time of the
Restoration.

Asall earthly glories are doomed in time to fade,

so this gaily-bedecked Maypole, after standing for |

upwards of fifty years, had become so decayed in
the ground, that it was deemed necessary to replace
it by a new one, Accordingly, it was removed in
1713, and a new one erected in its place a little

Where my aspiring head aloft is reared,

T" observe the motions of th' ethereal Lord.
Here sometimes raised a machine by my side,
‘Through which is seen the sparkling milky tide ;
Here oft I'm scented with a balmy dew,

A pleasant blessing which the Strand ne’er knew.
‘There stood I only to receive abuse,

But here converted to a nobler use ;

So that with me all passengers will say,

¢T'm better far than when the Pole of May."”

Of the old cross in the Strand, Mr. Newton tells
us, in his “London in the Olden Time,” that it
was mutilated at the time of the Reformation, and
that it stood for some years headless, and was
eventually taken down in the reign of Charles IL

| He identifies its site with that of the Maypole,

already mentioned.

Allen, in his “ History of London,” says that
“opposite to Chester Inn” (which, by the way,
appears to have been the same building that was
afterwards called “Strand Inn,” and which stood
where now is the east end of Somerset House)
“stood an ancient cross, at which the judges occa-
sionally used to sit to administer justice outside the
City walls.”

The origin of the judges administering justice in
public is of very remote antiquity, as is evident from
the frequent allusion to the custom made in Holy
Scripture, where judges are spoken of as sitting “in
the gate;” and the reason of so public a situation
being chosen, says Herbert, in his * Inns of Court,”

| was on two accounts: “that their proceedings

might be generally seen, and that none might go

further to the west, nearly opposite to Somerset ! out of the common way to seek for justice.”

House, where now stands a drinking fountain. It

““Strand Inn ” was one of those Inns of Court

was sct up on the 4th of July in that year, with | belonging to the Middle Temple so ruthlessly
great joy and festivity, but it was destined to be Pulled down in the reign of Edward VL., by the
shortlived.  When this latter Maypole was taken '[rotector Somerset, for the building of Somerset
down in its turn, Sir Isaac Newton, who lived House, when the students settled at New Inn,
near Leicester Fields, bought it from the parish- in Wych Street, another of the Inns of Chancery.
ioners, and sent it as a present to his friend, the | Pennant records the tradition that it was in this
Rev. Mr Pound, at Wanstead in Esscx, who |Place that Occleve, the poet of the reign of
obtained leave from his squire, Lord Castlemaine, 1 Henry V., studied law.

to erect it in Wanstead Park, for the support of | Mr. Newton tells us, in his “London in the
what then was the largest telescope in Europe, | Olden Time,” that “Strand Inn” having ceased to
being 125 feet in length. It was constructed by be occupied as an episcopal residence, “a part of
Huygens, and presented by him to the Royal ‘ it be?amc separated, and let off to students of the
Society, of which he was a member. It had not | 12¥, in whose occupation it was known both as
long stood in the park, when one morning some } ‘ Chester Inn’ and ‘Strand Inn’” He adds that
amusing verses were found affixed to the Maypole, ‘when seized on by the Protector Somerset, he * for
alluding to its change of position and employment, | Some time kept his court there.” On its west side

They are given by Pennant as follows :—

“Once I adorned the Strand,
Bat now have found
My way to Pound
On Baron Newton's land ;

was another large house, called the “Bishop of
Worcester’s Inn,” of which we know nothing except
it was a long time the residence of the Bishops of
that see, and no print or view of it has come down

I'to our times.
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CHAPTER XV,
SOMERSET HOUSE AND KING'S COLLEGE.

“ Before my gate a street’s broad channcl goes, Up to its western reach, the London tide,
Which still with waves of erowding people flows ; The spriog-time of the term. My front looks down
Aod every day there passes by my side, Qo all the pride and business of the town.”—Cowley.
Old Somerset Honse—Rapacity of the Protector -John of Padua, Architect of the Original Building—Downfall and Execution of the

Protector—Somerset House assigned to the Princess Elizabeth—Afterwards the Resideace of the Queens of Engtand—Its Name changed
1o Denmark Honse—Additioos made by Inigo Jones—Banishment of the Capuchin Fathers, and Desceration of the Chapel—The Serviees
in the Chapel restored, and Pepys’ Accouat of them—Catherine of Braganza—Attempt to implicate the Royal Houschold with the
Murder of Sir Edmundbury Godirey—The Cemetery iption of the OId Buildiogs—Their Demolition—Building of New Somerset
House—Amusing Tradition relative to Somerset House—King's College.

THE building so familiar to Londoners, old and | to the means to be employed. Wide space and
young, by the name of Somerset House, occupies | materials were all that he needed, and these he
the space formerly covered by four or five build- | soon obtained in a manner such as we should now
ings of note in their day, of some of which we | probably distinguish by the term “by hook or by
have already spoken. It appears from Stow that | crook.” Amnd further, in order to complete the
in order to make a level space of ground to hold | undertaking in a thoroughly substantial and, as it
the fair new palace which he purposed to erect— | would now be called, “ first-class™ style, he pulled
“that large and goodly house now called Somerset | down also the charnel-house of Old St. Paul’s
House”—the Protector Somerset pulled down, and | and the chapel over it, together with a structure
“without any recompense,” the Inns, as they were | in “Pardon Churchyard, near the Charterhouse,
called, of the Bishops of Chester, Llandaff, Lich- | throwing the dead into Finsbury Fields,” and the
field and Coventry, and Worcester, with all the | steeple, tower, and part of the church of the Priory
tenements adjoining, and also the old parish church | of St. John of Jerusalem at Clerkenwell. With
of St. Mary’s. these materials he commenced his work, unblessed
The original Somerset House, it is almost need- | by either the Church, or the people, or the poor.
less to remark, took its name from the Duke of Bishop Burnet, alluding to the Protector’s ra-
Somerset, the Lord Protector of the reign of the | pacity, admits that “many bishops and cathedrals
boy-king, Edward VL ; but the present building is | had resigned many manors to him for obtaining
of much more recent date. By the attainder of | his favour,” though he adds, “this was not done
Somerset it reverted to the Crown, and it was | without leave obtained from the king.” He also
frequently tenanted by Queen Elizabeth. Anne of | accuses the Protector of selling chantry lands to
Denmark, the wife of James I, and Catherine of | his friends at easy rates, for which it was concluded
Braganza, the neglected queen of Charles IL., both | he had great presents. The rise of Somerset
in succession held their courts within its walls. | House exposed its owner to the reflection that
At length it came to be appropriated by usage as | “ when the king was engaged in such wars, and
a residence to the queens-dowager, and was fre- | when London was much disordered by the plague
quently appointed as a temporary residence for | that had been in it for some months, he was then
such of the ambassadors of foreign princes as the | bringing architects from Italy, and designing such
later Stuarts and the earlier Brunswick sovereigns | a palace as had not been seen in England.”
cared especially to honour. Pennant tells us that the architect employed by
Mr. A. Wood, in his “Ecclesiastical Antiquities | the Protector Somerset in the erection of Somerset
of London and its Suburbs,” is of opinion that the | House was the celebrated John of Padua, the
Protector Somerset already possessed some pro- | architect of Longleat, in Wiltshire, who is said, in
perty on the site of Somerset House when he | Walpole’s “ Anecdotes of Painting,” to have held,
began the great work of pulling down his neigh- | under Henry VIII., the post of “Devizer of His
bours” houses around their ears and his own. But | Majesty’s Buildings.”
be this true or not, he seems to have known, or at Whether the Protector Somerset ever resided in
all events to have made, little distinction between | the palace he had thus been at so much trouble in
meum and tuum, and when he had once resolved | building, there is some room to doubt. The build-
on his end—namely, to build a palace on this | ing itself was commenced in 1546-7, and as soon
central site, at a bend commanding the view of the | after as the month of October, 1548, at which time
river from London Bridge to the Abbey at West- | the works were still going on, he was deprived of
minster—he was not likely to be at much loss as | the Protectorship and committed to the Tower.
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He was, however, pardoned after two years’ im-
prisonment, and restored to the Council ; but in
the following year he was again committed to the
Tower on charges of high treason, and was be-
headed on Tower Hill in January, 1552. One of
the grounds of dissatisfaction at first exhibited
against him appears to have been  his ambition
and seeking of his own glory, as appeared by his
building of most sumptuous and costly buildings, ‘

! most probably, however, at the expense of her

kinsman, Lord Hunsdon, to whom she had given
the use of it. Such, at all events, was the opinion
of Pennant.

Stow tells us that the queen of James I. made
this house her palace, and that she entertained
the king with a feast within its walls on Shrove
Tuesday, 1616, when the latter was so delighted
at her reception of him that he ordered it to be

SOMERSET HOUSE AND STAIRS.
As they appeared before they were pulled dowm in 1776,

and specially in the time of the king's wars, and
the king’s soldiers unpaid.” On the attainder of |
the Duke of Somerset his palace was, of course,
forfeited to the Crown, and his nephew, King
Edward, appears to have assigned it to his sister,
the Princess Elizabeth, for her use whenever she
visited her sister's court. But when she came to |
the throne, she preferred the regions of Whitehall
and St. James's, and fashion followed in the wake |
of royalty westwards. At this period the building |
is spoken of as *Somerset Place, beyond Strand
Bridge.” On Elizabeth’s succession to the throne
some partial restoration of Somerset’s property was
probably made, for Somerset Place became the
residence of the Dowager Duchess.

Elizabeth seems to have lived here occasionally, |

(See page 93.)

called Denmark House in her honour. The palace
was much improved and beautified by the queen,
who added much to it in the way of new build-
ings, Inigo Jones being called in to furnish the
designs. She also brought a supply of water to it
by pipes laid on from Hyde Park. In 1626 it
was settled for life on Henrietta Maria, the queen
of Charles I., for whom it had been stipulated on
her marriage that she should be allowed the free
practice of her religion, having been born and
brought up a pious Catholic. Accordingly it was
fitted up for the reception of herself and her house-
hold, including, of course, a body of priests to say
mass daily, and to celebrate the offices of the
Church, The priests in attendance on the queen
were Capuchins. They had succeeded to the
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Oratorians, who had been expelled by the influence | chapel seems to have been also turned to account
of Buckingham (Steenie) with his royal master. constantly in other ways. There were frequent
The foundation-stone of the chapel was laid by | “conferences ” for the edification of Catholics and
the queen, the work being carried out under the | the instruction of Protestants, and on three days in
direction of Inigo Jones. The first stone was laid | each week the Christian doctrine was taught cate-
with great ceremony. From six in the morning chetically in English and in French, The con-

B

(Sce page 96.)

THE SAVOY. From a Drawing by 5. F. Neale, published in 1815.
there was a succession of masses daily till nearly sequence was that there were frequent conversions
noon, and as it was difficult to approach the sacra- 'to the ancient faith, and the name of the chapel
ments elsewhere, except clandestinely, the con- began to offend the ruling powers. Accordingly,
fessionals were thronged constantly. On Sundays | when the queen was absent in Holland, it was re-
and festivals there was a controversial lecture at ‘ solved by the authorities to make an assault upon
noon, and soon after followed vespers, sung by the | the place. The Capuchin fathers were silenced
Capuchins and musicians in the galleries. When | and driven out, then imprisoned, and at length
vespers were over, there was a sermon on the | banished ; their dwelling itself was pulled down,
gospel of the day, and lastly, compline. The and the chapel desecrated, in spite of its being the
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property of the queen. The Capuchins were
brought back, and the chapel was repaired, when
Henrietta Maria returned to England, a widowed
queen, after her son’s restoration.

Here, in September, 1660, died the Duke of
Gloucester, from the small-pox; and hence his
body was taken by water “down Somerset Stairs,”
as Pepys tells us, to Westminster, to be buried in
the Abbey.

Pepys, in his “Diary,” gives an account of a
service held in the chapel of Somerset House in
1663-4. “On the 24th, being Ash Wednesday, to
the Queen’s chapel, where I staid and saw mass, till
a man came and bade me go out or kneel down ;
so I did go out; and thence to Somerset House,
and there into the chapel, where Mons. D’Espagne,
a Frenchman, unsed to preach.” In October he
again visits Somerset House, and saw the queen’s
new rooms, “which are most stately and nobly
furnished!” In January, 1664-5, he went there
again, and was shown the queen’s mother’s chamber
and closet, “ most beautiful places for furniture and
pictures.” In consequence, however, of the plague |
in the June following, the Court prepared to leave
Whitehall and Somerset House. The Queen went |

Charles, with his usual wit, refiused to listen to the
charge, telling Burnet that though “she was a weak
woman, and had some disagreeable humours, she
was not capable of a wicked thing.”

We have already said that, under the Stuarts,
Somerset House was frequently appointed for the
reception of ambassadors whom the sovereign and
the court delighted to honour. The last foreigner
of importance who lodged there was the Venetian
ambassador, who made a public entry into it in
1763, shortly before the building was pulled down.

From the time of the departure of Catherine of
Braganza, Somerset House ceases to possess any
interest in its strictly palatial character. It con-
tinned as an appurtenance of successive queens
down to the year 1775, when Parliament was recom-
mended, in a message from the Crown, to settle
upon Queen Charlotte the house in which she then
resided, “formerly called Buckingham House, but
then known by the name of the Queen’s House,”
in which case Somerset Honse, already settled upon
her, should be given up and appropriated “to such
uses as shall be found most useful to the public.”

Mr. Wood, in his “Ecclesiastical Antiquities,”
tells us that in the reign of James II, Dr. Smith,

to France, and there died in 1669. On the death | one of the four vicars-apostolic who acted as
of Charles II. in 1683, Somerset House became |Catholic bishops in England, was consecrated at
the residence of Catherine of Braganza, who lived | Somerset House. There was also in the grounds
here until her return to Portugal in 1692, It had | of Somerset Honse a small cemetery, in which the

previously belonged to her as Queen Consort, and ‘
during the ultra-Protestant furore, which exhibited
itself for some yecars prior to the Revolution,
attempts were made to implicate her household in |

the pretended Popish Plot of the time, and to | by the Queen’s permission.

connect the mysterious murder of Sir Edmundbury
Godfrey in 1678 with persons in her service.
There is so much doubt and uncertainty mixed
up with the story of the murder of Sir Edmund-
bury Godirey, that it is almost impossible to winnow
the truth from the falsehood, owing to the perjuries
of Titus Oates and his confederate, Bedloe, the
discharged servant of the Lord Belasyse. But it
appears clear that the worthy justice of the peace
was invcigled to a spot close to “the Watergate'
at Somerset House,” under the pretence of his |
prescnce being wanted to allay a quarrel, and that |
he was strangled on the spot with a twisted hand-
kerchief.  His dead body, it would seem, was
afterwards carried to Primrose Hill, at that time‘
a retired and lonely spof, where a sword was run
through it. For their presumed share in this
murder three persons were hung at Tyburn iu‘
1679. An attempt was made by Oates and Bedloe
to implicate the Jesuits in the plot, and even the
Queen, who then resided at Somerset House ; but

Catholic members of the Queen’s household were
buried. In 1638 Father Richard Blount, who had
“reconciled ” Anne of Denmark, the consort of
James L, to the Roman Church, was buried here
The value of such a
permission at that time may be inferred from the
fact that, owing to the severity of the penal laws,
Catholics were for the most part obliged to be
buried in Protestant cemeteries, with rites dis-
tasteful to themselves; and they were only too .

| glad when the priest who attended them in their

last illness could bless a little mould which was
put into their coffin, and perform the usual cere-
monies in secret, and even at a distance from their
bodies.

A map and ground-plan of old Somerset, or
Denmark House in 1706, shows that it consisted
of one large and principal quadrangle, called “the
Upper Court,” facing the Strand. Its out-buildings
were very extensive, and still more so its terraced
gardens, facing the Thames, with stairs at either
end. In the sonthern front of the quadrangle
named above were the Guard Chamber, with a
waiting-room, the Privy Chamber, the Presence
Chamber, from the west end of which a flight of
stone steps led down into the garden. On the
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western side, from the Strand nearly to the river- | barism and splendour, the mistakes admit of great
side, there ran along Duchy Lane (now absorbed | alleviations.” In all probability the architect was
in Wellington Street South) a row of coach-houses, | an Englishman, and this his first attempt to refine
stables, and store-yards. To the south-east angle | on the work of his predecessors.
of the chief quadrangle there was a passage down | It is currently believed that James Stuart, the
the “ Back Stairs” to a second, or lower court, two | elder “ Pretender,” was at one time secreted in old
storeys lower than the upper court. Here were | Somerset House; and there is an allusion to this
the more private apartments of the queen—the  belief in the Zowz Spy, published in 1725:—
“Coffee Room,” “ Back Stair Room,” “()ratcry,”l “The Pretender’s residing at Somerset House in
dressingroom, bed-chamber, and “ Withdrawing | the year of Peace was blabbed out by one of the
Room,” the two last-named facing the gardens and | Duke d'Aum—nt’s postilions.”
commanding a fine view of the reach of the river. The demolition of the old building was com-
Still further to the east, extending across what now | menced as soon as an Act could be passed, and
is part of King's College, as far as Strand Passage, | Sir William Chambers was appointed architect
or Lane, were a variety of other buildings, occupied = of the new buildings. They were commenced in
by the members of the Court, called the French | 1776, and in 1779 one of the fronts was completed.
Buildings, connected with the Yellow Room, the  The site occupies an area of upwards of 8oo feet
Cross Gallery, the Long Gallery, and leading to 2 | by s00.- The front towards the Strand consists
“pleasance” which opened into the garden. A | of a rustic basement of nine arches, supporting
print in the Gentleman's Magazine, showing some of | Corinthian columns, and an attic in the centre,
these last-named buildings before they were pulled  and a balustrade at each extremity. Emblematic
down, together with the new building of Sir William  figures of Ocean and of the eight principal rivers
Chambers on the north, leads us to suppose that, of England in altorelievo adorn the keystones of
though interesting as a specimen of the style of | the arches. Medallions of George IIL, Queen
Edward VI., their removal was no great loss from | Charlotte, and the Prince of Wales were formerly
an architectural point of view. | placed over the three central windows of the first
The gardens were laid out in the square and floor. The attic is divided into separate portions
monotonous style of the period, so well described | by statues of Justice, Truth, Valour, and Modera-
by Pope— | tion ; and the summit is crowned with the British
*“Grove nods to grove, each alley has its brother, arms, supported by emblematical figures of Fame
And half the garden just reflects the other.” and the genius of England. The chief feature of
This was literally true here, for in front of both the ' the river front of Somerset House is its broad
greater and the lesser quadrangle there were square  terrace, about 6oo feet in length, raised on rustic
gardens, with straight gravel walks on each side, arches, and ornamented with emblematic figures of
and three avenues of trees; a handsome flight of | the Thames. The centre of the large quadrangle

stone steps, with iron gates; and on either side
some handsome statues of Tritons and Nereids.
Along the river ran a raised terrace, with a heavy
dwarf wall. In a print of the river front of
Somerset House, dated 1706, there appears moored
a little way off the stairs a sort of house-barge, |
under which is written “The Folly,” and a queer-
shaped wherry, approaching the form of a gondola.

“I am extremely pleased,” observes Stow, “ with

opposite the chief entrance from the Strand is

| occupied by a gigantic piece of bronze work,

execnted by Bacon. The principal figure is a
fanciful and almost allegorical representation of
Father Thames.

The building affords at present accommodation
during the working hours of the day to abont goo
Government officials, maintained at an annual cost *

| of something like £ 275,000, and belonging to the

the front of the first court of Somerset House, | Audit Office, the office of the Registrar-General,
next the Strand, as it affords us a view of the  and the offices connected with Doctors’ Commons.
first dawning of taste in England, this being the | In the north front the annual exhibition of the
only fabric that I know which deviates from the Royal Academy was held from 1780 down to about
Gothic, or imitates the manner of the an<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>